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IN HONG KONG

Tricor Standard Limited
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AUDITORS

Ernst & Young

18/F Two International Finance Centre
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Hong Kong
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Richards Butler

20/F Alexandra House
16-20 Chater Road
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Hong Kong

Angela Wang & Co

14/F South China Building
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Central

Hong Kong
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China CITIC Bank

China Construction Bank
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Standard Chartered Bank
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Lim Ee Seng Chairman
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OVERVIEW

During the financial year ended 30 September 2009, the Group
realized a profit attributable to shareholders of HK$3.2 million
(with a total revenue of HK$124.8 million) against HK$8.3 million
profit (with a total revenue of HK$123.6 million) reported for the
year ended 30 September 2008. With over 90% of its assets
domiciled in mainland China and almost all its revenue earned
therefrom, the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 30
September 2009 was relatively stable, reflecting the continued
strength of the mainland economy and its currency.

In an effort to mitigate the adverse impact of the unprecedented
global financial turmoil, China moved swiftly to increase
domestic spending by announcing a massive RMB4.1 trillion
stimulus package in November 2008. In the first quarter of
2009, China recorded its lowest economic growth rate of 6.1%
in almost a decade following years of annual double-digit
growth since 2003. However, the economy rebounded strongly
to 7.9% in the second quarter of 2009 and accelerated to 8.9%
in the third quarter. China is now well-positioned to be the first
major economy to recover from the global crisis. Most analysts
are predicting China’s GDP growth at 8.3% for 2009, reaching
or even surpassing 9% for 2010.
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In tandem with the global economic downturn, China’s real
estate sector suffered across-the-board declines in prices and
volumes transacted in the last quarter of 2008. However, by the
beginning of 2009, some optimism had returned and a rebound
in volumes transacted was perceptible as developers cut prices
to entice buyers. Housing prices in 70 of the mainland’s large
and medium-sized cities rose 2.8% year-on-year in September
2009, building on the 2% growth in August 2009, according to
the National Bureau of Statistics. It was the highest and fourth
consecutive increase after seven months of declines, providing
further indication of an improvement in the real estate sector.

BUILDING A BUSINESS PLATFORM FOR GROWTH

The Group has focused on allocating its financial resources
optimally while remaining vigilant to risk and uncertainty. The
Group has exercised and will continue to exercise discipline and
prudence in this process and invest only in projects which can
meet its criteria. In the management of its existing development
assets, the Group will consider feasible options to improve
turnaround time and yields and add value to assets, to the
extent consistent with prevailing market conditions.

The Group will continue to channel resources towards the
optimal and cost-effective management of its existing portfolio
of assets so as to maximize yields and shareholder value.
Currently, the Group’s operations span across Beijing,
Shanghai, Shenzhen and Shenyang. All key operating assets
performed well during the year. The two business park
properties, namely Vision Shenzhen Business Park (VSBP) and
Sohu.com Internet Plaza (SIP), enjoyed over 95% occupancy
rates during the year under review. Both have established
themselves solidly as landmark facilities within their respective
districts in Shenzhen and Beijing. Meanwhile, the construction
of the first phase of the Group’s Shanghai Shanshui Four
Seasons project was largely completed during the year under
review and 90% of the units pre-sold as at 6 November 2009.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue for the year ended 30 September 2009 was HK$124.8
million, marginally higher than the HK$123.6 million realized for
the previous year ended 30 September 2008. It is noteworthy
that for the first time rental income from the two business park
assets surpassed the HK$100 million mark. While sales revenue
from the completed residential projects fell, rental income from
the business parks rose to HK$117.4 million from last year’s
HK$85.5 million, boosted by the improving contribution from the
leases of VSBP.

This rental growth reflects the Group’s improvement in its
recurrent income stream and quality cashflows. The Group will
continue to enhance the income capacity of these business
park assets in the long-term to maximize yield.

The after-tax profit attributable to equity holders recorded
during the year under review fell 62% to HK$3.2 million from
HK$8.3 million for the previous year ended 30 September 2008.
This result includes a net HK$14.8 million revaluation deficit
relating to changes in fair value of investment properties against
HK$31.2 million last year. The earnings per share was HK0.05
cent during the year under review compared with HK0.12 cent
in the preceding 12-month period.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The operational priority during the year under review was to
optimize resource use and streamline operations and
organizational structures to improve performance. Improved
yields were extracted from the existing portfolio of assets.

With phases 1 and 2 now offering a combined 125,000 sm of
high quality space within seven office blocks, supported by a
multi-storey car-park building and an amenity centre, amidst a
landscaped park, VSBP has established itself as a location of
choice in Shenzhen for businesses which require a well-
maintained and conducive physical environment backed by
reliable property management services. As an affirmation of this
reputation, phases 1 and 2 enjoyed consistently near full
occupancy throughout the year. Discussions with the Shenzhen
authorities on the future development plans for the phase 3 site
have achieved much progress and it is hoped that an amicable
settlement can be reached soon.

Following the sale of the seven floors and naming right of the
building to Sohu.com in January 2007, the remaining space
owned by the Group’s 60%-held subsidiary, Vision Huaging
(Beijing) Development Co., Ltd., in the renamed Sohu.com
Internet Plaza (SIP) enjoyed an occupancy rate of over 95%
during the year under review. SIP has continued to maintain its
enviable status as a landmark building and a sought-after
address within the Zhongguancun district in Beijing.

The Group continues to work closely with its joint venture
partner, FCL China, in the planning, development and marketing
process of the Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons site. The
construction of phase 1 comprising 418 semi-detached and
terrace houses has been largely completed and is due to be
handed over to purchasers from December 2009.
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MOVING FORWARD

Going ahead, the Group will pursue further discussions with the
Shenzhen authorities with the goal of reaching an amicable
resolution to the expired construction deadline and the
development parameters of VSBP phase 3 comprising a
developable gross floor area of over 400,000 sm. Through these
discussions, it is hoped that a mutually beneficial outcome can
be concluded during the new financial year so that the
development of this strategically located site can start as soon
as possible.

The Group will continue marketing the remaining units of phase
1 of the Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project. Meanwhile,
the design of the phase 2 site is being completed. Rigorous
market studies have been conducted to ensure that the ultimate
concept is capable of fully meeting the needs and demands of
the buyers. With its tranquil surroundings, easy accessibility and
quality design concept, the project is expected to set a new
benchmark for style and luxury in its locality. The Group will
monitor the market conditions closely to time the future release
of units for sale. Other later phases will be positioned in
readiness for implementation as the Songjiang environment
evolves and transforms into a choice residential district within
outer Shanghai.

The Group has started the designing and conceptualization
phase for the newly-acquired development site located along
Shenyang’s busiest thoroughfare of Qingniandajie. The 15,630
sm site has a potential permissible gross floor area of 187,568
sm for commercial use, comprising office, retail and hotel-style/
serviced apartments. With vacant possession of the site
expected by January 2010, the Group is positive about the
long-term growth potential of this fast growing capital city of
Liaoning province. When completed by about 2014, this
development will add yet another landmark to Shenyang’s
rapidly changing skyline.
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It is widely accepted that mainland China’s economy has
responded well to government pump-priming and easing of
credit, resulting in increased domestic consumption. Barring
unforeseen circumstances, given China’s sound economic
fundamentals, the Group believes that in the mid- to long-term,
there will still be sustainable demand in all property sectors,
such as office, residential, industrial parks and retail, in all major
and secondary cities, both coastal and inland.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group believes that a total commitment to good corporate
conduct and governance is essential to the sustainability of its
business and performance. The Group monitors developments
in governance practices both in Hong Kong and abroad and
reviews the Group’s policies regularly with the view to enhance
the governance process. Where appropriate to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders, lenders and other stakeholders,
the Group will go beyond regulatory compliance and be driven
by principles rather than form.

An effective and robust board of directors whose members are
engaged in open and constructive debate and always ready to
challenge management on its assumptions and proposals is
fundamental to good corporate governance. In this context, |
am particularly proud that all our directors have discharged their
duties diligently and to the highest professional standards.

In pursuit of building its business and growth in China, the
Group faces various difficulties and uncertainties. It is therefore
imperative to strengthen the internal control processes as the
Group expands its activities to maintain a high standard of
business ethics and conduct. During the year, the Group
refreshed operating rules and guidelines and highlighted the
“whistle-blower protection” policy to all employees to further
institutionalize it as a clearly-defined process in which they can
report in confidence possible improprieties which may cause
damage, financial or otherwise, to the Group or damage to its
reputation.

Annual Report 08/09 “F

Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

BERBEIZRE - P EKRELE S BT
TZEBERNBRERNREERRRR
R EBEAREBEEREN - MR AR
BEBR  EXRPELEERRBE A
SEBAE RPREANS  BEAERA
EeEEXER _GURMHEEYE (8
BRFR X IXERTEVES)
ZHBRAEFEE -

EEER

AEERE  BBRTRHLERTR
ERHERAKREZXRBRRETE
2 - AEETEHEREELBINZER
ERBERERAASEZBER - ZEaEN
REVARF o MR RERR - ERAR
HMEHEEZNEMEBES @ &
SEBRMSREEZRE  LERE
MEHLATE -

—EEmmREzEEE  HXBEES
HEARRAEREZ R UKREER
HERBZHRERREHERLER - 17

REERERZER - BLUME - AA
FAREREZZHIETERURSE
R B TR BIES K

AEEEZEVHPEREBERSKLER 2B
B mUERRHENTHAARE - A
g NREBERREB AR - IMA
MEANMEEIEIRF - USRS KTEZE
XBREET -FR - AKEEHZE
MAINRIES - YA E TEHMETIE
WK > E—T K- ETRPARZIERF
HEL  FETRAFELHMERSE
ECAREREUBAEMBRKIES
AEBEBEZAENTR -



10

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2§t (FFE) R AT
Annual Report 08/09 F ¥R

Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

As | begin my third year as Chairman of the Board, | am
constantly mindful of the support and wise counsel my fellow
directors have so graciously accorded me. They have shared
my responsibilities willingly and eased the burden of the office.
Individually and collectively, the directors have brought their
considerable expertise and experience to bear on our decision-
making deliberations and | am confident that they will continue
to make invaluable contributions in their stewardship of the
Group in the years ahead. Accordingly, | wish to extend my
heartfelt appreciation and thanks to all the directors for their
services.

There were several Board changes during the year. On 18
August, Messrs Patrick Goh Yong Chian and Christopher Tang
Kok Kai retired as non-executive directors. Mr. Goh, who had
first served as an alternate director since October 2001,
resigned following his retirement from Fraser and Neave, Limited
(F&N), the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group. Mr.
Tang, who was first appointed to the Board in May 2006,
resigned following the re-organization of responsibilities within
Frasers Centrepoint Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of F&N.
The Board expresses its appreciation for their services and
dedication and wishes Mr. Goh a happy retirement and Mr. Tang
success in his future endeavours.

On behalf of the Board, | am delighted to welcome Messrs Hui
Choon Kit and Chia Khong Shoong as non-executive directors,
effective from 18 August. Mr. Hui, who had previously served as
an alternate director from August 2001 to May 2006, has also
been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee and Mr.
Chia a member of the Executive Committee. The new directors,
both accountants by training, have impressive credentials and
will no doubt extend the diversity and refresh the talent base of
the Board. | look forward to their contributions.
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Once again, our employees have discharged their duties and
responsibilities with dedication and skills to enable the Group to
have better met the challenges it faced. | look forward to their
continued commitment. | must add my appreciation to the
shareholders, customers, bankers and business partners for
their trust and unstinting support.

Lim Ee Seng
Chairman
Hong Kong, 6 November 2009
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(In HK$’000)

Revenue

Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent

Earnings per share (HK cent)

(In HK$’000)

Total assets
Total liabilities
Total equity (including
minority interests)
Total borrowings
Net borrowings
Net asset value per share (HK cents)
Current ratio
Gearing ratio
Net borrowings over total equity

(AT ITREM)
WA

AR BARESRFEA

J& {5 7
FhkEM (B L)

(ABETTRER)

HEE

mar

RS EE (2R
PHBRER)

EAeE
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BRI S AR

For the year

For the year

ended ended

30 September 30 September
2009 2008

BZE HE
—EBEAF —ZEENF
hRA=+HIEE NAA=+HIE
FE FE

124,796 123,560
3,169 8,301

0.05 0.12

As at As at

30 September 30 September
2009 2008
R=BBLAE R-FINF
hB=+H NA=+H
5,113,862 4,457,170
2,996,536 2,378,085
2,117,326 2,079,085
1,505,125 1,505,865
647,235 909,435

26.4 26.2

1.9 3.1

71% 72%

31% 44%




RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2009

The Group recorded a profit attributable to shareholders of
HK$3.2 million for the year ended 30 September 2009 versus
HK$8.3 million for the year ended 30 September 2008. On a
per-share basis, the Group recorded earnings of HK0.05 cent.

The accounting policies and methods of computation used in
the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
30 September 2009 were consistent with those used in the
previous year ended 30 September 2008.

The profit for the year ended 30 September 2009 included the
write-back of the over-provisions of land appreciation tax of
HK$12.1 million for certain development projects and the gain
on disposal of an unlisted equity investment of HK$1.4 million,
offset by a decrease in fair values of investment properties
amounting to HK$14.8 million.

REVIEW OF OVERALL PERFORMANCE

The revenue for the year ended 30 September 2009 increased
marginally to HK$124.8 million from HK$123.6 million for the
year ended 30 September 2008. The improved revenue
reflected the 56% jump in rental income due to the higher
occupancy enjoyed by Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park (VSBP),
partially offset by the reduced sales realised from The Ninth
ZhongShan, Dalian. As a result, the gross profit (revenue less
cost of sales) improved by nearly 20% to HK$122.8 million for
the year ended 30 September 2009 from HK$102.5 million for
the year ended 30 September 2008.
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Direct operating expenses rose to HK$99.4 million for the year
under review from HK$63.8 million in last financial year mainly
as a result of selling and marketing expenses incurred for pre-
sales activities for the Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project
and increased property management expenses incurred due to
higher occupancy in VSBP, while in the previous corresponding
year, the direct operating expenses were offset by a net
exchange gain of about HK$21.5 million. Total pre-sales
receipts as at 30 September 2009 from Shanghai Shanshui
Four Seasons project amounted to HK$995.2 million of which
no revenue had been recognised.

Several other main transactions also impacted on the Group’s
profit to shareholders for the year under review against the
previous financial year. The profit of the previous corresponding
year included a one-off gain on the disposal of a non-core asset
(a villa with the transfer of the ownership of golf club
membership in Shenzhen) of HK$12.7 million, the write-back of
over-accruals and obsolete other payables of HK$14.8 million
offset by the decrease in fair values of investment properties
amounting to HK$31.2 million. For the year under review, the
overall decrease in fair values of investment properties was
HK$14.8 million, the write-back of the over-provision of land
appreciation tax was HK$12.1 million for certain development
projects and the gain on disposal of an unlisted equity
investment was HK$1.4 million.

As a result, the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders for
the year under review declined to HK$3.2 million, down from
HK$8.3 million of the previous year ended 30 September 2008.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for the
year ended 30 September 2009 (year ended 30 September
2008: Nil).
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Property development

For the year ended 30 September 2009, the property
development segment contributed a reduced revenue of
HK$7.4 million or 6% of the total revenue, compared to
HK$38.1 million or 31% of the total revenue of the year ended
30 September 2008. Of the HK$7.4 million revenue, HK$3.3
million was contributed by the sale of a residential unit and the
property management income from The Ninth ZhongShan,
Dalian, while another HK$2.8 million was contributed by Scenic
Place, Beijing.

During the year under review, another 269 units of the Shanghai
Shanshui Four Seasons project were pre-sold in addition to the
87 units pre-sold as at the last financial year end date of 30
September 2008. However, no revenue had been recognised in
the year under review. In compliance with accounting
standards, revenue will be recognised upon the issue of building
occupation permits for the pre-sold units by the relevant
authorities. All payments received from buyers prior to this
stage were recorded as pre-sales receipts.

Business park

During the year under review, revenue generated by the
business park segment grew by 37%, from HK$85.5 million for
the year ended 30 September 2008 to HK$117.4 million,
representing 94% of the total revenue for the year ended 30
September 2009. This improved revenue was due to the higher
revenue generated by VSBP, which consistently enjoyed near
full occupancy.
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GEOGRAPHICAL MARKETS
Hong Kong

Reflecting the consequence of the shift of the Group’s
investment focus to the mainland of the past few years and with
no new projects in Hong Kong, the revenue derived from Hong
Kong remained minimal at HK$1.3 million (1% of total revenue)
for the year ended 30 September 2009 versus HK$1.2 million
(1% of total revenue) for the year ended 30 September 2008.
The revenue represented the rental income from the car-park
lots held in a completely sold residential development, Greenery
Place in Yuen Long, Hong Kong.

Mainland China

Revenue from operations in mainland China amounted to
HK$123.5 million (99% of total revenue) for the year ended 30
September 2009 compared with HK$122.4 million (99% of total
revenue) for the year ended 30 September 2008. The revenue
during the year under review comprised mainly the rental
income and property management fee income (HK$117.4
million) contributed by VSBP and Beijing Sohu.com Internet
Plaza (SIP) and the sale of a residential unit and the property
management fee income (HK$3.3 million) realized from The
Ninth ZhongShan, Dalian.

ASSETS

The value of the Group’s total assets increased by 15% to
HK$5,113.9 million as at 30 September 2009, up from
HK$4,457.2 million as at 30 September 2008.

Assets held under the property development segment
amounted to HK$3,651.7 million (71% of total assets) as at 30
September 2009 compared with HK$3,305.0 million (74% of
total assets) as at 30 September 2008. The higher amount
reflected the increase in capitalised development costs incurred
in connection with the Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons
project.
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Assets held under the business park segment remained
relatively stable at HK$1,105.7 million as at 30 September 2009
compared with HK$1,085.6 million as at 30 September 2008,
reflecting additional cash and cash equivalents, partially offset
by a diminution in fair values of investment properties.

Total assets held in mainland China amounted to HK$4,761.6
million as at 30 September 2009, representing 93% the Group’s
total assets.

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

The Group’s total shareholders’ funds increased marginally from
HK$1,795.1 million as at 30 September 2008 to HK$1,803.3
million as at 30 September 2009. On a per-share basis, the
consolidated net asset value of the Group as at 30 September
2009 was HK26.4 cents, about equal to the HK26.2 cents as at
30 September 2008. The total shareholders’ funds constituted
35% of the total assets of HK$5,113.9 million as at 30
September 2009.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group's total borrowings remained stable at HK$1,505.1
million as at 30 September 2009 compared with HK$1,505.9
million as at 30 September 2008. However, the net debt
(measured by total bank borrowings minus cash and bank
deposits) fell to HK$647.2 million as at 30 September 2009
from HK$909.4 million as at 30 September 2008. For the year
under review, a new bank loan of HK$360 million in Hong Kong
was drawn down to fund various projects while proceeds
received from the pre-sales of the Shanghai Songjang project
were used to repay certain bank loans. In line with the stable
borrowings, the Group’s gearing ratio (defined as the total
borrowings over total equity, including minority interests) held
constant: 71% as at 30 September 2009 against 72% as at 30
September 2008. The Group’s cash and bank balances
increased to HK$857.9 million as at 30 September 2009 from
HK$596.4 million as at 30 September 2008.
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Short-term and long-term borrowings

The maturity profiles of the Group’s bank borrowings
outstanding as at 30 September 2009 and 30 September 2008
are summarised below:

THRENER
AEER-TEAFAA=TAR-S
ENEAAZHEZ AERRTERE
HEERER T -

As at
I

30 September 30 September

2009 2008

—EENF —EENF

hA=+H AA=+H

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BETT

Within the first year FR 478,532 195,502

In the second year F_FRN 833,442 949,229

In the third to fifth year, inclusive E=EZFLF (BHEEEMF) 193,151 361,134

Wholly repayable within five years HARRAFREEEER 1,505,125 1,505,865
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT Bk ER
Foreign currency risk S EE B B

Borrowings denominated in United States dollar remained at the
same level while those in Hong Kong dollar increased and in
renminbi decreased during the year under review. Most of the
borrowings were matched by assets denominated in renminbi.
The foreign currency risk exposure was considered minimal and
no hedging was considered.

RACEFEAN  AETTERZEED
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The currency denominations of the Group’s bank borrowings
outstanding as at 30 September 2009 and 30 September 2008
are summarised below:

Hong Kong dollar s
Renminbi AR
United States dollar ETT
Total 4B

Interest rate risk

With borrowings applied to finance the development projects,
the Group was exposed to changes in interest rate fluctuations
to the extent that they affected the cost of funds of floating rate
borrowings. As at 30 September 2009, all borrowings of the
Group were on a floating rate basis. The interest rate risk
exposure was considered acceptable and no hedging was
considered necessary. The Group would continue to regularly
monitor the suitability and cost efficiency of hedging and the
need for a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 September 2009, the Group’s bank borrowings were
secured by certain investment properties with a total value of
HK$143.7 million (30 September 2008: HK$147.1 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 September 2009, the Company issued guarantees to
the extent of HK$183.2 million (30 September 2008: HK$199.5
million) of which HK$171.8 million (30 September 2008:
HK$188.1 million) was utilised in respect of bank borrowings
granted to its subsidiaries.
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As at
»

30 September 30 September
2009 2008
—EENE ZET)N\F
hB=+H JLH=HHE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
499,102 138,274
724,507 1,086,844
281,516 280,747
1,505,125 1,505,865
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(In HK$000)

Results
Revenue

(Loss)/profit before tax
Tax credit/(charge)

(Loss)/profit for the
year/period

Attributable to:

Ordinary equity holders

of the parent
Minority interests

(In HK$’000)

Assets and liabilities
Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity (including
minority interests)

(A% T AER)

£ |
WA

BBt (B1R) /& A
RERER/ (Xit)

% / 8 (618)
/%A

WAL
BLAEER

BEREA
B EEUE

(NEETTAEN)

BERAR
BEE
BAaE

Bn % (5%
DURRER)

Nine months

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended ended
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
“EENE —TENF o ZETRE “TTHE
NA=1H NA=+H NA=tH NA=+H NA=+H
tEE FEE FEE HEE IEAEA
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

(&51) (&51) (&51)

124,796 123,560 128,601 214,513 185,720

(14, 713) 4,450 248,834 116,232 100,263
11,743 19,446 (89,170) (12,730) (2,014)
(2,970) 23,896 159,664 108,502 98,249

3,169 8,301 147,164 91,922 93,556

(6,139) 15,595 12,500 11,580 4,693
(2,970) 23,896 159,664 108,502 98,249

As at As at As at As at As at

30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
RZZEZAFE RIZTNFE RZITZLFE  RZITERF  RZZTRE
NA=1H NA=+H NA=+H NA=+H NA=+A
5,113,862 4,457,170 3,699,060 3,340,404 2,753,660
(2,996,536) (2,378,085) (1,766,071) (1,580,460) (1,381,369)
2,117,326 2,079,085 1,932,989 1,759,944 1,372,291
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Business park sector
Vision Shenzhen Business Park (VSBP)

VSBP offers some 125,000 sm of office space and about 1,000
carpark lots for lease. This property comprises seven medium-
rise blocks built around a 16,000 sm lush landscaped park
complete with sporting and recreational facilities. It is now a
substantial asset in terms of capital value, size and
management attention. With its sufficiently large critical mass,
VSBP is being managed to realise operating efficiency from
economies of scale and to offer an unrivalled service standard.

VSBP provides high quality office space and consistently reliable
property management services to both big and small tenants.
This has differentiated VSBP from its numerous competitors
within the Shenzhen High-tech Industrial Park and throughout
Shenzhen. VSBP’s position as market leader in the business
park sector is demonstrated by the consistently high occupancy
of over 95% achieved. Today, VSBP has established a
reputation for quality and won accolades from well-known
international and domestic names, both tenants and visitors.

During the year under review, the Group continued to engage
the Shenzhen authorities to determine the future directions of
phase 3 development site, which occupies an area of 254,000
sm, with a developable gross floor area of over 400,000 sm. As
at the date of this report, the Group was still in the process of
negotiating with the authorities to conclude a comprehensive
settlement of the issues afflicting VSBP, including the expired
construction deadline of the phase 3 site. It is hoped that an
amicable agreement can be concluded in due course.
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Sohu.com Internet Plaza (SIP)

SIP, the Group’s joint venture project with Beijing Tsinghua
Science Park Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the prestigious Tsinghua
University, is a 13-storey high quality and technologically
modern business park facility located within the Tsinghua
Science Park in Zhongguancun, Haidian district, Beijing.

The building offers an international standard of property
management, with a comprehensive range of value-added
services and amenities to all its occupants. Since completion in
2004, it has stood as a landmark building with a sought-after
address within Zhongguancun. Following the sale of certain
floors to Sohu.com in January 2007, the building was renamed
SIP and the joint venture now holds the remaining gross floor
area comprising 10,145 sm of office and 4,786 sm of retail
space. For the year under review, the occupancy rate was over
95% with several acclaimed tenants, such as Juniper Networks,
Sun Microsystems and Starbucks, in addition to owner-occupier
Sohu.com - one of China’s most reputable corporate names.

Real estate development
Property projects in mainland China
Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons

This 71-hectare development site, in which the Group holds a
controlling 52.04%-interest, was acquired in September 2005.
This huge site has a permissible gross floor area of about
830,000 sm to be developed in phases. The pace of such
development will be dictated by market conditions. The
construction of phase 1, with a total gross floor area of about
100,600 sm, comprising 418 units of terrace and semi-
detached houses, a clubhouse and some commercial and retail
space, was largely completed within the year under review. The
necessary occupation permits have been applied for and were
being processed by the authorities. Upon the issue of such
permits, the pre-sold housing units will be ready for possession
by the purchasers. This handover of units is expected to occur
from December 2009.
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Notwithstanding the challenging market conditions, 90% or 377
of 418 units had been pre-sold as at 6 November 2009, about
15 months after the commencement of the phase 1 marketing
in July 2008. The revenue will only be recognised in the new
financial year upon obtaining the occupation permits. With its
tranquil suburban location, easy accessibility and quality design
concept, the Group is confident that the project will continue to
be well received. Given its size and market position, this
development will raise the profile of the Group and reinforce its
commitment to quality and customer satisfaction.

Qingniandajie project, Shenyang

The Group secured this commercial development site (referred
to as Jin Lang site no. 9-4) located at Shenyang’s busiest
thoroughfare, Qingniandajie, at a public auction on 2 July 2008.
The 15,630 sm site has a potential permissible gross floor area
of 187,568 sm. The cost of the site is RMB386 million,
equivalent to an accommodation value (land cost per sm
permissible gross floor area) of about RMB2,060. The site is
situated within the Shenhe district and is within walking
distance to a proposed subway station. The site is now
undergoing resettlement of its existing occupants by the
Shenyang Land Reserve Centre, which has to deliver vacant
possession by the deadline of 31 January 2010. The preliminary
conceptualization and planning works for this project have
started. Subject to approvals being obtained, the development
will comprise office, retail and serviced apartment components.
It is envisaged that the construction of this high-rise multi-tower
project will commence in 2010 and finish in 2013.

The Group is taking the opportunity presented by the lead time
prior to site possession date to review the changing market
conditions and make necessary adjustments to ensure this
investment yields an acceptable risk-adjusted return. The Group
is confident of the long-term prospects of Shenyang — the
largest city in northeast China and the political, economical and
cultural centre of Liaoning province. Shenyang is particularly
well positioned to be a major beneficiary of the central
government’s strategy to accelerate the development of the
north-east region and its real estate sector holds much promise
in tandem with its economic growth prospects and physical
transformation.
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Carpark spaces in Hong Kong

As all the apartments developed in Hong Kong had been sold,
the Group now holds only 133 car parking spaces for lease at
Greenery Place in Yuen Long.

Business development activities

In its drive to build a business platform for sustainable growth
and creation of shareholders’ value, the Group has always
exercised caution and prudence to ensure that its scarce
financial resource is allocated optimally while remaining vigilant
to investment risk. The Group is confident of the long-term
prospects of the mainland property market. In this context, the
Group has focused on the execution of its existing portfolio of
projects during the year under review and will selectively
consider new investment opportunities when there are
compelling strategic and economic reasons to do so.

PROSPECTS

2009 has indeed been a challenging year, fraught with major
difficulties and unknowns arising from the global financial crisis.
China, supported by the central government’s timely and
effective policies on monetary and credit supply, is on course to
maintain a GDP growth rate exceeding its target of 8% for
2009. Notwithstanding the encouraging signs, experts have
warned that any premature withdrawal of economic stimulus
may harm the sustainability of this tentative recovery, given that
demand is still weak.

As a result of the financial meltdown, China’s role as a market
leader has probably been accelerated especially in view of the
negative growth, high unemployment and low consumption
demand in the developed nations. With the worst now over and
recovery expected to continue, the spotlight will be on how
China can expand its domestic demand to sustain its growth
which had historically been dependent on export demand. On
the basis of China’s continued sound economic fundamentals,
the Group believes that there will be strong and sustainable
demand in all property sectors in the years ahead. Moving
forward the Group will manage the potential challenges
emanating from market shifts with care and diligence and
position itself to seize suitable opportunities that may become
available to strengthen and broaden its business platform.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ang Ah Lay (“Mr. Ang”), aged 62, was appointed as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company in October 20083. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Ang was Managing Director and one
of the founding partners of Schroder Property Asia Group, a
private equity real estate fund management company. He was
also Non-executive Director and Audit Committee Member of
The Ascott Ltd., a Singapore-listed Company. Before Schroder
Property Asia Group, he was Group Managing Director of MCL
Land Limited and had held senior management or board-level
positions with Suntec Investment Pte. Ltd., Singapore
International Bankers Limited and Esso Singapore. Mr. Ang
holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) from
University of Singapore and a MBA from Johnson Graduate
School of Business, Cornell University, USA.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lim Ee Seng (“Mr. Lim”), PBM, aged 58, was appointed
as Non-executive Director of the Company in May 2006. Mr. Lim
was appointed as Acting Chairman of the Board in October
2007 and as Chairman of the Board and the Executive
Committee of the Company in July 2008. He is currently Chief
Executive Officer of Frasers Centrepoint Limited (“FCL”), a
subsidiary of Fraser and Neave, Limited (“F&N”) which is the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lim is a
Director of Frasers Centrepoint Asset Management Ltd, the
manager of Frasers Centrepoint Trust; Frasers Centrepoint
Asset Management (Commercial) Ltd, the manager of Frasers
Commercial Trust. Both Frasers Centrepoint Trust and Frasers
Commercial Trust are REITs listed on Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”). He is also a Director of
Hektar Asset Management Sdn Bhd, the manager of Hektar
Reit, a REIT listed on Bursa Malaysia. Mr. Lim is the 2nd Vice
President of the Real Estate Developers Association of
Singapore. Prior to this, Mr. Lim was Managing Director of MCL
Land Limited, a company listed on the SGX. Mr. Lim holds a
Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from the University of
Singapore and a Master of Science in Project Management from
the National University of Singapore.
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Mr. Chia Khong Shoong (“Mr. Chia”), aged 38, was
appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2009. Mr. Chia joined FCL as Chief Financial Officer in March
2009. He is responsible for all aspects of finance and the
management accounting function of the FCL Group. Mr. Chia
was recently a director in the S.E. Asia investment banking team
of The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd. in
Singapore. He has also worked with Schroders and Salomon
Smith Barney/Citigroup Global Markets in London, New York,
Kuala Lumpur and Singapore. During his investment banking
career, Mr. Chia worked extensively on corporate finance
advisory, M&A and capital market initiatives for clients in S.E.
Asia. Mr. Chia holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting
and Finance with First Class Honours from the University of
Western Australia and also a MPhil in Management Studies from
Fitzwilliam College, Cambridge University.

Ms. Chong Siak Ching (“Ms. Chong”), aged 50, was
appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company in
February 2001. Ms. Chong is the President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director of Ascendas Pte. Ltd. (“Ascendas”).
Ascendas Group holds 17.17% interest in the Company.
Ascendas and its subsidiaries are developers, managers and
marketers of science, business and industrial parks in various
countries in Asia including Singapore, China, India and the
Philippines. Ms. Chong was Deputy Chief Executive Officer of
JTC Corporation from 1998 to 2000. Ms. Chong was appointed
as Singapore’s representative to the APEC Business Advisory
Council (ABAC) with effect from 1 January 2004. She also
serves on the Singapore Tourism Board as a Board Member
and as Deputy Chairman of Spring Singapore, Singapore’s
enterprise development agency. A licensed valuer, Ms. Chong
obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Science in Estate Management
(Hons.) and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from
the National University of Singapore and attended the Advanced
Management Programme at Harvard Business School.
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Mr. Hui Choon Kit (“Mr. Hui”), aged 45, was appointed as
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2009. Mr. Hui
joined F&N as Senior Manager, Business Development in
February 2000. He is currently Group Financial Controller for
F&N Group. Prior to joining F&N, Mr. Hui worked as a corporate
finance banker based in Singapore and Thailand, covering the
Asia-Pacific region. He commenced his career as an accountant
and financial consultant with Ernst & Young. Mr. Hui holds a
Bachelor of Business degree from Curtin University, Australia
and a Master of Business Administration degree from Nanyang
Technology University, and is a member of the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

Mr. Hwang Soo Chin (“Mr. Hwang”), aged 61, was appointed
as Non-executive Director of the Company in May 2008. Mr.
Hwang is currently Director and Deputy Chairman of FCL
(China) Pte. Ltd. (“FCL China”), an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of F&N which is the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company, overseeing FCL China’s property development
business in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). He is
Director and Chairman of Audit Committee of Longcheer
Holdings Limited, a company listed on SGX. Mr. Hwang was an
advisor to AEA Investors, a US based private equity fund during
the last two years. He was Director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee of ASL Marine Holdings Limited, a company listed
on SGX, and Director and Chairman of Nominating Committee
of New Lakeside Holdings Limited, a company listed on
SESDAQ of SGX. From 2000 to 2005, Mr. Hwang was President
of SCA Packaging Asia where he was responsible for the
company’s manufacturing operations in PRC and South East
Asia. Prior to this, Mr. Hwang was Group Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer of Tuan Sing Holdings Limited; Director
and Chairman of SPP Limited and Gul Technologies Limited;
and Director and Vice Chairman of the Grand Hotel Group
Limited which is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange
Limited. Mr. Hwang holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Chemical)
degree and a Diploma in Computer Science from the University
of Queensland and is currently a Fellow Member of the
Singapore Institute of Directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Alan Howard Smith (“Mr. Smith”), J.R, aged 65, was
appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in March 2001 and Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee in October 2002. Mr. Smith retired as the Vice
Chairman, Pacific Region, of Credit Suisse First Boston
(“CSFB”), a leading global investment bank, in December 2001.
Prior to joining CSFB, he was Chief Executive of the Jardine
Fleming Group from 1983 to 1994 and was Chairman of the
Jardine Fleming Group from 1994 to 1996. Mr. Smith has over
26 years’ investment banking experience in Asia. He was
elected a Council Member of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on two occasions. He
was a member of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government’s Economic Advisory Committee from 1994 to the
end of 2001, and was a member of the Hong Kong
Government’s Standing Committee on Company Law Reform
for 10 years. He graduated with a LLB (Hons) degree from
Bristol University in 1964, and was admitted as a solicitor in
England in 1967, and in Hong Kong in 1970.

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 60, has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since May 2001. Mr. Kwong has also been serving as Chairman
of the Audit Committee of the Company since August 2001. He
is also an Independent Non-executive Director of a number of
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. From 1984 to 1998,
Mr. Kwong was a partner of Pricewaterhouse and was a Council
Member of the Stock Exchange from 1992 to 1997. He has a
Bachelor of Social Science degree from the University of Hong
Kong and is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (“Mr. Hui"), J.P, aged 62, was appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2004. Mr. Hui is currently Chief Executive Officer of
OSK Holdings Hong Kong Limited. He has 38 years of
experience in the securities and investment industry. Mr. Hui
had for years been serving as Council Member and Vice
Chairman of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, member of the
Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission, and was also a Director of the Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited. Mr. Hui was appointed by
the Government of the HKSAR a Justice of the Peace in 2004
and was also appointed a member of the Zhuhai Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference in 2006. He is at present an Independent Non-
executive Director of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited and a member of the Committee on Real Estate
Investment Trusts of the Securities and Futures Commission.
Mr. Hui is also a member of the Standing Committee on
Company Law Reform and an appointed member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Investigation
Panel A. Mr. Hui also serves as Independent Non-executive
Director of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited, Jiuzhou
Development Company Limited, Lifestyle International Holdings
Limited and Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chong Kok Kong (“Mr. Chong”), aged 56, was appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in May
2006. Mr. Chong is the owner of the law firm, David Chong &
Co., Singapore and is Chairman of the Portcullis TrustNet
Group. He is qualified as a Barrister of England, an Advocate &
Solicitor of Singapore, Malaysia and Brunei, a Solicitor in
Australia and a Barrister & Solicitor of the British Virgin Islands.
Mr. Chong holds a Master’s Degree in Law from the National
University of Singapore and a Master’s Degree in Business from
the City University, London.
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ALTERNATE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chia Nam Toon (“Mr. Chia”), aged 49, was appointed as
Alternate Director to Ms. Chong Siak Ching in August 2008. Mr.
Chia is currently the Chief Financial Officer of Ascendas group
of companies. Before joining Ascendas, Mr. Chia was Finance
Director and Acting Chief Operating Officer of PEC Tech Group,
an engineering and forestry services business division of a large
regional conglomerate. Mr. Chia has extensive Asia Pacific
experience having spent 12 years with ICl Plc, a major specialty
chemical company in various senior roles in finance, corporate
planning, and general management based in Kuala Lumpur,
London and Singapore. He had also spent 4 years with F&N
Coca-Cola in Malaysia. Mr. Chia is a Fellow Member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants UK (FCCA), a
Fellow Member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants
of Singapore, and holds a Diploma in Commerce from Tunku
Abdul Rahman College, Malaysia.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yiu Chun Kit (“Mr. Yiu”), aged 50, Chief Financial Officer
and Company Secretary, joined the Company in October 2005.
Mr. Yiu graduated with a professional diploma in accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic. He is an Associate Member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Certified Management
Accountants Society of British Columbia. Mr. Yiu has 25 years
of working experience and had worked for international audit
firms, MNCs and listed companies before.
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Mr. Foong Kok Meng (“Mr. Foong”), aged 65, Chief Operating
Officer, joined the Company in October 2003. Upon Mr. Foong
retirement on 1 June 2009, he was re-designated as Chief
Operating Officer of Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Co. Ltd.
Mr. Foong is currently Executive Director of Vision (Shenzhen)
Business Park Co. Ltd. and Vision Huaging (Beijing)
Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Foong was the Chief Representative
of JURONG International Consultants (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.’s
Beijing Representative Office, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Jurong Consultants Pte. Ltd., Singapore’s largest industrial
developer. Prior to this, Mr. Foong was Senior Vice President of
Hyflux Pte. Ltd., a Singapore-listed water treatment company.
He held senior management positions with LKN Construction
Pte. Ltd., Beijing China World Trade Centre and Keppel
Corporation Ltd. Mr. Foong holds diplomas in Building
Construction from Singapore Polytechnic, Builders’ Quantity
from London City & Guilds Institute, Marketing Management
from Singapore Ngee Ann Polytechnic, and attended a senior
manager development course in University of NSW, Australia.

Mr. Tay Kok Min (“Mr. Tay”), aged 50, Senior General Manager
(PRC-based), joined the Company in January 2004. Mr. Tay is
currently Director and Senior General Manager of Beijing Gang
Lu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and Shenyang Frasers
Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. Mr. Tay is also Managing
Director and General Manager of Beijing Vision Century Property
Management Company Ltd. Prior to joining our Company, he
was Manager of engineering department of Beijing China World
Trade Center, Deputy Project Manager of Beijing Kerry Center,
Director of engineering for Qingdao Equatorial Hotel, General
Manager of LKN Home Services Pte. Ltd. and Project Director
of Santarli International Construction. Mr. Tay holds an advance
diploma in Building Services Engineering from Ngee Ann
Polytechnic, Singapore and has over 20 years of experience in
property development in the PRC.

Mr. Sin Kong Chiu, Franky (“Mr. Sin”), aged 41, General
Manager - Finance, joined the Company in November 2005. Mr.
Sin holds a Bachelor of Commerce from The Australian National
University and a MBA from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Sin has over 17 years of
working experience and had worked for international accounting
firm, listed companies and MNC before.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices as set out in the Code of
Corporate Governance Practice (the “CG Code”) in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The
corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise a
quality board of directors, sound internal control, principles and
practices, and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Company has complied with
the CG Code throughout the accounting year covered by the
2008/09 Annual Report except for the deviations from Code
Provisions A.4.1 and B.1.1 which, in the Company’s opinion,
are unsuitable or inappropriate for adoption. Explanations for
such non-compliance are provided and discussed below.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the year, the Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) which
became effective on 1 January 2009, as amended on 1 April
2009, as its own code for dealing in securities of the Company
by the directors of the Company. Having made specific enquiry,
all directors of the Company have confirmed their compliance
with the required standards set out in the Model Code applying
before and after 1 January 2009 throughout the year. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) currently
comprises an executive director and nine non-executive
directors, four of whom are independent non-executive
directors. All ten directors are subjected to retirement by
rotation once every three years in accordance with the bye-laws
of the Company and the CG Code. The composition of the
Board is reviewed regularly to ensure that it has a good balance
of expertise, skills and experience which can meet the
requirements of the business of the Company. The directors’
biographical information is set out on pages 25 to 31 of the
2008/09 Annual Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintain an
effective segregation of duties between the management of the
Board and the day-to-day management of the Group’s business
and operations.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and fully discharges its
responsibilities, and that all key issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner. All directors have been consulted
about any matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. The
Chairman has delegated the responsibility of drawing up the
agenda for each board meeting to the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary. With the support of the Chief
Executive Officer and the Company Secretary, the Chairman
seeks to ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at any board meeting and have received adequate and
reliable information in a timely manner.
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Non-executive Directors

The non-executive directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience as well as checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. Their
participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term as they are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company. As such, the
Company considers that such provisions are sufficient to meet
the underlying objectives of the relevant provisions of the CG
Code.

Independent Non-executive Directors

More than one-third of the members of the Board consists of
independent non-executive directors and more than one of
whom have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Board confirms that the Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive directors the annual confirmation of
independence for the year ended 30 September 2009 pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the
independent non-executive directors to be independent during
the year. No independent non-executive director has served the
Group for more than nine years.
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RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity with
applicable laws and regulations. All directors have made full and
active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the Board has
always acted in the best interests of the Group.

The Executive Director and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate
strategy and policy and contractual commitments. Management
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group with
divisional heads responsible for different aspects of the
business.

The Board considers that in preparing the financial statements,
the Group has applied the appropriate accounting policies that
are consistently adopted and made judgements/estimates that
are reasonable and prudent in accordance with the applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
publication of the financial statements of the Group is also in a
timely manner.

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, are of the view
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this
reason, it is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going
concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements.
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Board Meetings

During the year, the Board met regularly and held five meetings.
The attendance record, on a named basis, at these meetings is
set out in the table on page 51 of this report.

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate
all directors’ attendance. If potential conflict of interest involving
a substantial shareholder or a director arises which the Board
has determined to be material, the matter is discussed in a
physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by written
resolutions, and the interested parties are required to abstain
from voting. The directors attend meetings in persons or
through other means of electronic communication in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.

Board papers are circulated approximately seven days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary shall
attend all regular board meetings to advise on corporate
governance and statutory compliance, when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a package
of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.

Responsibilities of Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and that the Board is fully
briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments and that it has regard to them when making
decisions. The Company Secretary is also directly responsible
for the Group’s compliance with the continuing obligations of
the Listing Rules, Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Repurchases, Companies Ordinance, Securities and Futures
Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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Directors and Officers Policy

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’
liabilities have been in force to protect the directors and officers
of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the business
of the Group.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee of the Board was formed in April
2001. It currently comprises three non-executive directors and
one executive director. It was chaired by the non-executive
Chairman. The terms of reference of the Executive Committee
adopted by the Board are posted on the Company’s website.
The Executive Committee establishes the strategic directions of
the Company and monitors the performance of management.
The Executive Committee is also provided with other resources
enabling it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Executive Committee held three meetings.
The attendance record, on a named basis, at these meetings is
set out in the table on page 51 of this report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND REMUNERATION
OF DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee of the Board was formed in
October 2002. The two-member Remuneration Committee has
one independent non-executive director as its chairman and
one non-executive director. The majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are not independent non-executive
directors. The Board will continue with this composition and not
comply with Code B.1.1 of the CG Code because the Board
considers that it is appropriate for the non-executive director(s)
representing the controlling shareholder to play an active role in
appointing the key executives and setting their remuneration.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the
authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee, was
adopted by the Board and the contents of which are in
compliance with the Code Provisions of the CG Code. The said
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee adopted by
the Board are posted on the Company’s website.
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The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to establish
and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Committee is provided with other resources
enabling it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
and dealt with other matters by way of circulation of resolutions.
The attendance record, on a named basis, at the meeting is set
out in the table on page 51 of this report.

The Remuneration Committee had considered the following
proposals and made recommendation to the Board during the
year:

e Annual salary review and bonus payment for 2008/09 of
directors and senior executives

e  Offer and grant of share options under the Company’s
Share Option Scheme to eligible employees and directors

The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer about their proposals relating to the
remuneration of other directors and have access to professional
advice, if necessary.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

Being accountable for the stewardship of the Group’s affairs,
the Board is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting
records are kept and relevant financial statements are prepared
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group.
With effect from the financial year which commenced on 1
October 2005, the Group has published its financial results on a
quarterly basis, thereby enhancing the transparency in reporting
its results and financial position.

Specifically, the following responsibility of the Board in relation
to the financial statements should be read in conjunction with,
but distinguished from the Independent Auditor’s Report on
page 77 which acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the
Group’s Auditor:

e Accounting Policies — The Board considers that in
preparing the financial statements, the Group has applied
the appropriate accounting policies that are consistently
adopted and made judgements/estimates that are
reasonable and prudent in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

e Going Concern Basis - The Board, having made
appropriate enquiries, is of the view that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is
appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis
in the preparation of the financial statements.

The management of the individual businesses within the Group
provides the Board with such information and explanations
necessary to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before the
Board for approval.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities
is included in the Independent Auditors’ Report which is set out
on pages 77 to 78 of the 2008/09 Annual Report.
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Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the integrity of the
Group’s financial information and the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls and risk management
processes. In this context, the Board has established a clear
organizational structure with appropriate delegation of
responsibility to satisfy changing business needs while
managing risks that are critical to the achievement of business
objectives.

In line with the requirement of the amended Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules (effective on 1 January 2009) and as an added
assurance, the Board has conducted an annual review and is
satisfied with the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff working in the accounting and financial
reporting functions. The Board is also satisfied that such staff
are undergoing adequate continuous training to keep abreast of
the latest accounting and financial developments. Similarly, the
oversight role of the Audit Committee of the Group has been
assessed to be satisfactory and effectively discharged in the
financial year under review.

While the Audit Committee conducts continuous review on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the existing internal controls on
behalf of the Board, the day-to-day responsibility for the
conduct of these control procedures, the on-going monitoring
of risks and the effectiveness of the corresponding internal
controls rest with the management.

AR BE 12

EFeRREAEEMBER Z TR
RAEBRMEZERGN AR EREF
ZEMUERE Al BEEFEEEVA
EERIRBEZAEARRER - Un
RIMEB I EZBFELZRE - TFETT
REREE MEHERXHKAEMSE
REE -

REERIET 2 EMRRAKE T HRE
(R=FZENAF-—HA—BER I RE
— R BEEECEHFEERZ 3
S EUBBEEITEZETHARREER
R BEREBRRTIME EZETYH
RIAE THETREBEE - LEERHN
S EMBHNBERTAE - FE > RA
CEMBREERN  EFER  FAKEE
REEBEEEESAGRLIFTIAR
MIEAT °

ERZEERREFSURBEZANE
BEEEAHERERTEETESZ A
FEERFZETT  FEERMAEARN
ERZEAREARMANHEEERSR °



Frasers Property (China) Limited £%itt:ZE (FE) BRLA A

Annual Report 08/09 “F

Corporate Governance Report

The Board hereby confirms that there is a process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks that
are critical to the achievement of the Group’s strategic
objectives. The process which was in place throughout the
financial year up to the date of the financial statements has not
identified any significant control breakdown or inadequacy.

e  System and Procedures — A system of sound and effective
internal controls contributes to safeguarding the Group’s
assets. Since profits are, in part, the reward for successful
risk taking in business, the purpose of the internal controls
is to help manage and to control appropriately, rather than
to eliminate the risk to the achievement of business
objectives. They can only provide reasonable, though not
absolute assurance against misstatement or loss.

As a part of the on-going process towards inculcating risk/
control awareness in maintaining a sound system of
internal controls, a strategic Enterprise-wide Risk
Management (“‘ERM”) has been put in place since 2006
while active subsidiary companies continue to be identified
for implementation at operational level. This standardized
risk management methodology helps to formalize the
identification and assessment of key risks its businesses
face, thereby improving the management of risk throughout
the Group.

The Internal Auditors have reviewed the risk management
process, as an on-going part of their routine audit works to
ensure that the effectiveness of existing controls are
monitored and tracked vis-a-vis the key risk factors.

The Board is satisfied that management is committed to
the ERM as an on-going process and that management will
continue to administer and monitor ERM at the strategic
level, while working towards cascading the ERM further to
the divisional, operational, departmental and process level
progressively, as appropriate.

TRERKE

EEQEMER  AKEAFTREA
HELERERRRCIERF - HERHE
REMEBEERERE ZEFNATHK
FE2FET BEEAVBREBHS
Ik WAREREERMEREZERRKD
MZIERBELE -

s EBmEKEF-BETEERZIAR
EREfS  TREAKEEEZR
2o mRNENEREE EREBK
Wi AE R 2 @ - Bt AERE
22 BHER B E IR REE T
B - I IR E R R PAE R
BER - RERBEHH EHBRER
Rt s &R - (FRIEMIEBEH 2R

.
L
g °

EREHRR " EEEHRAERN
HEZZSRE2 HERE L —F
o 5_77A¢t$%lﬁﬂ1
tEEELEY—E2QEAR

BRs;(IABREBERLAK]) - m%%
SHREERCECHNBAREEE
BEEHRITHERES - ZIZE/LRER
EEFEENEECEEBKIE
H2xXZRBBARTME - Hmie
AEEEERNBZRARER -

NBZHRME R ERERFIELDE
B W ERENTEZIESZ —
Ho UERTHIZRRBERZ
EftE HEREBEEZERSK 2B
HEITEEBR -

EEZgGEMEEE HAETRER
BRERG EEHLI - && *BF‘EJJ//(
REFEEREBROE —SHETR
RERRSGZRAK  EEETEE
G AR RS B 1T B AR
[EL B B IR AR AR o

41



42

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2§t (FFE) R AT
Annual Report 08/09 4F ¥}

Corporate Governance Report

&

XERRE

Annual Assessment — Evaluation of the Group’s internal
controls is independently conducted by the Internal Audit
Department of Fraser and Neave, Limited (“F&N”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company, on an on-going
basis. Such evaluation covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. The Internal Audit
Department of F&N reports directly to the Audit Committee
on findings on internal controls issues.

Whistle-blowing Policy — The Group has established a
“whistleblower” policy under which employees can report
any concerns, including misconduct, impropriety or fraud in
financial matters and accounting practices to either the
Chairman or the Audit Committee in confidence and
without fear of recrimination at a designated email address
or telephone. Any shareholders or stakeholders can also
report similar concerns in writing or verbally in confidence
to the Audit Committee.

Code of Business Conduct — In addition to the compliance
to the CG Code, the Group has adopted a Code of
Business Conduct to regulate the standards and ethical
conduct of the Group, and that its directors, officers and
employees are required to observe and maintain high
standards of integrity, as are in compliance with the
relevant laws and the regulations and company policies
and practices. The Code sets standards of integrity and
professionalism in the conduct of the Company’s
operations.

Business Continuity Plan - The development and
continuous testing of a contingency plan/action guidelines
for disruptive events like infectious diseases and
pandemics is a part of the Group’s preparation to reduce
the potential impact on its on-going business operations.

In line with Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, the Group
issues a timely reminder once every quarter to its directors
and officers to request that they refrain from dealing in the
shares of the Group, within the designated period
subsequent to the quarterly/half yearly and year end date
for up to 30 days and 60 days preceding the publication
date of the quarterly/half yearly and annual results
respectively. This restriction is also applicable at any time
they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information.
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Internal Audit

The Internal Audit function is independent of the activities it
audits. The Internal Audit Charter, as approved in 2006 accords
the Head of Internal Audit of the F&N Group and her staff
unrestricted access to all functions, records, property and
personnel within the Group for their audit works. A full and free
access to the Audit Committee is also provided for.

The audits are designed to provide the Board with reasonable
assurance that a functioning system of internal controls is in
place and operating effectively to manage the risks associated
with the achievement of business objectives of the Group. The
Internal Audit Department of the F&N Group conducts audits of
the Company and its subsidiaries, typically over a three-year
cycle. The adequacy of the frequency and the audit scope of
each subsidiary is independently assessed and tabled by the
Internal Audit Department of the F&N Group in the form of a
risk-based Annual Audit Plan to the Audit Committee for
approval. Due considerations are also given to the audit findings
raised by both the internal and/or external audit visits.

In respect of the audit reviews conducted, copies of the Internal
Audit Reports for each audit are sent to the Chairman, the
members of the Audit Committee, management and the
external auditors. The results of each review are tabled and
discussed in the Audit Committee meeting. Any significant
internal audit findings or identified risks are closely examined so
that appropriate action can be taken. From time to time,
management is called upon to monitor and update the Audit
Committee and the Board on the status of implementation of
their action plans in response to the audit recommendations
raised. The close follow up and tracking is to ensure that all
control inadequacies identified are promptly addressed and
resolved.

In addition to its routine audit schedule, the Internal Audit
Department of the F&N Group may be assigned to conduct
projects and investigative work, as may be required from time to
time.
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External Auditors

For the year ended 30 September 2009, the fees paid to the
Company'’s external auditors in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out
below:

ZBUR %5
FRBRY (BEBRG
FH BHRHEMD

B AR TS )

Audit services

Non-audit services (included tax
matters, review and other
reporting services)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board was formed in August 2001.
It currently comprises four independent non-executive directors
and one non-executive director. It is chaired by an independent
non-executive director. A new set of written terms of reference,
which described the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee, was adopted by the Board during the year and the
contents of which are in compliance with the new amendments
to the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of
the CG Code which became effective on 1 January 2009. The
said terms of reference of the Audit Committee adopted by the
Board are posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and
internal controls. The Committee is also provided with other
resources to enable it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Audit Committee held four meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance record
on a named basis, at these meetings is set out in the table on
page 51 of this report.
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2009 2008
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The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company and Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and

has discussed auditing, internal controls and financial reporting
matters, including the review of the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 30 September 2009.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit

Committee during the year:

Reviewed the 2007/08 Annual Report, and audited
accounts and annual results announcement for the year
ended 30 September 2008

Reviewed the 2008/09 Interim Report and the interim
results announcement for the six months ended 31 March
2009

Reviewed the management accounts and the quarterly
results announcement for the three months ended 31
December 2008 and for the nine months ended 30 June
2009

Recommended to the Board that the shareholders be
asked to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the Company’s
external auditors for 2008/09

Reviewed and recommended to the Board the approval of
the audit fee proposal for the Group for 2008/09

Reviewed the connected transactions for the year ended
30 September 2008 and for the quarterly periods ended 31
December 2008, 31 March 2009 and 30 June 2009

Reviewed the areas of (i) risk management and internal
controls and (i) internal audit and compliance functions
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o Reviewed and approved the Group audit charter, the
internal audit plan for the year ended 30 September 2009,
the cost budget for audit and the internal audit reports

e  Met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
of their audit work

All issues raised by the Committee have been addressed by
Management. The work and findings of the Committee have
been reported to the Board. During the year, no issue brought
to the attention of Management and the Board was of sufficient
importance to require disclosure in the 2008/09 Annual Report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S INTERESTS

As at 30 September 2009, the senior management had the
following interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

Name of employee EEHE

Mr. Yiu Chun Kit AR EE ST &
Mr. Foong Kok Meng BB %
Mr. Tay Kok Min B B8 §4 5 A

Mr. Sin Kong Chiu, Franky BT L E

s EHIMEAKEELEE BHE
ZETENFNRAEZTHEIEFEZA
MEZ BB NATEZRS
ZRAEE

o HSNERZENAN R ME AN IRERH
TEz—REE

AIEJ'EJE'E@%A SFRE ZFA M
cRBG TEBRARE %Eﬁi%
%#&¢°¢I*J CWEERREBENAR
EFQIBZERAMABEMHENEAR
“EENBENFFERARE -

EREEE ER

R-ZBZNFAA=1THE SREEE
JINVIN/N Tﬂxfﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂxfﬁqﬂwﬁbﬁlﬁﬁ

H

Number of
ordinary shares
issuable under

Number of share options
ordinary shares granted
beneficially held Rz RRE
BEEfEZ TH#TZ
EEREE EBERHE

— 3,300,000

— 5,295,328

1,200,000 1,397,888

10,000 750,000
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

General Meetings

One annual general meeting and one special general meeting
were held during the year.

The 2009 annual general meeting was held on Monday, 19
January 2009 at 2:30 p.m. The following ordinary resolutions
were passed at the meeting by poll:

1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated financial
statements and the reports of the directors and auditors for
the year ended 30 September 2008.

2. (@ (i) To re-elect Mr. Hwang Soo Chin as director.
(i)  To re-elect Mr. Ang Ah Lay as director.
(iiiy  To re-elect Mr. Chong Kok Kong as director.
(iv) To re-elect Ms. Chong Siak Ching as director.
(b) To fix the remuneration of directors.

3. To re-appoint the auditors and to authorise the board of
directors to fix their remuneration.

4.  To grant a general mandate to the directors to repurchase
shares.

5. To grant a general mandate to the directors to allot and
issue new shares.

6. To extend the general mandate granted to the directors to
issue new shares by adding the number of shares
repurchased.

The special general meeting was held on Monday, 19 January
2009 at 3:30 p.m. The following ordinary resolution was passed
at the meeting by poll:

To approve the Capital Increase under the Shareholding
Adjustment Agreement, the Subscription under the Subscription
Agreement and to authorise the Directors to deal with all
matters in connection with the Capital Increase and the
Subscription.

TRERKE

REEBR

BRRXE

FABRT—RERRBFERE R — XK
REHIAE -

:;ﬁghiﬂx%ﬂfﬁk‘\ﬁﬁé;azh
E=HAThB(EBR—) FTF_K=15
RT -SLEBMRESIAAE iﬂLAT%@

REER

1. REREBEHE_TT/N\FNLA=
TRLEFEZEEZGAWBRER
HEESHENZBEI RS -

(i) BEAGCELLERES -

2. (a) (i)

(i) EERBEHRELERESE -
(iv) BBREFLLTAES -
(b) BEEEMS -

3. BERBMEEEEEEETRA
RhEM & -

4. BTEFBERMNDZ —RIFE -

5. BIEFEERBTHRG 2 — &
A -

6. MABEZERMNDBENBEARTE
ERITHBRD 2 —RERE -

REREFHIRETIR_EZNLF—A+N
AEHR ) TF==1+o817 -2 L
FREEFABBUATERERER

Tﬁt)&ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂ%Tﬁ%E—FZiﬁ&m 8 15

BEATZRBER UREESRE—
t)]éﬁ%‘éf&mﬁ%%ﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁZ%ﬂ °

47



48

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2§t (FFE) R AT
Annual Report 08/09 F ¥R

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The 2010 annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) will
be held on Monday, 18 January 2010. Details of the 2010 AGM
Notice are set out in the circular to the shareholders which is
despatched together with the 2008/09 Annual Report.

According to the bye-laws of the Company, a special general
meeting can be convened by a written request signed by
shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
share capital of the Company, stating the purposes of the
meeting, and deposited at the registered office of the Company.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at a general meeting
by way of a written notice addressed to the Company Secretary
at the registered office of the Company.

Communication Channels

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships with
the shareholders of the Company, the Company has established
various channels to facilitate and enhance communication:

e the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board

° updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.fraserschina.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group

e the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and investors

The Chairman and the directors are available at annual general
meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders of the
Company or other interested parties. To facilitate enforcement
of shareholders’ rights, substantially different issues at general
meetings are dealt with under separate resolutions.
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Shareholding Analysis IR R 5 #r

Analysis of share ownership among top 30 shareholders BEARRR=ZZEZENFNLA=THZ
according to the register of members of the Company as at 30 fRER B - AAFRIS0 BRE 2 FRE
September 2009: DITEAT

Approximate

percentage
on total
Number of issued shares
ordinary shares held HE 81T
FEEZ B0 A E
Category k]| ZEREE ZAB DL
%
Individual &8 A
Local i} 17,502,730 0.26
Overseas SN 8,710,536 0.13
Sub-total Nt 26,213,266 0.39
Corporate NG|
Local Vg1 1,846,596,584 26.98
Overseas AN 4,934,822,030 72.11
Sub-total NET 6,781,418,614 99.09

Total et 6,807,631,880 99.48
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Market Capitalisation

As at the financial year
end of 30 September 2009

Number of issued shares
BETRHEE

Closing price

Y&

Market capitalisation

mERAE

Shareholder Services

Any matter in relation to the transfer of shares, change of name
or address, or loss of share certificates should be addressed to
the Company’s branch share registrars as follows:

Tricor Standard Limited

26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Enquiry Hotline : (852) 2980 1768
Email : is.enquiries@tricor.com.hk

mEAE

R_FENFNA=FH
I E

6,843,371,580 shares
6,843,371,580/% A% 19

HK$0.134 per share
BRRE0.1347T

Approximately HK$917.01 million
#)7%%917,010,00070

PR 3R AR %

ARABEBRODEE B -
BARESEE  SHEA2F0KRG
BEEEDE @ ik A -
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i i
ERKBER285

TEEH 02618
BERAEAR ¢ (852) 2980 1768
HAH : is.enquiries@tricor.com.hk
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ERER/RME
ATTENDANCE RECORD AT THE MEETINGS OF THE BE-ZBANFAAZ=THLEEZE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SPECIALISED BOARD EEREHESZESaRHERR

COMMITTEES HELD FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30
SEPTEMBER 2009

The number of meetings and attendance by Board members are TEREJEFEXKEMBRERZREK

set out in the table below: HEIRE
Directors’ Attendance EEHERLHE
Executive Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee

Exge HTEEE® ERZE® FMZEE

Meetings held during BE-ZZANE
financial year ended AB=+HLRBFE
30 September 2009 FefTzes 5 3 4 1
Executive Director HITEE
Mr. Ang Ah Lay HTE R )
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Lim Ee Seng IR &
Ms. Chong Siak Ching KEFRT
Mr. Chia Nam Toon Sk EE
(Alternate to (REfFx+
Ms. Chong Siak Ching) ZEMEE)
Mr. Goh Yong Chian, REMEED
Patrick ®
Mr. Hwang Soo Chin BRI
Mr. Tang Kok Kai, HEELED
Christopher @
Mr. Hui Choon Kit @ APEfELO
Mr. Chia Khong Shoong @ HABEEED
Independent BUFHITES
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chong Kok Kong REIKSEAE
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P FRP%E (K TFHL)
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, BEBELE
Gordon
Mr. Alan Howard Alan Howard Smith%t &
Smith, J.P. (K F#L)
Key: [ Chairman I Members Not applicable
FEKE - B & TER
® Resigned on 18 August 2009 ® RZETAFNA+TNAEME
@ Appointed on 18 August 2009 @ MNZETFAFNATNBERE
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 September
2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company continues to be
investment holding while the principal activities of its
subsidiaries are property investment, development and
management of residential, commercial and business park
projects. There have been no changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and contribution to segment results for the
year by business segment and geographical segment are as
follows:

By business segment:

E=ZgEREARFHE_ZTZTNAFN
A=ZtHLEFEZEEERERKLER
ATEEREK -

EEXRH

ARRBBENREREBRRTIEER - M
HEHMBARZEZXHAISYMERE -
ZREEEEEIE RBRFEMAEEZ
HE - RFEAR - AEBZETEXHUEE
A 48 A fr]

DEEHR
RER - REBIZER D 8B kit & o 28
D ZWAREDBEELT ¢

BEH A8

Property Business
(In HK$’000) (LAE® T T AEN) development park Corporate Group
MERR [SESE] tEER rEE
Revenue N 7,417 117,379 - 124,796
Segment (loss)/profit S8 (BB) = F (56,879) 76,516 (25,508) (5,871)
By geographical segment: ZHE D D
Segment
(loss)/profit
(In HK$’000) (ABET T ABEM) Revenue 723 (E5#8)
N e %
Hong Kong BB 1,285 (25,193)
Mainland China AR K B 123,511 19,322
124,796 (5,871)
SUBSIDIARIES PtEE AR R EBEE QA

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 30 September 2009
are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

ARAM-ZZFZAFAA=ZTHZWE
DA ZFBHNM B HRAMEET

5
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2009
and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 79 to 190.

No interim dividend was paid during the year. The directors
have resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 30 September 2009 (2008: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 20 of the
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Details of movements in properties under development of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

MAJOR INTERESTS IN PROPERTIES

Particulars of major interests in properties held by the Group as
at 30 September 2009 are set out on pages 193 to 198 of the
annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

BANK BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group’s bank borrowings as at 30 September 2009 and the
amount of interest capitalised by the Group during the year are
set out in notes 26 and 6 to the financial statements
respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 22(a) to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves during the year are set out in
note 23 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 30 September 2009, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to
HK$537,615,000. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account, in the amount of HK$41,816,000 may be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

WARRANTS, OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as
explained in note 22(b) to the financial statements, the
Company had no outstanding warrants, options or similar rights
as at 30 September 2009.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
during the year.
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Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (FE) AR LA

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Director:

Mr. Ang Ah Lay (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lim Ee Seng

Mr. Chia Khong Shoong (appointed on 18 August 2009)
Ms. Chong Siak Ching (whose alternate is Mr. Chia Nam Toon)
Mr. Hui Choon Kit (appointed on 18 August 2009)

Mr. Hwang Soo Chin
Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick (resigned on 18 August 2009)

Mr. Tang Kok Kai, Christopher  (resigned on 18 August 2009)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chong Kok Kong

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P.

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P,

According to bye-law 100 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr.
Chia Khong Shoong and Mr. Hui Choon Kit will retire and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

According to bye-law 109(A) and 189(vii) of the bye-laws of the
Company, three directors, namely, Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Mr.
Kwong Che Keung, Gordon and Mr. Lim Ee Seng, will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 20
May 2003 (the “Share Option Scheme”) to comply with the
new amendments to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) in
respect of share option schemes of a listed company.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and
retain the best quality personnel for the development of the
Company’s businesses, to provide additional incentives to
employees, consultants, agents, representatives, advisers,
suppliers of goods or services, customers, contractors,
business allies and joint venture partners, and to promote
the long term financial success of the Company by aligning
the interests of option holders to shareholders.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include (i)
any employee or any proposed employee (including an
officer or director (whether executive or non-executive) or
alternate director of the Company or any affiliate) or any
legal or financial consultant, agent, representative or legal
or financial adviser of the Company or any affiliate; or (ii)
any person who provides goods or services to the
Company or any affiliate; or (i) any customer or contractor
of the Company or any affiliate; or (iv) any business ally or
joint venture partner of the Company or any affiliate.
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Total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued share
capital as at the date of this report

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the maximum
number of shares in respect of which share options may be
granted is such number of shares, when aggregated with
shares subject to any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company, must not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme (i.e. 283,618,894 shares).

As at 30 September 2009, there were 84,026,154 share
options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.
Based on these outstanding share options, the total
number of shares available for issue is 84,026,154, which
represents approximately 1.23% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of
the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(whether exercised or outstanding share options) to each
eligible participant in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of grant. Any further grant of share options to any
eligible participant who in aggregate has over 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue shall be subject to the
issue of a circular by the Company and the shareholders’
approval of the Company at a general meeting with the
relevant eligible participant and his/her associates
abstaining from voting.
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Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates, are subject to the approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company, excluding the independent non-executive
director(s) of the Company who is/are the grantee(s) of the
share options. In addition, any share option granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their respective
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of grant or with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares as at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
the issue of a circular by the Company and the approval of
the shareholders of the Company in advance at a general
meeting.

Period which the shares must be taken up under an
option

The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the Board, and commences on a specified
date and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of grant of the share options.

Period and payment on acceptance of options

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing
prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Company’s share.
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8. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 20 May

20083 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

Details of the movements of the share options under the Share

Option Scheme during the year were as follows:

Name or category
of participant
SHEY
HEGER

Directors
Bz

Mr. Ang Anh Lay
HRErE

Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick ©®
REARE 00

Ms. Chong Siak Ching ©
REERL @

Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P. @
Alan Howard Smith 2 £
(A¥#1) @

Number of share options
AREHA
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
1/10/2008 during during  during 30/9/2009
RZBENE theyear theyear theyear R-ZEENE
TH-H RER  RER  RER AAZTH
i KA B e k% i RAT
2,698,598 - - - 2,698,598
2,698,598 - - - 2,698,598
2,698,598 - - - 2,698,598
2,800,000 - - - 2,800,000
2,800,000 - - - 2,800,000
— 2,800,000 - - 2,800,000
1,079,439 - - - 1,079,439@
1,079,439 - - - 1,079,439
1,079,439 - - - 1,079,439
1,727,103 - - - 1,727,103
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
— 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
1,079,439 - - - 1,079,439
1,079,439 - - - 1,079,439
1,727,103 - - - 1,727,103
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
— 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000

8. RRETBZHRTFHY

REEAER _TE=FFEA -+
BEER - BRIFRTHEHRIER
BRISEZ AT +FEX -

R T ZRRRERFRAZESF

(=N

Date of
grant of
share
options
ARE
RuAH

31/12/2008
31/12/2004
30/12/2005
13/11/2006
09/11/2007
14/11/2008

31/12/2004

31/12/2008
31/12/2004
30/12/2005
13/11/2006
09/11/2007
14/11/2008

31/12/2003
31/12/2004
30/12/2005
13/11/2006
09/11/2007
14/11/2008

Exercise period
of share options
ARETES
(Note 1)

(K=t 1)

31/12/2004-30/12/2013
31/12/2005-30/12/2014
30/12/2006-29/12/2015
13/11/2007-12/11/2016
09/11/2008-08/11/2017
14/11/2009-13/11/2018

31/12/2005-30/12/2014

31/12/2004-30/12/2013
31/12/2005-30/12/2014
30/12/2006-29/12/2015
13/11/2007-12/11/2016
09/11/2008-08/11/2017
14/11/2009-13/11/2018

31/12/2004-30/12/2013
31/12/2005-30/12/2014
30/12/2006-29/12/2015
13/11/2007-12/11/2016
09/11/2008-08/11/2017
14/11/2009-13/11/2018

Exercise
price per
share option
BHARE
LR E
(Note 2)
(M 2)

HK$

BT

0.1580
0.1647
0.1343
0.1670
0.3370
0.1000

0.1547

0.1580
0.1547
0.1343
0.1670
0.3370
0.1000

0.1580
0.1547
0.1343
0.1670
0.3370
0.1000
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Name or category
of participant
2HEL
HEGER

Mr. Kwong Che
Keung, Gordon @
BEREL 0

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P. @
FRAEE (AFHL) 0

Mr. Chong Kok Kong @
REEAE @

Number of share options

AREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
1/10/2008 during during  during 30/9/2009
BRZBENE theyear theyear theyear R-ZEENE
+E-H RER  RER  RER  AAZTH
i RAT G B it k% i R AT
1,079,439 - - - 1,079,439
1,079,439 - - - 1,079,439
1,727,103 - - - 1,727,108
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
— 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
1,727,103 - - - 1,727,108
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
— 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
900,000 - - - 900,000
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
— 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
46,260,279 12,800,000 - — 59,060,279

Date of
grant of
share
options
ARE
RuiAH

31/12/2008
31/12/2004
30/12/2005
13/11/2006
09/11/2007
14/11/2008

30/12/2005
13/11/2006
09/11/2007
14/11/2008

13/11/2006
09/11/2007
14/11/2008

Exercise period
of share options
AREAES
(Note 1)

(K=t 1)

31/12/2004-30/12/2013
31/12/2005-30/12/2014
30/12/2006-29/12/2015
13/11/2007-12/11/2016
09/11/2008-08/11/2017
14/11/2009-13/11/2018

30/12/2006-29/12/2015
13/11/2007-12/11/2016
09/11/2008-08/11/2017
14/11/2009-13/11/2018

13/11/2007-12/11/2016
09/11/2008-08/11/2017
14/11/2009-13/11/2018

Exercise
price per
share option
BHRARE
A
(Note 2)
(K 2)
HK$

BET

0.1580
0.1547
0.1343
0.1670
0.3370
0.1000

0.1343
0.1670
0.3370
0.1000

0.1670
0.3370
0.1000



Name or category
of participant
2HEEY
HEGER

Other employees
HitfEE
In aggregate

At

Former directors
HEES

In aggregate ®
CHEG!

® © ® e

Number of share options
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AREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
1/10/2008 during during  during 30/9/2009
RZBENE theyear theyear theyear R-ZEENE
TH-H RER  RER  RER  AAZTH
i RAT 6 B (i b3 R AT
250,706 - - (88,327) 162,379
680,048 - - - 680,048
712,431 - - - 712,431
2,600,737 - - - 2,600,737
3,750,000 - - - 3,750,000
— 4,250,000 - - 4,250,000
7,993,922 4,250,000 - (88,327) 12,155,595
3,778,037 - - - 3,778,037
3,778,037 - - - 3,778,037
3,454,206 - - - 3,454,206
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000
12,810,280 - - - 12,810,280
67,064,481 17,050,000 - (88,327) 84,026,154

Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director
Resigned on 18 August 2009
The lapsed period of the share options entitled was extended

following director’s resignation pursuant to the terms in the

Share Option Scheme.

® The lapsed periods of the share options entitled to three

former directors, Mr. Lew Syn Pau, Ms. Wang Poey Foon,

Angela and Dr. Han Cheng Fong, were extended pursuant to

the terms in the Share Option Scheme.

® ® ® ©

Date of
grant of Exercise
share price per
options Exercise period  share option
Ak E of share options SHARE
Rt BH AREFES i1 E
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(K=t 1) (HzE2)
HK$
BT
31/12/2003  31/12/2004-30/12/2013 0.1580
31/12/2004  31/12/2005-30/12/2014 0.1547
30/12/2005  30/12/2006-29/12/2015 0.1343
18/11/2006  13/11/2007-12/11/2016 0.1670
09/11/2007  09/11/2008-08/11/2017 0.3370
14/11/2008  14/11/2009-13/11/2018 0.1000
31/12/2003  31/12/2004-30/12/2013 0.1580
31/12/2004  31/12/2005-30/12/2014 0.1547
30/12/2005  30/12/2006-29/12/2015 0.1343
13/11/2006  13/11/2007-12/11/2016 0.1670
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REEZFEE  BREZXBHRE
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Notes: B 5
1. The vesting schedule for share options granted on 31 16 N e W = il = s e
December 2003 is in the following manner: RBEZEBREAROT

Percentage of shares over which
a share option is exercisable

PR ZBRBERITE
Vesting Schedule FERER RBREZBDL
%
Before the first anniversary of BBz —BFA Nil
the date of grant =
On or after the first but before the RE Rz —AF% 25
second anniversary of the date of grant 2B EmBSR
On or after the second but before the R BHZMBFK 25
third anniversary of the date of grant ZBIB=BER
On or after the third but before the BE RSz =@Fk 25
fourth anniversary of the date of grant Z & BNEF A
On or after the fourth anniversary of B ARz NAF & 25
the date of grant
The vesting schedule for the share options granted after 31 RZEZE=F+A=+—HERD
December 2003 is in the following manner: ZREEZBERERET

Percentage of shares over which
a share option is exercisable

s R 2 R L 47

Vesting Schedule FERERX REREZEDL

%

Before the first anniversary of BHBZz —BFA Nil

the date of grant =

On or after the first but before the REBHZz —BFK 40
second anniversary of the date of grant ZEEMBFH

On or after the second but before the A2 M sk 30
third anniversary of the date of grant ZBE=EER

On or after the third anniversary of BHBBZz = BFR 2% 30

the date of grant



In relation to the share options, if the eligible participant,
during any of the periods specified above, exercises that share
options for such number of shares which, in aggregate,
represents less than the number of shares for which the
eligible participant may exercise in respect of such period, the
balance of the shares comprised in that share option for which
the eligible participant could have exercised (but did not
exercise) in that period shall be carried forward and added to
the number of shares which the eligible participant may
exercise in the next succeeding period or periods.

Date of grant el =R

31 December 2003 —E2E=F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2004 —EENFE+_A=+—H
30 December 2005 —EERFTA=1H
13 November 2006 —EERF+—AT=H
9 November 2007 —EELFE+—ARA

14 November 2008 —EENF+—A+HA

*

Adjusted to reflect the impact of the rights issue on 12
September 2006

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
and chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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Closing price of the Company’s
share quoted on the Stock
Exchange immediately before the
date of grant of share options
AARROABRERL BHA
TR TSRz W E

HK$

BT

0.1547*

0.1547*

0.1343"

0.1660

0.3450

0.0680
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 September 2009, the following directors and the chief
executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates had the following interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers under the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) :

(@) Interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company

() Long position in the shares

Number of ordinary

ExcERS

RZTTNFNAA=+TH  KRAITF
ESRFEABAEBR SBERAZ
EABE ARARR R K EBMEE (&
RBEBEVESTIEES KRB GG ([#
FRBEHEE) FEXVER) 2 iy - HERK
DRERETREREES RAE KD
FEI2RAHENARRAFE 2 ELMZ
Bm kAR ARBEBFRBPEGRIIE
XVER= Em R AES 2 L AR ERE
TREFRSNEETH ([REFR]) A
ATTMEARRA R R #EHEMRE
LIl

(a) RAEQARG - HEARDRE#ESE
ZERRKR

(i) RRGZIFE

Approximate
percentage of

shares beneficially held Nature total shareholding

Name of director EmEEZ  of interest HRERE
EEgA EERHE EmME ZBABED
%

Ms. Chong Siak Ching @ 5,210,536 Personal 0.08

RKREFLLTO

(EPN
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(i) BBATETAZ BRG >
1B~ B

(i) Long positions in the underlying shares of equity
derivatives — share options

Number Approximate

Exercise Number of of total percentage

price per  share options  underlying of total

Date share option outstanding shares  shareholding

Name of director of grant Exercise period ~ ERRARE HRTHEZ HE hRESE

EsSig RiEAS Gigid: ZTRE AREHE Kohas  z2HRE

HK$ %

AR

Mr. Ang Ah Lay 31/12/2003  31/12/2004-30/12/2013 0.1580 2,698,598 16,495,794 0.24
REELE 31/12/2004  31/12/2005-30/12/2014 0.1547 2,698,598
30/12/2005  30/12/2006-29/12/2015 0.1343 2,698,598
13/11/2006  13/11/2007-12/11/2016 0.1670 2,800,000
09/11/2007  09/11/2008-08/11/2017 0.3370 2,800,000
14/11/2008  14/11/2009-13/11/2018 0.1000 2,800,000

Ms. Chong Siak Ching @ 31/12/2003  31/12/2004-30/12/2013 0.1580 1,079,439 9,685,981 0.14
KEERLT O 31/12/2004  31/12/2005-30/12/2014 0.1547 1,079,439
30/12/2005  30/12/2006-29/12/2015 0.1343 1,727,103
13/11/2006  13/11/2007-12/11/2016 0.1670 1,800,000
09/11/2007  09/11/2008-08/11/2017 0.3370 2,000,000
14/11/2008  14/11/2009-13/11/2018 0.1000 2,000,000

Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P. @ 31/12/2003  31/12/2004-30/12/2013 0.1580 1,079,439 9,685,981 0.14
Alan Howard Smith % £ 31/12/2004  81/12/2005-30/12/2014 0.1547 1,079,439
(XF#L)e 30/12/2005  30/12/2006-29/12/2015 0.1343 1,727,103
13/11/2006  13/11/2007-12/11/2016 0.1670 1,800,000
09/11/2007  09/11/2008-08/11/2017 0.3370 2,000,000
14/11/2008  14/11/2009-13/11/2018 0.1000 2,000,000

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon @ 31/12/2003  31/12/2004-30/12/2013 0.1580 1,079,439 9,685,981 0.14
Brattoe 31/12/2004  31/12/2005-30/12/2014 0.1547 1,079,439
30/12/2005  30/12/2006-29/12/2015 0.1343 1,727,103
13/11/2006  13/11/2007-12/11/2016 0.1670 1,800,000
09/11/2007  09/11/2008-08/11/2017 0.3370 2,000,000
14/11/2008  14/11/2009-13/11/2018 0.1000 2,000,000

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P. @ 30/12/2005  30/12/2006-29/12/2015 0.1343 1,727,103 7,627,103 0.11
HROELE(KF4AL) @ 13/11/2006  13/11/2007-12/11/2016 0.1670 1,800,000
09/11/2007  09/11/2008-08/11/2017 0.3370 2,000,000
14/11/2008  14/11/2009-13/11/2018 0.1000 2,000,000

Mr. Chong Kok Kong @ 13/11/2006  13/11/2007-12/11/2016 0.1670 900,000 4,900,000 0.07
REXLE O 09/11/2007  09/11/2008-08/11/2017 0.3370 2,000,000
14/11/2008  14/11/2009-13/11/2018 0.1000 2,000,000
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(b)

Interests and short positions in the shares, underlying

shares and debentures of an associated corporation

- Fraser and Neave, Limited

(1)

(i)

Long position in the shares

Number of ordinary
shares beneficially held

Name of director ERxBEEZ
BEEHA TERER
Mr. Hui Choon Kit ® 10,730

FREHTE @

Long positions in the underlying shares of equity
derivatives — share options

Exercise

price per

Date share option

Name of director of grant Exercise period ~ SHRRE
ESig RHAH R 20FE
8$

Fmgw

Mr. Lim Ee Seng @ 10A10/2005  10/07/2008-09/09/2015 3.46
MEBEE @ 10/10/2006  10/07/2009-09/09/2016 4.2
10/10/2007  10/07/2010-09/09/2017 5.80

25/11/2008  25/08/2011-24/10/2018 2.86

Mr. Hui Choon Kit @ 01/10/2002  01/07/2005-31/08/2012 151
SEALE O 08/10/2003  08/07/2006-07/09/2013 2.12
08/10/2004  08/07/2007-07/09/2014 2.8

10/10/2005  10/07/2008-09/09/2015 3.46

10A10/2006  10/07/2009-09/09/2016 422

10/10/2007  10/07/2010-09/09/2017 5.80

25/11/2008  25/08/2011-24/10/2018 2.86

(b) MM EEBFraser and Neave,

LimitedZ R 13 - MR M REEE
ZERRKR

() REDZHFR

Approximate
percentage of
Nature total shareholding

of interest LR REAEEE

ExEnE ek SN= s

%

Personal 0.0008
&8 A

(i) RREPTETAZHBRDZ
HE—BRE

Approximate
Number of Number percentage
share options of total of total

outstanding  underlying  shareholding
WATELZ shares tRELR
AREHE EBERGEH  ZHAEAM
%

619,200 2,709,000 0.19
619,200
696,600
774,000

107,500 1,065,650 0.08
108,360
123,840
154,800
185,760
185,760
189,630
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(c) M #EEEBEFrasers Centrepoint
Trust 2B - HERHO R EER 2

- Frasers Centrepoint Trust ERRXR
Long positions in the units REf Z i E
Approximate
Number of units percentage
beneficially held Nature of total units
Name of director B#EAZ  of interest hENAE
EEnA BuHA ERME ZEHRBE DL
%
Mr. Lim Ee Seng @ 200,000 Personal 0.03
MBIt E © & A
Mr. Hui Choon Kit @ 140,000 Personal 0.02
FFEGEE © & A

®  Non-executive Director
@  Independent Non-executive Director

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2009, none of
the directors and the chief executive of the Company and/or
any of their respective associates had any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

® FUTEF
@ BIFRTES

R EXAEEIN  R-TETZAFAA=
+H ARREERESTHRAERS
FRER B ZEMBEAMERARA
s E AT ARBEAE (F & &5 KK K
FIEFEXVER) 2 Bt ~ HHEARD RIEEE
o BEARER S MHIERDIZE362{F0
BRARBAFEZECMZ EMEE
FORR - HRIEE HF R E RAIFEXVER
FRETRERTHERNRE LB
ZHEERORR o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 September 2009, the following persons had the

following interests or short positions in the shares or underlying

shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the shares of the Company

Nature

Name of shareholder Notes of interest
REREB B &£ ERMEE
Fraser and Neave, Limited (“F&N”) 1 Corporate
NG|

Frasers Centrepoint Limited (“FCL”) 2 Corporate
NC]

FCL (China) Pte. Ltd. (“FCL China”) Corporate
A H]

Ascendas Pte. Ltd. (“Ascendas”) 3 Corporate
ERALABRL A (BRI NE]
Ascendas Land International Pte. Ltd. 4 Corporate
(“Ascendas Land”) NG
Riverbook Group Limited (“Riverbook”) Corporate
NG|

Notes:

1.

The interest disclosed comprised 3,847,509,895 shares
beneficially owned by FCL through FCL China. FCL is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of F&N.

The interest disclosed comprised 3,847,509,895 shares held
by FCL China, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FCL.

The interest disclosed comprised 1,175,168,505 shares
beneficially owned by Ascendas Land through Riverbook.
Ascendas Land is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ascendas.

The interest disclosed comprised 1,175,168,505 shares held
by Riverbook, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ascendas
Land.

FERRZEDS
RZZETZAFAA=THE U FATR
ARARBD KB PR TIIRE

BB HE D B30 REN AR A
FEZBRM2ER KA

RAEDXARGBGZHER
Approximate
Number percentage
of ordinary of total
shares held shareholding
BEZ HRERE
ZEREE ZEHE D
%
3,847,509,895 56.22
3,847,509,895 56.22
3,847,509,895 56.22
1,175,168,505 17.17
1,175,168,505 1717
1,175,168,505 17.17

GEE

1.

FT#E 2 HEZBIERFCLEBFCL
ChinaZ % B ~ 3,847,509,895 M %
3 e FCLTAFRNZ 2 BB R A »

FTi 5 2 s B R EFCL Chinaty B 2
3,847,5609,895 &f%{n o FCL China
JIFCLZ 2 &M B AR »

P4 5% 2 # 2= B2 ¥5 B3 Ascendas Land
i% 8 Riverbook B X HE A 2
1,175,168,5605 AXfX 5 - Ascendas
Land iRz 2 EWB AT -

F#2 58 2 s B & F RiverbookiF B 2
1,175,168,505 B& & {0 ° Riverbook /3
Ascendas Land 2 2 &M B A7 °



Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2009, no other
person had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed hereunder, there was no connected
transaction or contract of significance to which the Company, or
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at 30
September 2009 or at anytime during the year ended 30
September 2009.

1. On 2 October 2008, Shanghai Zhong Jun Real Estate
Development Co Ltd (“Zhong Jun”) and Shanghai Frasers
Management Consultancy Co. Ltd. (“SFMC”) entered into
a Corporate Management Services Agreement to, inter alia,
renew the period for the corporate management services
provided by SFMC to Zhong Jun under the Corporate
Management Services Agreement dated 29 October 2007
for 12 months from 1 October 2008 to 30 September 2009
for a total corporate management services fee of
RMB6,720,000 (equivalent to HK$8,064,000).

Zhong Jun is beneficially owned as to 52.04% by the
Company, 42.96% by F&N and 5% by independent third
parties. SFMC is 100% beneficially owned by F&N.
Accordingly, SFMC is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The entering into the Corporate
Management Services Agreement constitutes a continuing
connected transaction of the Company.

Accordingly, the Directors have set the annual cap for the
consideration pursuant to the Corporate Management
Services Agreement at about HK$8,064,000 for the
Company’s financial year ended 30 September 2009.
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B EXFHESN "R EFBBAFAAE
TH  SIEEMALTRARAIRN KA
FAR {0 o A IR IR RE 77 S B S 5 1 55336
GRESRARRAFEZERM 2 #E

KAR o

EECANRERBERS

BRTIXHABEN R-FBFEAFALAZ
THRREBEE_FTTAFNALA=1THL
FRZEMEHE  NAFHEEMER
NA - MBRARHRRKMBRARGES
HEVERNARRZESTERLHER
BEAEG BEABEXZHAR -

1. RZZETNF+AZH - LEMHE
B EMEAR AR ([fHE])HE
BEMEBRZRABRAR([EEE
WM EERBEWHE - Hb
PEFLELEEMBBEERA-ZT
+F+AZT B ZEEERE
MR hERE I CEEERE 2
HREE+T @A  B=TTNF
+A—BREE-_ZTHLFNALA=T
HiIF tEXEERBBHABETEAA
R ™ 6,720,000t (4B & % & &
8,064,0007T) °

HESRIBAARQR - FANBY E =
FEBAHEEES2.04% * 42.96% &
5% o FIEEMAFANZEE &
A - Bt BB EWHRAR
T EBEWMABARRIZEEA
T+ - AT ETERE B ER N
RNElZ —ERFEBRERS -

Hit - EFE2RBELEETERE W
EREHE-TTAF A=A
W HBRFEZNEBEBRZFE LRAD
575 #8,064,0007T °
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The relevant percentage ratio represented by the annual
cap of the total corporate management services fee is on
an annual basis more than 2.5% but less than 25% and
such annual cap is less than HK$10,000,000. In
accordance with Rule 14A.34(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Corporate Management Services Agreement is only subject
to reporting and announcement requirements, but is
exempt from independent shareholders’ approval.

During the year, a fee for corporate management services
of RMB6,720,000 (approximately HK$7,607,000) was
charged to the Company.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company
had reviewed the continuing connected transaction made
during the year and confirmed that the transaction had
been entered into:

()  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
the transaction on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company had also confirmed to the
Board of Directors of the Company that the continuing
connected transaction:

()  had received the approval of the Company’s Board of
Directors;

(i)  had been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transaction; and

(i) had not exceeded the annual cap disclosed in the
previous announcement.

REEEEFGECLXEEREE
RESEsFE FREBRE DX
B2 5%EER25% © MIEBFEE L
PR 75 4 1A 7% #10,000,0007T ° R IK
EMRAIF14A3402) 1K BEEE
REmEEEERARRERAMBE
KRR ABILREIE ZH

—

TE °

ERN - ARBINZEEEERS
£ A AR 6,720,0007T (4 7
7,607,0007T) °

ARRBIUFATEFTEEMNF
EHRETZHRERERS L i#
R 5]

(i) RARBBER-—REBBRE

A

() BEREEERER : R

(i) 1B B E %R B 2 A
BATARRFARDTB
89 FI 3 2 BERETIL -

ARBGBEMTENARAEES
MR FHERERS

() EEARBEFTSHME

(i) RESEEZXZ 2 HEHHE
X R

(i) WARBH LA DMAREZF
EER-



On 28 November 2008, (i) Shanghai Zhongxin Hua Yun
Property Development Co. Ltd. (/B P BEHEXHEES

R 2 &]) (“Zhongxin”), (i) Shanghai Shang Ke Industrial Co.
Ltd (BB ERIEXERAAF) (“Shang Ke”), (i) Supreme
Asia Investments Limited (“SAI”) and (iv) Shanghai Sianjin
Property Development Co. Ltd. (BB EEAR A R])
(“Sianjin”) entered into a Shareholding Adjustment
Agreement whereby the registered capital of Zhong Jun will
increase by RMB100 million (approximately HK$113 million)
from RMB200 million (approximately HK$226 million) to
RMB300 million (approximately HK$339 million) (“Capital
Increase”). RMB90 million (approximately HK$101.70
million) and RMB10 million (approximately HK$11.30
million) shall be contributed by SAI and Sianjin (a direct
wholly owned subsidiary of FCL China) by way of cash,
respectively. Zhongxin and Shang Ke, the other existing
shareholders of Zhong Jun, have agreed not to make any
contribution under the Capital Increase.

On 28 November 2008, (i) the Company, (i) Power Source
Holdings Limited (“Power Source”), (ii) FCL China and (iv)
SAl entered into a Subscription Agreement whereby (i)
Power Source agreed to subscribe for 2,883 new shares of
SAl at an aggregate subscription price of US$8,115,556
(approximately HK$62.90 million), which represents the
approximate amount required to finance the Capital
Increase by the Company; and (ii) FCL China agreed to
subscribe for 1,853 new shares of SAl at an aggregate
subscription price of US$5,217,778 (approximately
HK$40.44 million), which represents the approximate
amount required to partially finance the Capital Increase by
FCL China (“Subscription”).

SAl is beneficially owned as to 76.02% by FCL China and
Sianjin is directly wholly owned by FCL China, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, SAl, Sianjin and
FCL China are connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The entering into the Shareholding
Adjustment Agreement in relation to the Capital Increase
and the Subscription Agreement in relation to the
Subscription constitute connected transactions for the
Company, which are subject to the reporting,
announcement and the independent shareholders’
approval requirements as stipulated in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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=T 2 UE - — A YR K
LBPEEBREXERBRAR
([hg&]) (I EBERBEEBRA
B ([EB®]) - (iii) Supreme Asia
Investments Limited ([SALl) X (iv)
LBAEREEXEBRAA ([5%8])3F]
T RERARGE  RUEBEMNEZ
I E AR A K#200,000,0007T
(#)7 #226,000,000) #& 1A R ¥
100,000,0007T (%97 % 113,000,000
JC) & AR #300,000,0007T (4978 ¥
339,000,0007T) ([#EE]) - SAl &
%458 (FCL Chinaz HEE2EM B A
A S RIANRE A HEARE
90,000,0007T ( £ #101,700,000
7o) & AR #10,000,0007T (4788
11,300,0007T) ° &M k& (fh5&
ZEMBERR)ERETEEET
EREMEE -

RZZBZENF+—AZ+NA - ()R
73 7] ~ (i) Power Source Holdings
Limited ([Power Source]) - (iii) FCL
Chinal(iv) SAIFTIZR B @ &
Itk + (i) Power Source [ B IR AR HEE
8,115,56563 7T (4)/%8%62,900,0007T)
REESAI 2,883f% 2 #TiK - ZeFEMEE
REARABFMEHZBEMBEZLHE
&% (i) FCL ChinalB B2 4238
{85,217,7783 7T (4978 % 40,440,000
JL) FREESAI 1,853/ 2 ¥k © :Z &5
FEE R AHBFCL ChinafT{EH 212 &
REITSEeMBE o HESHE([FB
EHE]) -

SAIARRF EBREFCL China®E
W5 76.02% ¢ 1M %k 88 Bl A FCL
ChinaE#%258%H - At - BE L
MmHRAY - SAl - %3 RFCL China/®
RRABZHEEANLT  FAEILBRIE
BEoREAERZEREHARBER
ZRBHBEERARRZBER
5 BB LETMHBABFEI4AT 2 8
N R B IRERBLEZ FRIE o
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As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
Company’s indirect acquisition of the equity interests, (i) in
Zhong Jun as a result of the Capital Increase by SAIl; and
(ii) in SAl as a result of the Subscription by Power Source,
exceed 5% but are less than 25%, the Capital Increase by
the Company, the Capital Increase by SAl and the
Subscription by Power Source constitute discloseable
acquisitions for the Company as stipulated in Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules.

The Shareholding Adjustment Agreement, the Subscription
Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein were
approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company (i.e. FCL China and its respective associates
abstained from voting) at the special general meeting held
on 19 January 2009 by way of a poll.

The Capital Increase is in final stage. Both SAI and Sianjin
have injected their contribution to Zhong Jun and pending
issues to be cleared with the PRC authorities in relation to
the issuance of business licence to Zhong Jun reflecting
the increased registered capital of Zhong Jun.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

The following directors of the Company are considered to have
interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules:

Mr. Lim Ee Seng is a Director and the Chief Executive Officer of
FCL and a Director of FCL China. Mr. Hui Choon Kit is the
Group Financial Controller for F&N Group. Mr. Chia Khong
Shoong is a Director and the Chief Financial Officer of FCL and
a Director of FCL China. Mr. Hwang Soo Chin is a Director and
the Deputy Chairman of FCL China. FCL is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of F&N, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company, and FCL China is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FCL
which is a property investment and development company in
Singapore and engages in the development and marketing of
housing units, management of offices, shopping malls and
serviced apartments both locally and abroad.

BARF D B()ESAIFTEL 2 18 &
i [ 4 4R B R B8 2 AR R (DR
Power Sourceffi{E it < R FHIE M
MEWENSAIZ REFE ZERB
DL RBIES%IEEN25% * Bt
B EWHRAE14E - AARQRFR
e 212 E - BSAIFTELR 2B E R
FPower SourcefT{E 7 BB EH 18
BRARRETHBERE ZFEIE -

R-ZFFNF-A+NLBRITZK
RENAELEAXRRRBIER
(BMFCL Chinak B & B ZBB AL
MERR) HHRR R M ERE
HEWME REHENETAEES
HZR5 °

HERERN R - SAIE T
ERFEIE  REGTEERDL
B Bt T % AT B4R 5k B 8 a0 R
BEARZEXHR -

EERBEEE o ES

THREARARMEZTRE LMRAKES
EAKEXBFEARALTFEERX
BEBEF 2 XGPREB R

MIaBEERFCLZEERITHABE AR
FCL Chinaz B % - FT8HEERFANE
B SBEMBEE - SR ERFCLE
BEEFUBBEINKRFCL Chinaz B o
=BT LEAFCL ChinazEF# 2T
& o FCLIYAARRRAIHRKLIERARIFANZ
2EMBAFT - MFCL ChinaBl AFCLZ
2EMBAR o FCLIYH M —EER
BERBERAT WK RGN
REFEENERLENH SFTE B
MESEERBEAABTZERE -
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Ms. Chong Siak Ching is the President, the Chief Executive
Officer and a Director of Ascendas Pte. Ltd. (“Ascendas”). She
is also a director of various subsidiaries including Ascendas
Funds Management(s) Limited (a fund management company
involving properties principally in Singapore). Ascendas and its
subsidiaries are developers, managers and marketers of
science, business and industrial parks in Singapore, China,
India and the Philippines.

The Board of the Company is an independent entity and is
independent of the abovementioned companies in which the
directors cited have representations. The Group carries on its
business independently and its businesses neither compete nor
are likely to compete with the businesses of the abovementioned
companies.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Ang Ah Lay had entered into a service contract with the
Company with no specific term and the service contract will
continue until determined by either party giving not less than six
months’ notice in writing to other party at any time (including
during any such initial term). As at 30 September 2009, no
contract had been terminated by either party.

During the year, no director had a service contract with any
member of the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

UPDATE ON DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P, an independent non-executive
director of the Company, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, with
effect from 23 April 2009.

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon, an independent non-executive
director of the Company, retired as an independent non-
executive director of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of
China, Ltd., a company listed in Hong Kong, with effect from 3
June 2009.
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HEEEERRNQRLEREER 2
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Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P., an independent non-executive
director of the Company,

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

is an independent non-executive director of LIM Asia Multi-
Strategy Fund Inc. which has been voluntarily delisted from
the Irish Stock Exchange on 13 October 2008 and the
company’s name was changed from LIM Asia Arbitrage
Fund Inc. on 17 October 2008;

is an independent non-executive director of Castle Asia
Alternate PCC Limited, a company listed on the London
Stock Exchange, and the company’s name was changed
from KGR Absolute Return PCC Limited on 24 June 2009;

is an independent non-executive director of CQS Asia
Feeder Fund Limited which has been voluntarily delisted
from the Irish Stock Exchange on 1 July 2009;

is an independent non-executive director of CQS
Convertible & Quantitative Strategies Feeder Fund Limited
which has been voluntarily delisted from the Irish Stock
Exchange on 30 September 2009;

is an independent non-executive director of Genting Hong
Kong Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, and the company’s name was changed from
Star Cruises Limited on 21 October 2009; and

resigned as an independent non-executive director of The
Hong Kong Building and Loan Agency Limited, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, on 23 October
20009.

AKX A B IEHTTE FAlan Howard
Smith %4 (X Fa1) Th:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(vi)

LIM Asia Multi-Strategy Fund Inc.
ZEBUIERITES  ZAFERE
MEEFXZM LT BERZE
SENFE+AT=BEEEKRE  Z
RARZZEENFTATELHEENR
NAEEE - AI&BALIM Asia
Arbitrage Fund Inc.;

Castle Asia Alternate PCC Limited
(—HRRABHRERSGR LT 2R
A ZENIEMITESE - ZARRCZ
ZENFEANAZTHABEXRR AR
T BI& AKGR Absolute Return
PCC Limited;

CQS Asia Feeder Fund LimitedZ
BYFATER  ZANERER
BREHZSGMLET  EER_2ZZ
NFELA— B BB,

CQS Convertible & Quantitative
Strategies Feeder Fund Limited 2
BUFRTES  ZARERER
WMEARSGH LT BERZZE
NENA=THBREERE,

EEEBERAF (—HNEBH
FrtmezReE) 2 BILIENITES -
ZARE_ZEENFT+AZT—H
ERAREHE FEAREEBHRA
BRAAE &

R-ZFBZAFTA-_+=ZBHEIE
BREEFRERAR (—HNEER
R EMZ AR BIULIFATEERLZ
B -



MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 30 September 2009, the five largest
suppliers and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 41% and 26% of the total value of the Group’s
purchases respectively.

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was approximately 51% of the Group’s revenue.

At no time during the year did the directors, their associates or
any shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) have any beneficial interests in these suppliers or
customers referred to above.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in
note 7 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
annual general meeting. Other emoluments are determined by
the Company’s Board of Directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws although there are no restrictions against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 September 2009, the Company and its subsidiaries
had 202 (2008: 212) employees. Salaries of employees are
maintained at competitive levels while bonuses may be granted
on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include
mandatory provident fund, insurance and medical cover,
subsidised educational and training programmes as well as a
share option scheme.
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EECHE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules throughout the year and up to the date of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Corporate Governance Report are set out on
pages 32 to 51 of this report.

AUDITORS

A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors
of the Company until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Lim Ee Seng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 6 November 2009
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Elf ERNST & YOUNG
% 7k

Frasers Property (China) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Frasers Property
(China) Limited set out on pages 79 to 190, which comprise the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at 30 September
2009, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 30
September 2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor, Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

6 November 2009
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Direct operating expenses

Other income

Changes in fair values of
investment properties

Gain on disposal of an
available-for-sale financial asset

Gain on disposal of property, plant

and equipment

Impairment on property, plant

and equipment

Provisions written back, net
Administrative expenses

Finance costs

(Loss)/profit before tax

Tax

(Loss)/profit for the year

Attributable to:

Ordinary equity holders of the parent

Minority interests

Earnings per share attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent

— basic (HK cent)

— diluted (HK cent)
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e laER

Year ended 30 September 2009 HZE —ZTZTNFNLA=THILFE

Notes

B &t

5

G

BAREARERTAA 10

DHI R

SRR EARERFBA

FEh SR A
— &R GBI

—#5F (&L

11

2009 2008
—EEAE ZZEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ¥ I
124,796 123,560
(1,990) (21,102)
122,806 102,458
(99,359) (63,848)
25,590 21,483
(14,826) (31,153)
1,412 £
— 12,724
— (1,242)
— 14,822
(25,894) (26,643)
(24,442) (24,151)
(14,713) 4,450
11,743 19,446
(2,970) 23,896
3,169 8,301
(6,139) 15,595
(2,970) 23,896
0.05 0.12
0.05 0.12
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REEERER

30 September 2009 R=—ZEZThFNA=+H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Prepayment for acquisition

of land use rights
Prepayments, deposits and

other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Properties held for sale

Properties under development

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Due from the immediate
holding company

Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Advanced receipts, accruals and
other payables

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Due to the immediate holding company

Due to a fellow subsidiary
Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

FRBEE
M= BB MRE
BREME
Uit B8 i i R
Z BN FRIR
BNRE  BER
H At 8 U5 R 3R
AfHESREE
ELERABE

FRBDEERE

RBEE
FHEM=E
E3EGES
FEU B 5 /R K
BNFE  BER
H At 8 5 B 3R
FEM B R IZR A A
Z KA
ERFIRE
AekReFEEAR

RBEERE

RBEE

e 8 5 /R

BUGRIE -~ EAHRERE R
H At A R 3R

K B ERITE R

FET BB A A Z 50R
FE A<t 1B 2 BT /B8 & A 2 5RO0R
FER TR

RBRERRE
RBEEFE
BREERARDAME

Notes

=
m

12
13
14

20

18
28

15
16
19
20

27

21
21

24
25

26
27
27

2009 2008
—EEANF ZEZTNE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
(Restated)

(&%)

3,115 4,063
1,047,561 1,054,454
442,142 419,749
1,855 1,888
8,822 14,787
15,278 23,625
1,518,773 1,518,566
35,173 37,055
2,550,357 2,205,630
4,775 6,618
80,681 21,428
66,213 71,443
45,574 334
812,316 596,096
3,595,089 2,938,604
7,947 15,587
1,267,403 369,791
478,532 195,502
91,291 91,291
54 220,107

2,463 52,493
1,847,690 944,771
1,747,399 1,993,833
3,266,172 3,512,399




NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities
NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the ordinary
equity holders of the parent
Issued capital
Reserves

Minority interests

Total equity

Mr. Lim Ee Seng
AR RS £ &
Chairman

FE
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FRBEE
B SERITE R
ELHERE

FRBDEERE

BEERE
R

BRAREBERESFRA
P4 FE 55 48 2R

BBITIRA
ffé 5

DERRER
REEAE

Mr. Ang Ah Lay
HEE S E

REEERER

30 September 2009 R=—ZEZNFNA=1+H

2009 2008

—EZAE ZZTEINF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BT T BT
(Restated)

(&%)

26 1,026,593 1,310,363
28 122,253 122,951
1,148,846 1,433,314
2,117,326 2,079,085

22 684,337 684,337
23 1,118,953 1,110,781
1,803,290 1,795,118

314,036 283,967

2,117,326 2,079,085

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

BITEFRTHAAE
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EERER

30 September 2009 R=—ZZNAFENA=+H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interests in subsidiaries
Available-for-sale financial asset

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accruals and other payables
Due to subsidiaries

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Total non-current liabilities

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Total equity

Mr. Lim Ee Seng
MR &
Chairman

2y

FRBEE
NN PNCI:
AfHHETREE

FRBEERE

hRBEE

& s B I /2 B 2 SRIR

BNAE - BZER
H h FE U R 5K

ReMhReEEEAHR

RBEERE

REBAE
& R £ PR TR K% L A A+ BR K
JE A~ B B & B] 2 SRIA

RBEEARE
RBEEFE
REERRBDAME

FRBEME
B SERTTE R

FRBDEERE
BEERE

RS
BRI

ff 8

A

Mr. Ang Ah Lay

REEEE

17
20

17

26

22
23

2009 2008
—EEREFE ZEZTNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T B¥TTT
—_ 5,965

— 5,965
1,470,075 1,466,084
693 383
328,351 26,298
1,799,119 1,492,765
2,045 6,089
34,008 78,262
36,053 84,351
1,763,066 1,408,414
1,763,066 1,414,379
499,102 138,274
499,102 138,274
1,263,964 1,276,105
684,337 684,337
579,627 591,768
1,263,964 1,276,105

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

BITEFRITHAAL



At 1 October 2007

Exchange realignment and
fotalincome and expense
for the year recognised
dlrectly in equity

Proft for the year

Total income and
expense for the year

Issue of new shares on
exercise of share options

Share-based compensation
APeNSES

Amount dug fo a minority
Sharefolder

Dividends paid to a minorty
Shareholder

At 30 September 2008

At 1 October 2008

Exchange reignment and
fotalincome and expense
for the year recognised
dlrectly in equty

Profitoss) for the year

Totalincome and expense
for the year
Share-based compensation
4PeNSES
Captal infection to a Subsidiary
Appropriaton to other reserves
Acquistion of minorty interests
(Note 171vi)

At 30 September 2009

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2¥ftth7E (&) BRE AT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERERBER
Year ended 30 September 2009 HE—ZZTNFNA=THIEFE

Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
BNAERREREAAREHTRE

Share Capital ~ Exchange ~ Share-based
Issued ~ premium Contributed redemption fluctuation compensation Other  Retained Minority
capital account  surplus reserves  reserves reserves  reserves profits Total interests  Total equity
B8 b B\ EERE  ERRD  ROME Eff k8 DRRE B

LS i | B i i i ife & ait i a5
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSO0  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKS00  HKSO00  HKSO00
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iV v
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piiE)
ROZINEAATR o3y 416 6098 GRS X SOmEy %I T 2019085
RoEZ\ETA-B  ob3T  Hpte 6 16 196,165 681 - %5 A7T5ME 283067 207,085
EREARI - - - - 718 - - - 718 1,059 8,198
EntEiag
HREMA
H7%
RERER/ (58 - - - - - - - 3160 360 (61%9) (o)
Egh) - - - - 718 - - 36 1008 (080) 528
RAX
Rie - - - - - 17% - - 173 - 173
b5
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(Bt
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MERERBER

Year ended 30 September 2009 EZ—ZFZ N FNA=THILFE

#

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations, this portion of
the profits of a wholly-owned foreign enterprise has been
transferred to reserve funds (i.e. other reserves), being
restricted as to use.

These reserve accounts comprised the consolidated reserves
of HK$1,118,953,000 (2008: HK$1,110,781,000) in the
consolidated balance sheet.

REBEBERZRER  HIEBELE
ZEHmMNEBREGRBER 2
wBES BIEMER) °

ZERBREBNEGAEERABRT
ZiRA F#E R B 1,118,953,0007T
(ZZZN\F : #%1,110,781,000
JT) °



CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Depreciation
Amortisation of land use rights
Changes in fair values of
investment properties
Gain on disposal of an
available-for-sale financial asset
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Impairment of property,
plant and equipment
Share-based compensation expenses
Impairment of other receivables
Provision written back on long
outstanding construction cost payables

Decrease/(increase) in properties
held for sale
(Increase)/decrease in properties
under development
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash
Increase in trade payables,
advanced receipts, accruals
and other payables

Cash generated from operations
Overseas taxes paid

Net cash from operating activities

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (FFE) R AT 85
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GEEHERER

Year ended 30 September 2009 HE-—TZNFNA=THILFE

2009 2008
—EENF —ZETNE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iz BT T AT T
CEERRLRE
BB A (B18) /& F (14,713) 4,450
RAETIISHE :
BBER 24,442 24,151
FEKA 5 (15,600) (14,276)
e 7 1,625 1,726
THfE A 2 7 16,053 15,505
REMEZ 7 14,826 31,153
AREEY
HEMHILE 7 (1,412) =
SREE W
HENE  BER 7 - (12,724)
Pl E
ER S 7 - 1,242
ZRfE
N b 7 1,739 2,862
HibERFIE 2 RE - 74
BEERRARESR - (14,896)
BEMARRR G
26,960 39,267
FHENEZRD 2,091 (390,890)
/ (m)
RRAYE 2 (Em) (284,389) 21,990
/RD
B E SR - BRAFE (58,424) 252,669
ReREMEYERERZ
(g m) /w L
SREEE 2 (M), RHL (45,240) 7,310
EE SRR - BYGRE - 898,256 164,265
B REER M
IR 2 2
BEXBEEZRE 539,254 94,611
BRI 2 B (30,824) (37,008)
REXBELECBHELFE 508,430 57,605
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Year ended 30 September 2009 HZE_—Z

Net cash from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment
Additions to investment properties
Additions to prepayment for acquisition
of land use rights
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment and land use right
Proceed from disposal of an
available-for-sale financial asset
Acquisition of minority interests
Capital injection to a subsidiary
Interest received

Net cash from/(used in)
investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Interest and other bank charges paid
Issue of shares on exercise of share options
Repayment from immediate holding company
Net (repayment)/advance from
a fellow subsidiary
Dividend paid to a minority shareholder
Net advances from a minority shareholder
New bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings

Net cash (used in)/from
financing activities

NET INCREASE /(DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

SNFENA=THLEE

BEXBELZHEFR
REXBRERE

BADE - BERRE
ZEHR
REMEZEN

KB mEREL
BB ZEM
HENE - BERREAR
T EREARTE
HETRIESREEL
Fr G B

WD BB R R
FMERFIZE
ERZFE

REEBEL/ (RA)
ZREFR

MEXKZ

Hene
XNFEREMBRITER
TERREMET R
REEEZERARZER
RERZNBARZ
(BH) /ERF8E
ENLERRZKE
xBo %hﬁz%ﬁ%@
HIBRITER
BRRITER

MEXY (KA) /EE
ZBREFE

ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁ
#Bm/ (6D %

ENcReRREEERE
IEEXLH FE  FH

FRZRER
REEEER

21

2009 2008
—22hE  —FENA
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
508,430 57,605
(949) (2,764)
(3,567) (1,445)
(20,610) (419,749)

- 17,897

7,377 =
(20,340) -
51,614 -
16,742 13,313
30,267 (392,748)
(101,441) (98,259)
- 142

5,230 -
(220,053) 220,107
- (21,874)

- 411
1,223,330 262,879
(1,229,555) (53,861)
(322,489) 309,545
216,208 (25,598)
596,096 591,606
12 30,088
812,316 596,096




ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Non-pledged time deposits with
original maturity of less than three
months when acquired
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GEEHERER

Year ended 30 September 2009 HZE —ZTZTNFNLA=THILFE

2009 2008
—EFhE ZEBZENF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
iz BET R BET T
BeRBEEEEEE
ERAM
Re RRTHES 28,869 84,686
SR BEAL|HE 783,447 511,410
TR=AAZEEE
EBER

21 812,316 596,096
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B %5 ¥ 3R Y BE

Year ended 30 September 2009 HZEZ =T NFNA=THIEFE

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Frasers Property (China) Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of
the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

During the year, the principal activity of the Company is
investment holding while the Group is involved in property
development, investment and management of residential,
commercial and business park projects.

The immediate holding company of the Company is FCL
(China) Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore. In
the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding company
of the Company is Fraser and Neave, Limited, which is
incorporated and listed in Singapore.

DNAEHR

ERE (PR BERARIRER
EAMK L2 BRAGT o Hafiti
E ik A Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda °

RAFER » ARBZEBEBHTIER
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RABZBEEERAB BRI
o3 sEM A 32 2 A AIFCL (China)
Pte. Ltd. - EERA - ARAIZ &K
IRPERR A R A — R P FT I e A
3 % _ET 2 A R]Fraser and Neave,
Limited °
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Year ended 30 September 2009 HE-—TZNFNA=THILFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HKS”).

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
30 September 2009. Adjustments are made to bring into
line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. All significant income, expenses and
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intercompany
transactions and intercompany balances within the Group
are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside
shareholders not held by the Group in the results and net
assets of the Company’s subsidiaries. An acquisition of
minority interests is accounted for using the entity concept
method whereby the difference between the consideration
and the book value of the share of the net assets acquired
is recognised as an equity transaction.
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new interpretations
and amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the
current year's financial statements.

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Amendments

Amendments to HKAS 39
Financial Instruments.: Recognition
and Measurement and HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Reclassification
of Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

Customer Loyalty Programmes

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined
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Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and
their Interaction

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in

a Foreign Operation

The adoption of these new interpretations and
amendments has had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements and there have been no
significant changes to the accounting policies applied in
these financial statements.
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27

Amendments

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 8

HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1
Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements — Cost of
an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate '

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of HKFRSs ?

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations '

Business Combinations ?

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Improving
Disclosures about Financial
Instruments '

Operating Segments '
Presentation of Financial Statements
Borrowing Costs

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements 2

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and
HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements - Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising
on Liquidation
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 &
HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15

HK(FRIC)-Int 17

HK(FRIC)-Int 18

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible
Hedged Items 2

Amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Embedded
Derivatives °

Agreements for the Construction of

Real Estate

Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners

Transfer of Assets from Customers *

Improvements to HKFRSs °*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2009

& Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June

2009

& Effective for transfers of assets from customers received
on or after 1 July 2009

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009, 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as

appropriate
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

@ Improvements to HKFRS contains amendments to
HKFRS 2, HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS
8, HKAS 10, HKAS 16, HKAS 17, HKAS 18, HKAS 19,
HKAS 20, HKAS 23, HKAS 27, HKAS 28, HKAS 29,
HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36, HKAS 38, HKAS 39,
HKAS 40, HKAS 41, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and HK(IFRIC)-Int
16.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. So far, it has concluded that while the adoption
of HKFRS 8 and HKAS 1 (Revised) may result in new or
amended disclosures and the adoption of HKFRS 3
(Revised), HKAS 23 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) may
result in changes in accounting policies, these new and
revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on
the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
properties held for sale, deferred tax assets, available-for-
sale financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the income statement in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation), had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in
the Group that gives it significant influence over the
Group; or (i) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;
(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

() the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or
(e); or

(9) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

24 EEEEEREME (&)

FEMEEZHE(E)
RE-—REASFIEAEESHRET
NEERZBREBBRANETNBEFE
WD c MEFEEZETR - AIFF
HRAIKEEE - UERRBZEE (B
BB REEE REERNEE
QR CE- AT RN e S

B EBEE B IAIBBZEER
EMRAEFERERERBERRE
ZREE (R ERTE#EH) -
PRl BERE  IREELD
BaF AR

FBEAL
THALHRRERNEEEHE

(a) BEEHEERA—EXZESP
NEB(EHNAEBIIARE
B 47 il ok B AR S B 2 AR
gl (N AEEEEER - B
MEAREEBEEAFES : &
(i) FRZEFIAREE 2 AL

(b) BEAALREERQT
(c) BEALRHERIEHIERE

(d AEBREGRARZETEZEE
AB

(e) () (dFTAEMBEMALZE
EEB

(f)  (dzk(e) Pt ERERIA L EE
iﬁ&?ﬂ* LR 2 ) 3 A) 3
BEAFENARAEAKRE
BZER =X

(@) ABALAHAEELBERA
SEHMEALZ EAERZE
B FIa a3 2 4 1E SR 14 18
RISt BIZ 2 A

95



96

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2¥ftth = (FE) BR2A T
Annual Report 08/09 F 3R

Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 ¥ 3R Y BE

Year ended 30 September 2009 BZEZ—ZZENFNA=THILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than properties held
for development, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the income statement in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the
future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the
use of an item of property, plant and equipment, and where
the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that
asset or as a replacement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings in mainland China Over the remaining term of
lease or 5%, whichever is

higher
Leasehold improvements 20%
Office equipment, 19.2% to 33.33%
furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles 12% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
balance sheet date.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress are reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment or investment
properties when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for property which would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement
in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

When the Group completes the construction or
development of a self-constructed investment property, any
difference between the fair value of the property at the
completion date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the
operating leases are charged to the income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases is
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost of properties under development
comprises cost of acquisition, land cost, construction
costs, development costs, capitalised borrowing costs and
other direct costs attributable to the development. The
land cost is recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Impairment is assessed by the directors
based on prevailing market prices, on an individual
property basis.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment
of total development cost, including capitalised borrowing
cost, attributable to the unsold units. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds, or
management estimated based on the prevailing market
conditions, less all estimated costs to completion and
selling expenses, on an individual property basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an
embedded derivative when the Group first becomes a party
to it and assesses whether an embedded derivative is
required to be separated from the host contract when the
analysis shows that the economic characteristics and risks
of the embedded derivatives are not closely related to
those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs if
there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required under the contract.

The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance
sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities that
are designated as available for sale or are not classified in
any of the other two categories. After initial recognition,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value, with gains of losses recognised as a separate
component of equity until the investment is derecognised
or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported
in equity is included in the income statement. Losses
arising from the impairment of such investments are
recognised in the income statement as “Impairment losses
on available-for-sale financial assets” and are transferred
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used
in estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in
organised financial markets is determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the
balance sheet date. For investments where there is no
active market, fair value is determined using valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s
length market transactions; reference to the current market
value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and other valuation
models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on
loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
either directly or through the use of an allowance account.
The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the
income statement. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by
adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset
does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for
impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such
as the probability of insolvency or significant financial
difficulties of the debtor and significant changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the Group will
not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the
original terms of an invoice. The carrying amount of the
receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are
assessed as uncollectible.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an
unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value
because its fair value cannot be reliably measured has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an
amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of
any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
the income statement, is transferred from equity to the
income statement. A provision for impairment is made for
available-for-sale equity investments when there has been
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its
cost or where other objective evidence of impairment
exists. The determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. In addition, the Group
evaluates other factors, such as the share price volatility.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as
available for sale are not reversed through the income
statement.

2.4

EESTEEME (&)

TREEZHE (E)

B RS R 2 B E ()
ERBESREMBEE  HER
BER (PIMREAREREXEE
RO B B R il - TS R
ERBRRIZEREHHEEL T
FEVBRNAEESBEIRAERYZ
RBGEFWE — )RR - BIEFEH
MERE - BUWRBEZREESER
EREERHAR - ECREMZER
WATfh R EE W @ AN T 4% L

e ©

BEKATR 2 B E
WEEBERBER - BARBER S
ERNREMARAAREINEZIF L
MERATALRBERSE QIS
CHRRZEEZREERAHYRE
Reng il (REUEREEL
BITMBEHREHE) 2ZBAK -
ZEBEZREBETTED -

AR EDBEE

WAL ESREELIRBE - Al
A (B IR E A S R #H) 215
BAABEZEZBRMRERNRERS
FEUW S RER 2 EARERBER -
HEERERERRE - HARE
AEHEEBTHREEREXAE
SFEREZEMEEZE A8
hoAT 6 R R B 1 R (E B
o [ARBIKIREBIZERTE
TR I - RO NREE TR FEE
AR WRERE -  HEERA
HEEZRETAREBETSH
Wk P -



Frasers Property (China) Limited £%itt:ZE (FE) BRLA A

Annual Report 08/09 “F ¥R

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 35 ¥ 3R Y BE

Year ended 30 September 2009 HE-—TZNFNA=THILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised where:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired;

e the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them
in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written
and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or
similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the
transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except in
the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled
option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair
value, where the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the
transferred asset and the option exercise price.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including
interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
interest-bearing bank borrowings, amounts due to the
immediate holding company and a fellow subsidiary are
initially stated at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. The related interest expenses
are recognised within “finance costs” in the income
statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it
is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the income
statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
is recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it
relates to items that are recognised in the same or a
different period directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with interests in subsidiaries and an associate, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with interests in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) revenue from the sale of properties is recognised on
the completion of transaction. When properties under
development for sale are pre-sold prior to completion,
income is recognised on the execution of a binding
sales agreement or when the relevant building
occupation permit is issued by the relevant authority,
whichever is the later. Payments received prior to this
stage are recorded as deposits received and included
in current liabilities;

(b) operating lease rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms;

(c) property management fee income is recognised when
the services are rendered; and

(d) interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to
the net carrying amount of the financial assets.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are
initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date, and their income statements are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are included in
the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

@

Retirement benefits costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all eligible employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries, allowances and other benefits
and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for
the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute 18% to 28% of its payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. These contributions are
charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Employee leave pay and compensation entitlements

(c)

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payment are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service payment as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of taking leave.

Share-based compensations

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 22(b) to the financial
statements. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no
account is taken of any performance conditions, other
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Share-based compensations (Continued)
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the
award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each
balance sheet date until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the income statement for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised
as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated
as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification, which
increases the total fair value of the share-based
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is
recognised immediately. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

24 EEEGHRBE (&)

ESEF (&)
) UBRORBERZWHEE)

NRBSEE IR HZRAREK
BR/HRW G EX R 28
A (BREHRBARETHRZFAZRE
BB ((REEH])) BEEL
BREN—EER REEE
FEERBAMNAEaGEE
ZRDERZBERAX - RIR
FEOHCEMRASER &
RERMZBRATEHA 2 &E
&t o KEE AR WS R A
Bt Az BmERZBAREZ
B R RER Z REAX °

AERREBZRB T EERARN
320 HEER B PATH 5 R 1 R R 1
ERN - Bmm B RERSE
o EBERERCHEE 2
PTAEMRIRIGIHASEX -

AR EE 2R P 2 IERE
5] IR EESESET
IARERR - BANERRAL R BB -
BESN - R AT E R] & 58 A0 A B
MRERZNRLZEZAAE
RBEINETBHAERSE N
RNEE  AIEBRRMAX -

fieh DA ¥ 25 45 B 2 B2 R R 8H
HerRrHEAHEHEBM
T UARRIE - T EEE A oK FE AR

EMAXEARER - AW -
i 37 SR BN 2 U sH 22 - I
RELARERBNRER B
BB RN ERSIERRE
B 2 1& 5T (0 R Pt) T DABE
I8 o

AT ZRREZEETE
TIRR B EERAN 2 I
B fn 858 -



Frasers Property (China) Limited £%itt:ZE (FE) BRLA A

Annual Report 08/09 “F ¥R

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 35 ¥ 3R Y BE

Year ended 30 September 2009 HE-—TZNFNA=THILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which may have
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial

statements:

Provision for land premium rebate receivable

At 30 September 2009, a land premium rebate receivable
of RMB77,000,000 was still outstanding. The claim could
not proceed as planned following the successful bidder’s
payment of the land premium in June 2007 for the disposal
of the Group’s interest in the residential development site in
Beijing as a result of the disputed boundary line of the site.
This issue will take time to resolve as it requires the
involvement of certain government agencies to coordinate.
The amount is fully provided for to reflect any uncertainty
and unforeseen circumstances which may adversely impact
on its recoverability. The Group managed to obtain the land
premium receipt to kick-start the rebate refund application.
The efforts were continuing to recover the amount.
Accordingly, the provision has not been reversed during the
year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value has not been in existence; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the net present value used in the impairment test.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for unused tax losses carried
forward to the extent that it is probable (i.e., more likely
than not) that future taxable profits will be available against
which the unused tax losses can be utilised, based on all
available evidence. Recognition primarily involves
judgement regarding the future performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax
asset has been recognised. A variety of other factors are
also evaluated in considering whether there is convincing
evidence that it is probable that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised, such as the
existence of taxable temporary differences, tax planning
strategies and the periods in which estimated tax losses
can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
and related financial models and budgets are reviewed at
each balance sheet date and to the extent that there is
insufficient convincing evidence that sufficient taxable
profits will be available within the utilisation periods to allow
utilisation of the carry forward tax losses, and that the
asset balance will be reduced and charged to the income
statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on land appreciation tax
(“LAT”) implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional
Regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of
real estate property in the Mainland China effective from 1
January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including amortisation of land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in property
development business in the Mainland China are subject to
land appreciation taxes. However, the implementation of
these taxes varies amongst various Mainland China cities
and the Group has not finalised its land appreciation tax
returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly, significant
judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises these liabilities based on
management’s best estimates. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
provisions of land appreciation taxes in the period in which
such determination is made.

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased
out on operating leases.

Unlisted equity investments

The Group’s unlisted equity investments have been stated
at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that management is of
the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured
reliably.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Allegations and claim of RMB50 million against wholly-
owned subsidiary

As detailed in an announcement released on 13 May 2009,
a writ dated 16 April 2009 was served against a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, in respect of alleged failure
to fulfill certain obligations under the land development
construction compensation agreement entered on 15
December 2006. The Group’s PRC legal counsels have
submitted the necessary documents and evidence to the
relevant authorities and taken the necessary actions to
defend against the said allegations. As at the date hereof,
no hearing date has yet been fixed by the court.
Management, after seeking opinions from the PRC legal
counsels, is of the opinion that the allegations and claim
made have no factual or legal basis. In connection thereto,
no contingent liability nor provision is considered to be
necessarily quantified and disclosed as of 30 September
2009.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial years, are discussed below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active
market for similar lease terms and other contracts. In the
absence of such information, management has determined
the amounts within a range of reasonable fair value
estimates. In making its estimation, management
considered information from (i) current prices in an active
market for properties of different nature, conditions or
locations by reference to available market information; (ii)
recent prices of similar properties in less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of transactions that occurred at
those prices; and (iii) discounted cash flow projections,
based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, derived
from the terms of any existing lease and other contracts,
and (where possible) from external evidence such as
current market rates for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of cash flows.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 30
September 2009 by an independent, professionally
qualified valuer, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited on an
open market, existing use basis.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the
fair value included those related to current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents
and future maintenance costs. Particulars of the investment
properties held by the Group are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Current income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant estimation and judgement were
required in determining the amount of the provision for tax
and the timing of payment of the related taxes. There were
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination was uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcomes of these matters
are different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact on the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination is made.

Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation has
arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a
future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Significant estimation is
required in determining the amount of certain obligations.
Where the final outcomes of these obligations are different
from the amounts that were initially recognised,
adjustments will be made according to the latest
information available.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and costs to completion
for properties under development

Total budgeted costs for properties under development
comprised (i) prepaid land lease payments; (ii) building
costs; and (iii) any other direct costs attributable to the
development of the properties. In estimating the total
budgeted costs for properties under development,
management made reference to information such as (i)
current offers from contractors and suppliers; (ii) recent
offers agreed with contractors and suppliers; and (iii)
professional estimation on construction and material costs.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented on the basis of the
Group’s key business categories, namely property
development and business park. No geographical segment
information is presented as over 90% of the Group's
revenue were derived from customers in mainland China.
Similarly, over 90% of the Group's assets were located in
mainland China.

The Group's operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group's business segment represents a
strategic unit that offers products and services which are
subject to different risks and returns. Summary details of
the business segments are:

Property development — development, investment and
management of properties
Business park — development, investment and
management of
business parks

During the current and prior years, there were no
intersegment transactions.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment information is presented:

For the year ended 30 September 2009

REVENUE
Total revenue

RESULTS

Segment results

Changes in fair values of
investment properties

Gain on disposal of an
available-for-sale
financial asset

Interest income
Finance costs

LLoss before tax
Tax credit

Loss for the year

WA
U A

ES
i E L

BREWMRZ
NAEEES
HER f &
TREELZ
Yz

B WA

MBER

BRI R
HIAE %

REEERE

4. DEER (B
DEEEZTNMT -

BE-ZZNFEAA=ZTHLEE

Property Business

development park Corporate Total
MERRE BEE LXBA &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETR BETr BETx
7,417 117,379 — 124,796
(56,879) 91,342 (26,920) 7,543
— (14,826) — (14,826)

— — 1,412 1,412
(56,879) 76,516 (25,508) (5,871)
15,600

(24,442)
(14,713)

11,743
(2,970)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

As at 30 September 2009

ASSETS BE
Segment assets HEPEE
Unallocated assets ROBEE
Total assets BEE
LIABILITIES =L
Segment liabilities SEBEE
Unallocated liabilities ROBEE
Total liabilities BEE

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 30 September 2009

Capital expenditures BEARRX
Depreciation e
Amortisation 5y
Changes in fair values of BEMHEZ
investment properties RREEE
Gain on disposal of an HERHHE
available-for-sale PRIEEZ

financial asset g 25

B ISR R P et
Year ended 30 September 2009 HZE —ZTZTNFNLA=THILFE
4. SHER &)
R=ZFEhFALA=+H

Property Business
development park Corporate Total

MEER BXE OHXBEA &t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
BETT BETRT BETR BEE®TR

3,651,743 1,105,727 10,600 4,768,070
—_ —_ —_ 345,792

5,113,862

1,223,455 46,196 5,699 1,275,350
— —_ — 1,721,186

2,996,536

Hih o HER
BZ2-_ZZhAhFENA=1TRHLEE

Property Business

development park Corporate Total
MEBRE EmEER LXEA &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BE¥Tn BT BETx

666 314 15 995
1,100 329 196 1,625
16,053 —_ —_ 16,053
—_ 14,826 —_ 14,826

—_ —_ (1,412) (1,412)
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4.

For the year ended 30 September 2008

2 EHER (&)
BEZTENENAZTALESFE

Property Business
development park  Corporate Total
MR mERE @ OfFXEH &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT AT BETxT BETT
REVENUE A
Total revenue BN 38,094 85,466 — 128,560
RESULTS E3
Segment results D EBEE (4,648) 59,272 (20,628) 33,996
Changes in fair values of HEMHE L — (31,153) - (31,153)
investment properties NAEED)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE WER — — 12,724 12,724
plant and equipment = Was
Impairment on property, plant  ¥1% - BE & — (1,242) = (1,242)
and equipment R 2B
(4,648) 26,877 (7,904) 14,325
Interest income FEWA 14,276
Finance costs WBER (24,151)
Profit before tax x5 Bl & A 4,450
Tax credit HIEE 2 19,446
Profit for the year REE 7 A

23,896



SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

As at 30 September 2008

ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

aE
DEEE
ANEEE
mEE
a8fE

DEPAE

AAERE

BEIE

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 30 September 2008

Capital expenditures
Depreciation
Amortisation
Changes in fair values of
investment properties
Impairment on property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Impairment allowance on
other receivables

BEARFX

e

i

BEWMEZ
AVIEIEE <
WE - BB R
R ZRIE
HEME - BE
K&t 2 Wk
H At W R R 2
ERIRE T

Frasers Property (China) Limited £%ittiE (FE) R A

Year ended 30 September 2009 & ZE — =

4,

Property
development
R
HK$’000
BETFT

3,304,982

326,991

i
W

B

Property
development
MEER
HK$’000
BT T

1,070
1,179
15,490

74
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A
A

2 EWER (&)
R=ZF/\FENAZ1TH

Business
park
EXE
HK$’'000
BETIT

1,085,601

48,921

it

okk

FBE R

Corporate
TXEER
HK$’'000
BETIT

16,460

9,466

ENFENA=AILEE

Total
At
HK$'000
BT T

4,407,043

50,127

4,457,170

385,378

1,992,707

2,378,085

E-TTN\FAA=ZTHLFE

Business

park
[HESE
HK$’000
BT T

1,661
306

31,153

1,242

Corporate
TXREA
HK$’000
BT T

33
241
15

(12,724)

Total
&zt
HK$’000
BT T

2,764
1,726
15,505
31,153
1,242

(12,724)

74
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Year ended 30 September 2009 EZ—ZFZ N FNA=THILFE
5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
sales of properties, gross rental income received and
receivable from investment properties and property
management fees received and receivable during the year.

An analysis of revenue and other income recognised is:

WA RE MU A

WANBAKRBEZZXRE  EFFA
KEHEMFERZHERA - BXRE
BREMEZE UM REE ZBEEHA
REREMEEREZRA -

EHERWARE MY A0
i

REVENUE ON
Sales of properties HEME
Gross rental income He W ALEE
Property management MFEERE

fee income WA

OTHER INCOME Hug A
Interest income FLEWA
Utility revenue NAEBERABKA
Others HAD

6. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank borrowings RAEFAZHEEEZ
wholly repayable within five years 817 & A &

Other finance costs Hh B 75 & A

Total borrowing costs incurred EEZERKABEE

B BEE RS
MEZENE
M2 (HEE16)

Less: Interest capitalised to
properties under
development (Note 16)

2009 2008
—2EAFE —FENF
HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT BRI
3,697 34,706
88,737 68,772
32,362 20,082
124,796 123,560
15,600 14,276
5,774 4,043
4,216 3,164
25,590 21,483
715 2
2009 2008
—2ENE —FENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT  BETE
92,010 95,472
1,146 1,623
93,156 97,095
(68,714) (72,944)

24,442 24,151




(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
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The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax was arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

Depreciation (Note 12)
Less: Amounts capitalised to
properties under development

Gross rental income
Less: Outgoing expenses (Note (a))

Changes in fair values of
investment properties (Note 13)

Gain on disposal of an
available-for-sale financial asset

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (Note 12)

Amortisation of land use rights
(Note (b))

Minimum lease payments under
operating lease in respect of
land and buildings

Employees benefit expenses

(Note (c)) (including directors’

remuneration (Note 9))

Wages and salaries

Equity-settled share
option expenses

Net pension schemes contributions
(after deducting forfeited
contribution of HK$NIil
(2008: HK$14,000))

Auditors’ remuneration
Foreign exchange differences, net

e (MsE12)
B BIERRTMRZ
BARCHER

HEWALER
B : B sz (e 7E(a))

WEMEZ ARNE
5 (F1:E13)

HENHEE
SREE W=

HEME - BE R
R 2 W

M - BE R
B2 RE (HsE12)

o b (55 R 2 8
(Bt &£ (b))

T REFZ
REEEHE

2R

BERMZMAX
(MizZ(c) (BIEES
& (F7E9))

T & K
PABR AR A 22
BRER X

RS 2 HF0FR (BEH

R BOR M2 RS

UL SHEE £ JEE

5 #14,0007T) )

BT &
HMNEW R - FER

BRBiAT (B518) & A

AEBERBR (B18) Jn M &M

S GEA) AT &E :
2009 2008
—2BhE ZEINEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
1,912 1,954
(287) (228)
,,,,,,,, 1,625 1,726
(88,737) (68,772)
18,639 16,719
______ (70,008)  (52,053)
14,826 31,153
(1,412) —
— (12,724)
— 1,242
16,053 15,505
3,874 3,571
26,873 26,192
1,739 2,862
735 631
29,347 29,685
1,516 1,813
60 (21,450)
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7.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)
Notes:

(@) The outgoing expenses for the year were included in
“direct operating expenses” on the face of the
consolidated income statement.

(b) Related to properties under development (note 16) which
did not generate any revenue during the year (2008:
HK$15,490,000).

() Included in the balance HK$18,689,000 (2008:
HK$11,087,000) was charged to direct operating
expenses and HK$10,658,000 (2008: HK$18,598,000)
was charged to administrative expenses.

TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year (2008: HK$NIil). Taxation on mainland China
profits were calculated on the estimated assessable profits
for the year at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdiction
where the operations occurred, based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

During the current year, tax credit mostly represented the
write-back of the over-provided land appreciation tax
("LAT") of HK$12,101,000 after settlement made during the
year. The provision of LAT was estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of
progressive rates of the appreciation value, with certain
allowable deductions. For the prior year, the charge for the
LAT of HK$6,337,000 represented the provision for LAT of
HK$17,500,000 for one of the Group's property sites, net
of a write-back of LAT for another property site of
HK$11,163,000.

BRBLAT (B518) 8RN (&)

(a) REARAXBFTARGZES RER
ZIEERERAX] -

(b) BEBES 2 (WiE16) (=
ZTE )\ F : E#15,490,0007T)
RERNTEEETEABA -

(c) LL#HEBIERB% 18,689,000
T(ZZEZTNEFE : HK
11,087,0007T ) P B ¥ £8 & fl %
X &7 ¥ 10,658,000 (Z 2=
J\E : ¥ 18,598,0007T) i 17
B 2 A5 Bl kR o

BiIE

AEERFARALEERETERRN
mAMMIELEEN SR 2 BE (=T
TN\EF: BETL) - PEKEZF
AT ERBUEMNR RN REEB
PREREER CBEITER  BER
BOIARITHEE -

RAREE - REBHHIBEE R TR F

EE % H D T 2 (E R ([
BER| ) cBERBBEAEK
12,101,0007T ° 4 3% (A Fi & {5 2
=B R BE R R AR B ETE 2 B
YEL fEET » LHIRET IR ERE
DURRER R 2 BEEHEE - EF
EETEREEMR -RE—F
& T3 ER A %6,337,0007T
T HRAEEYE 2 — [EH A2 FTE
o+ EEHBEE R EE
17,500,0007T K f1BR 55 — Hb £5 2 #%
B+ EHR B EFERBE
11,163,0007T °
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TAX (Continued)

The deferred tax for the year ended 30 September 2009
arose mainly from fair values losses for investment
properties of HK$3,706,000 (2008: HK$7,788,000) and
from normal operations of HK$1,467,000 (2008:
HK$7,833,000). For the prior year, a net deferred tax credit
adjustment of HK$25,051,000 was recorded arising from
the unification of PRC income tax effective from 1 January
20009.

At the balance sheet date, deferred tax liability of
HK$2,668,000 (2008: HK$NIl) regarding withholding
income tax on the undistributed earnings (future dividend)
of PRC subsidiaries has been provided for.

The amount of tax credit/(charge) to the consolidated
income statement represented:

Current — Hong Kong BNER — &%

Current — Mainland China BVHR — B K R
Charge for the year F AR
Over/(under)-provision BAEFEBRE

in prior years (R R) B

LAT in Mainland China FR B K B 3 3 (B B

Deferred (Note 28) IEIE (Fff7E28)

8.

BIE (&)

BHE-ZTZNFNAA=ZTHLHF
B ECEREXZRERERED
E_AnBEEFEBZEEREBERAK
3,706,000 (ZZEZENF : F
7,788,0007T) KRB B E & & 2 i
FEFRTE A 1,467,000 (ZEE
J\EE : % #7,833,0007T) c RN EF
E - BRR-ZZETAF—A—BR4E
Mz BB HAE—HERGEEEK
25,051,0007T 2 i iE T 18 18 %2 38 B
SFEE o

REEH  EEEHEAENERH
AR BB A Rl R 9 IR B (R R AR
B) 2 B 15 % & % 2,668,000
T (ZETN\F - BT  BIE
B o

EtA /(IR R & s R 2 B
Ig :

2009 2008
—BThE —TENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
(6,528) (14,814)
6,599 (75)
12,101 (6,337)
(429) 40,672
11,743 19,446
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8.

TAX (Continued)

— F=
EE
B

NEFEAA=ZTRIEE

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit

before tax using the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in

which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are

domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a

reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e. the statutory tax

rates) to the effective tax rates, is as follows:

(Loss)/profit before tax

Tax at Hong Kong profits tax
rate at 16.5%

Effect of different taxation rate
of specific province or local
authority in mainland China

Effect on opening deferred
tax of change in rates
(Note 28)

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Utilisation of previously
unrecognised tax losses

Tax losses for which no
deferred income tax
asset was recognised

LAT in mainland China

Others

Tax credit at the effective
rate

BRBiAT (BE) a8

ARG B
16.5%: &

B A EM 5 E Bk
BEAHTRFE
LB

BEGEHFY
BEEMBzHE
(Ht5E28)

BAZRBRZBA

DEEL S i

BRBEAERZ
HIEER

REERETE
FIsfmEEZ
HIEER

REARE 2 T H B ET

Hity

REBHRETE

ZHBEER

8. ®HimE(E)
BARNRIREBWEB QN E FTEHDS
BEARKRBRANER 2 EEHEFTHE
BT - BRBEEREFE 2
MEZEUARBERAB X (AEER
R)EERBE 2 HRHFHNAT :
2009 2008
S L3k —TEN4
HK$000 %  HK$000 %
BT T BT T
(14,713) 4,450
(2,428) (16.5) 734 16.5
647 4.4 2,250 50.6
— — (25,051) (562.9)
(6,860) (46.6) (49,290)  (1,107.8)
16,558 112.5 42,411 953.1
(6,638) (45.1) (46) (1.0)
3,010 20.5 3,134 70.4
(12,101) (82.3) 6,337 142.4
(3,931) (26.7) 75 1.7
(11,743) (79.8) (19,446) (437.0)




Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (FFE) R AT 129
Annual Report 08/09 “F ¥R

Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt 7% 3 3R FfY &

Year ended 30 September 2009 HZE —ZTZTNFNLA=THILFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9. EENEREEAEZHE
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Director’s and senior management’s emoluments (a) EEREREEAEZHE
Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 HE_ZZNFNLA=1+HLE
September 2009, disclosed pursuant to the Listing FERES M IRELEM
Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies A REB R RMEAIZE 161804
Ordinance, is as follows: BOE
Salaries, Employer's
allowances, contribution
henefits to pension
in kind scheme
§&.  Share-based Discretionary B
Fees 2% compensation honuses itdl Total
Name of director EELE Be  RENAE Rfme BERD  ZEzdR &it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HKS'000
LU | S Bt ERTR BT ERTR

Executive director #11Es
M. Ang Ah Lay EBERE - 2607 26 553 115 3,661
Non-executive directors E3E) £
M. Lim Ee Seng eyt 20 - - - - 20
M. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick REDLE 189 - - - - 189
M. Tang Kok Kai, Christopher St 10 - - - - 10
M. Hui Choon Kit2 R 2 - - - - %
. Chia Khong Shoong 2 E g 15 - - - - 15
M Hwang Soo Chin EhERE 125 - - - - 125
Ms. Chong Siak Ching FERRL 125 - 208 - - 383
. Chia Nam Toon (atemate Eifef i - - - - - -
to Ms. Chong Siak Ching) (REfRar
VEfiE3)
Independent
non-executive directors BUkufnEE
M. Alan Howard Smith, J.P Alan Howard Smith’x 4 (A 41) 25 - 208 - - 483
. Kiwong Che Keung, Gordon Brart 25 - 208 - - 483
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P FRALE (1T ET) 215 - 208 - - 12
M. Chong Kok Kong RErEE 25 - 191 - - 40
' Resigned as Non-executive Director on 18 August T RZZERAFNATABE
2009 EFERTES
2 Appointed as Non-executive Director on 18 August 2 RIZEZTEAFENATNBE
2009 ZERFEHITES
8 Bonus for the year ended 30 September 2008 . BEZZTN\FALAZ=TH

LEFE 2 FEA
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9.
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

EEREREEAEBZHE (&)

(a) EERBREEAEZHE (B)

(a) Director’s and senior management’s emoluments
(Continued)

Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 HE-_TZTN\FNLA=+AHL

September 2008, disclosed pursuant to the Listing FEREEZMEe HBELET
Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies BAIREBRBNEGIZE 16188
Ordinance, is as follows: BT
Salaries, Employer's
allowances, contribution
benefits to pension
in kind scheme
%4 Share-based  Discretionary il
Fees 285 compensation bonuses itEl Total
Name of director e e REWHE  ROME  BEEL  ZEIER A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BEfT  BEfr  EBTn BEfr BEfr BETR
Executive director #rgs
Mr. Ang Ah Lay EDERE - 2,553 499 - 111 3,163
Non-executive directors FHTES
M. Lim Ee Seng ! ety 38 - - - - 338
Dr. Han Cheng Fong 2 BEgEr 7 - 8 - - 15
M. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick REArE 265 - 3 - = 268
Mr. Tang Kok Kai, Christopher il 125 - - - - 125
Mr. Hwang Soo Chin’ BREEE 4 - - - - 4
Ms. Chong Siak Ching FEERT 175 = 344 = = 519
M. Yeg Hslen Wee REEEE - - - - - -
(alternate to BEEaL
Ms. Chong Siak Ching) * JEEE)!
Mr. Chia Nam Toon ARk - - - - - -
(alternate to BEEat
Ms. Chong Siak Ching) ¢ LEES)
Independent
non-executive directors BUkyfEs
. Alan Howard St J.P Alan Howard Smith% 4 (£ ¥ ) 215 - 344 - - 619
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon SRk 205 = 344 = = 619
M. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P. FRAEE (A T4T) 215 - 338 - - 553
Mr. Chong Kok Kong FEKTE 215 - 27 - - 502
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Director’s and senior management’s emoluments
(Continued)

L Appointed as Acting Chairman on 8 October 2007
and as Chairman on 21 July 2008

z Resigned as Non-executive Director and Chairman
on 8 October 2007

g Appointed as Non-executive Director on 27 May
2008

2 Resigned as Alternate Director to Ms. Chong Siak
Ching on 12 August 2008

9 Appointed as Alternate Director to Ms. Chong Siak
Ching on 12 August 2008

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees in the Group for the
year included one (2008: one) director whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining four
(2008: four) non-directors, highest paid employees for
the year are as follows:

Salaries, allowances, and e ER
benefits in kind BN &

Share-based compensation %15 Bl &
expenses A

Contributions to pension RRETE
schemes K

9. EERSREEAEZME &)

(a)

(b)

EERBREBEARBZHE (B)

| RZTTLETAN\REE
EREREE TR _FT
NELR=+—BEEEA
xE

2 R-FETLFTHANBEE

FEHRITESERER

g R_ZEZNFRAE_-_++H
EZERIENTES

4 RIEZENFNA+Z=HE
TREBFERLIZEETES

5 RZZEZNFNA+=HE
ZERREB/RLIZEEE
E=

BERBFHA L

FAREBRNRE RS HHA

TEE—RB(ZEZENF : —
Z)EE  EMSEHR XD
Mo EAMAZ(ZTT)\F : [
Z)ER=FMES GEESE) 2 M
SOWWT -

2009 2008
—ETAE —FENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT  BETE

4,999 3,810
338 514
160 170

5,497 4,494
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued)
The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z —#%1,000,0007T

O

EEREREEAEBZHE (&)

(b) BEZBFHMAL (B)
R TME z2ER 2 FES
RRFMALZHA :

Number of employees
AH
2009 2008
—2TNE  —FENF
1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 7 — %% 1,500,0007C
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 5 11,500,001 7T — /& #2,000,0007C 2 =

10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent for the year ended 30 September 2009,
included a loss of HK$13,880,000 (2008: HK$95,830,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (note 23).

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

(a) Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent of HK$3,169,000 (2008: HK$8,301,000)
and the weighted average of 6,843,371,580 (2008:
6,848,159,514) ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

10. BAREERESER ARGET

11.

==

TTNFAA=ZTHLSF
B ARYBERERIEAERG
FEBNBEEFARRRAMB®R
& Z 1B A%%13,880,000T (=&
=)\ : 195,830,000 ) (Mt
23) °

i i

BRAEERESBAARGEER
27

(a) BREXZEF
BEREABRZFESBIR
BEAAEBARE=TE AR
17 3% F| & 7 # 3,169,0007T (=
=T \F : #F#8,301,0007T)
RRFREBEITEBRZ INE
F 5 £16,843,371,6800% (==
Z )\ 4 : 6,843,159,5614F%)
FTE
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EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1. BAREEAREREEABRER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (&)
(Continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) FREBERF

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings per
share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per
share are based on:

Earnings ZH
Profit attributable to ordinary £ 7A 7] i Ik &%
equity holders of the parent, #& A & {55 F

1

used in the basic earnings RANREEER

per share calculation AERZF

Shares Bz 7

Weighted average number of WRFRE T2
ordinary shares in issue T AR I AE T B
during the year used in the ~ FLAGTE &K
basic earnings per share AEREF

calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted B &5/ 2 — LB

average number of Z nHE
ordinary shares T
Share options B R

BRETRANDIREFAG A
A EARES A ARG G
AtE - RELEAEZEBK
MEFABRRFADETE
BmREE BIPANMGTESRER
BFE) AR AABEHEE R
BB AETT E S BBk & B A T
SREZTRERITEBBRINE
FIHE -

EREAREE SR ZTE
THER:

2009 2008
—BRRE  —FTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
3,169 8,301

Number of shares

R BB
2009 2008
=3 2 S L YV

6,843,371,5680 6,843,159,514

39,749,633 13,478,253

6,883,121,213 6,856,637,767
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Group

Year ended 30 September 2009:

At 1 October 2008

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
and impalrment

Net carrying amount

At 1 October 2008, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

Addltions

Disposals

Exchange realignment

Depreciation (Note 7)

At 30 September 2009, net of
accumulated depreciation and
impairment

At 30 September 2009

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
and impalrment

Net carrying amount
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE-TRNFAA=TH

R

R=EF\E+A-R
B
2RITE

RHE

S

]

RH2E

R-FENFTA-R-
s 2ENERAE
2R

e

EiAR

& (i)

RERAEAAZTE -

fh2EE
R
R-ERAEFAA=TA
WA
2ENE
RiaE
RH2E

12. ¥ BERKE

KEH
Motor Office Furniture  Leasehold Construction
vehicles  equipment  and fixtures improvements  in Progress Total
BAE RAR b e
hE B4 £E E IR 4E
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000
BRI ERfr  BBTn E¥fn AT A%TR
2,722 6,668 3,672 1,781 1,242 16,085
(2,240 (4,848) (2,040) (1,652) (1,242) (12,022)
482 1,820 1,632 129 - 4,063
482 1,820 1,632 129 - 4,063
- 521 468 - - 995
- (46) - - - (46)
2 I 6 - - 15
(220) (648) (956) (88) - (1,912)
264 1,660 1,150 41 - 3,115
2,732 7,021 4,155 1,781 1,242 16,931
(2,468) (5,361) (3,005) (1,740 (1,242) (13,816)
264 1,660 1,150 41 - 3,115
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 12. ¥ BERRE (&)
Group KEH
Builoings in
Mainland
China under
medium-term Motor Ofice  Furniture  Leasehold Construction
lease vehicles  equipment  and fixtures improvements  progress Total
fir 1
N3 HE N iR ik kg
AzEF nE B4 KE WERE IR hg
Year ended 30 September 2008; HEZZT)\E HKS000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
NA=ZTHIEER AETn  AkTn  R¥Tn B4t EETn A%Tn  RETR
At 1 October 2007 RZZ2tE+A-R
Cost AR 5,560 2,517 7,068 2,790 4,543 4,816 27,294
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (2,184)  (1882)  (4604)  (1,200)  (4327) - (14197)
and impairment RAE
Net carrying amount REFE 3,376 635 2,464 1590 216 4816 13,007
At 1 October 2007, net of accumulated R=FZ+F+F—H 3,376 635 2,464 1,590 216 4816 13,007
depreciation and impaiment N 2RI E RAE
Additions b-p - - 740 722 - 1,302 2,764
Disposals & (3,326) - (826) - - - (4,152)
Exchange realignment EHAE - 59 205 162 - 494 920
Transfer to investment ERENENE - - - - - (6,370)  (5,370)
properties (Note 13) (BizE13)
Depreciation (Note 7) e (&) (50) (212) (763) (842) (87) - (1,954)
Impairment (Note 7) R (M 7) - - - - - (1,242)  (1,242)
At 30 September 2008, net of RZZENE - 482 1,820 1,632 129 - 4,063
accumulated depreciation RAZTE 1k
and impairment ZERNERAE
At 30 September 2008 RZZENENR=TH
Cost A - 2722 6,668 3,672 1,781 1,242 16,085
Accumulated depreciation ZiENE - (2240)  (4848)  (2040)  (1,852)  (1,242)  (12,022)
and impaiment A

Net carrying amount REFE - 482 1,820 1632 129 = 4,063
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13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group

Net carrying amount at the R EFEEN 2
beginning of the financial year BREDFE

Transfer from property, plant W -~ BEREE
and equipment (Note 12) s (fsE12)

Additions B

Exchange realignment bE A

Changes in fair values (Note 7) AREZES (FE7)

RAA=+AH
ZERmERE

Net carrying amount
at 30 September

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 30
September 2009 by an independent, professionally
qualified valuer, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, at
HK$1,047,561,000 on an open market, existing use basis.
The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 31(b)(ii) to the financial statements.

The Group’s investment properties are situated outside
Hong Kong and are held under the medium lease terms
(over 10 to 50 years).

At 30 September 2009, certain investment properties of
the Group with values of HK$143,698,000 (2008:
HK$147,054,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (notes 26(a)(i) and 30).

As at 30 September 2009, the application for property title
deeds of certain investment properties situated in mainland
China held under medium term leases with a carrying
amount of HK$646,238,000 (2008: HK$657,751,000) was
still in progress.

. REME
E3 |
2009 2008
—2BRF —FENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR  BETR
1,054,454 979,336
— 5,370
3,567 1,445
4,366 99,456
(14,826) (31,153)
1,047,561 1,054,454

BUEXEERGEMBERITER
REIRZZEZNFNA=THRER
SRR ITERAEER R SR 2 &
&) 2 fh B &S % 1,047,561,000
UL WEMFRBKEHENEETE
=7 BEE—DHFBIHEHNIS
BT FE31 (D) (i) °

AEBZREMELNB BRI
WREHHBHEE (B10E605F) 55
5o

R=ZZFZALFNLA=+H £&E
2B THREYZEAE143,698,0007T
(ZZEZT)\F : ##147,054,0007T)
ETUER  LESRAEERD
ZR1TRLE (MT7E26(a)(i) &2 30) ©

R-ZZTZThFHLA=Z+H EF&
EYEMN B R A ERE T HA
EREBECEERFEARBK
646,238,0007T (ZZZN\F : B
657,751,000 7o) - MEABRBMEZ
FTAREEAREITH o
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PREPAYMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND USE
RIGHTS

At 30 September 2009, the Group secured a prime
commercial development site located at Shenyang’s
Qingnianda Jie at a public land auction and entered into a
binding auction confirmation letter with the Shenyang Land
Reserve Centre on 2 July 2008 with the deposit paid on
acquisition of land use right of RMB386,000,000
(equivalent to HK$442,142,000) with the additional
payment during the year of RMB18,000,000. It is
unsecured and does not bear any interest.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

At 30 September 2009, the properties held for sale of the
Group were situated in Hong Kong and the mainland China
and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Group

3 {50 A 4 (P RE)
GO

Land use rights (Note)
Development costs

Note: The Group’s interests in land use rights represented
prepaid operating lease payments. All lands are
situated outside Hong Kong and held under leases of
over 50 years.

14.

1.

16.

W iE i fE A2 AN RRE

R=ZZFZhFENLA=1+H  ~5E
RARTHINES LEFSMNERS
EFAHCESHERRLAE - I
R-ZEENFLA -_HEEBT L
HMEBERZPOLILANRNIHBE
WREMY - BENRE MG AE
a1 & 49 A R #386,000,0007T (185
RE#442,142,00070) A FE RN EE
SNTE FIE A A R ¥ 18,000,000
T © 5% T8 3 38 T & AR R T B
B o

BHENE

RZZBZAFAA=1TH  &x&E
FAERHEZMERURETEMFTE
RE - RERARAERFERE
R BEEDIR -

BETME
F %

2009 2008
—2BRE —BENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT  BETR
1,032,635 1,038,105
1,517,722 1,167,625
2,550,357 2,205,630

B3« AN S [ 50 4t {0 PR #E 2 HE 25 3
BEEROZES - TAEL
A REF BRI B AR ALY
HEBA/B0GF -
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16. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

The movements of properties under development are as

follows:

Net carrying amount at the
beginning of the financial year
Additions
Amortisation of land
use rights (Note 7(b))
Exchange realignment

Net carrying amount
at 30 September

R B EFE A
2 BREFE
DN
o 3 (58 P A 2 B 5
(F43E7 (b))

BEE 54, 3 &

RAA=TH
ZERmERE

Additions to properties under development included

interest expense of

HK$68,714,000

(2008:

HK$72,944,000) (note 6) that was incurred and capitalised

during the year.

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares, at cost
Due from subsidiaries

LTS - WA
& Y5 B I8 2 ) 2 BOR

Less: provision for impairment losses & : i {E 18 2 B4

Due to subsidiaries

FEAS Y 8 2 ) 2 BUOR

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in the
Company’s current assets and current liabilities of

HK$1,470,075,000 (2008:

HK$1,466,084,000) and

HK$34,008,000 (2008: HK$78,262,000) respectively, are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed term of

repayment.

16. BETRYE (&)

BRPMEZEHOT

2009 2008
—EFHhE —_ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
2,205,630 1,638,196
353,353 463,410
(16,053) (15,490)
7,427 119,514
2,550,357 2,205,630

BRPVMEZETBEAFERE
EREEREZHFBERXNEH

68,714,000 ( ==

NE B

72,944,0007T) (Bf&E6) °

17. RHIE ARl z =

2009 2008
—EEAEFE ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
3,602,534 3,598,121
3,602,534 3,598,121
(2,132,459) (2,132,037)
1,470,075 1,466,084
(34,008) (78,262)
1,436,067 1,387,822

WATERRBRBEERRDARE
Z WK B AR 2 RES A
A7 #1,470,075,000T (ZZEZE N
& #B#1,466,084,0007T) KB

34,008,000t ( —ZTZ
C EAEEE - N

78,262,0007T)
BN EEFEENE -

NE ¥
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17. RMIB AR 2z = (&)
FEMBARICERFBOT :

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value

of issued and

fully paid-up

Place of ordinary capital/

incorporation/ registered Percentage of
registration capital equity interest
and operations BETR attributable to
Name of subsidiaries EMRY/ HREERL/ the Company Principal activities
WEARER BRREERY DMERZER AAARERERL IEXH
2009 2008
“BENE ZZEN\E
Directly held by the Company:
ERBENARE
Vision Century Secretaries Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Secretarial and nominee services
BAMBEERAA &k Yo WERREARE
Indirectly held by the Company:
BEALATRE
Beijing Gang Lu Real Estate Mainland China ~ US$30,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (i) (v) REAE  30,000,000%7T in mainiand China
GRAREHERE mEKENF R
BRAE (i) (v)
Beijing Vision Century Property Mainland China US$150,000 100 100 Property management
Management Co., Ltd. (j () N 150,000% 1T in mainiand China
IREHENFER HEAENRER
ARAR (i) (i)
Limbo Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 100 Property holding
RERIES %7 DEER
Shanghai Zhong Jun Real Estate Mainland China  RMB200,000,000 52.04 52.04 Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) (v AR ARE in mainland China
LEhERLE 200,000,000 VNS
FREERAE () (v) (V)
Shenyang Frasers Real Estate Mainland China  US$49,990,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd. () (i) REAE  49,990,000% T in mainland China

REERERERE
ARAE ) (i

PEARNEER
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17. AMB AT 2R (&)

Nominal value
of issued and

fully paid-up
Place of ordinary capital/
incorporation/ registered Percentage of
registration capital equity interest
and operations BROR attributable to
Name of subsidiaries HMRY/ BREERE/ the Company Principal activities
HEARER BRREERY ZRERZEER ARAEERERIL IREH
2009 2008
“BENE “ERNfF
Vision Century Hong Kong HK$500,000 100 100 Management consultancy services
Administration Limited &8 A%500,0007 ERERRE
Vision Gentury Property Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Property management
Management Limited e BT NEER
BENEERERAA
Vision Century Real Estate Mainland China  US$10,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development (Dalian) REAE  10,000,000%7T in mainland China
Co., Ltd. () {i) HEAENRER
AR HERS(KE)
BRAR () (i)
Vision Property Management Mainland China 1US$65,000 100 100 Property management
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. () (i) TN 65,0005 7T in mainland China
BANZER (RE) MEARYRER
ARA () (i)
Vision Huaging (Beijing) Mainland China  RMB130,000,000 60 60 Business park development
Development Co. Ltd. (i (i) B AR ARE and investment in mainland China
BHEE (LR EX 130,000,000 HEAEEREER
BRERAE (i) (i) k&
Vision (Shenzhen) Business Mainland China  RMB100,000,000 100 9% Business park development and
Park Co., Ltd. (j (i) (i AR ARE investment in mainland China
AF AT RRE 100,000,0007C HEAEEREER

BRAA () fi) (vi RRE
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(vi)

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

Wholly foreign-owned enterprise
Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise
Sino-foreign cooperative joint venture enterprise

As detailed in the Shareholding Adjustment Agreement
and the Subscription Agreement dated 28 November
2008, RMB100,000,000 (approximately HK$113,000,000)
have been injected in relation to the capital contribution
arrangement of this subsidiary. However, the issuance of
the business license reflecting the increased registered
capital was still in progress as at 30 September 2009.
Should the formal registration of the capital increase been
completed, the Group would own 52.96% in this
subsidiary. Further details are disclosed in the note
32(a)(iv) to the financial statements.

During the year, the Group acquired the remaining 5%
equity interest from the minority shareholder at a
consideration of RMB18,000,000 (approximately
HK$20,340,000).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of

the net assets of the Group. Details of other subsidiaries
had not been included as, in the opinion of the directors,
they did not have any material impact on financial

statements.

Ay

17. RB AR 2= (&)

(i) FEeZoKEkE b %k BIBR A B A
B

(i) SNEBELE
(i) PIIEEREDLE
(iv) RIMEIEREDRE

(v) BEZWBARIZEIERZH B
JEA B AR 100,000,0007T (49
75 #113,000,0007T) © FIBEE #
REBAE-ZTTZN\F+—A=+
NBZREREGZRRER
FoAM RZZTTHAhFHAA=
+H REHEENGFMERZ &
HEFTAIE M TEMIER o {45 T
EREMZEXNER  AEEE
153 5 % i B A 7] £52.96 % 2 #
o M HE BRI B®RE
MfEE32(a)(iv) °

Vi) RER - AEBEUARK
18,000,000t ( # & &
20,340,0007T) fE AR E M 2 &
TE % AR BR LB B2 R 5% 2 IR HE o

E=ZRR - LRITFTHAZER
AEREXEREEXEINEBRAS
BMEEFETRHD 2 ARAMNE
NAE - EFZRA - BEHIIE MK
BARZFHE RHRESEHBR
RUBERNEAZTE -
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

18. IHtHESRMEE

Group Company
A%E AQT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EThE ZZETNFE ZEENF ZZTN\FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET R BT T BET R BT T
Carrying amount at the beginning REIBEE#] 2 14,787 14,787 5,965 5,965
of the financial year REE

Disposal & (5,965) - (5,965) =
8,822 14,787 — 5,965
Less: Current portion W mEE D — - - =
Non-current portion FERBEL D 8,822 14,787 — 5,965

Available-for-sale financial assets represent the following:

AfEESRmEERE TISA :

Group Company
RE P NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAE ZTENF ZBEEAE ZTINF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET R BETT BET R BETT
Unlisted equity investments FLmERRE 8,822 14,787 - 5,965

During the year, the available-for-sale investment with a net
book value of HK$5,965,000 was disposed of at a
consideration of US$950,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,377,000). Accordingly, a gain on disposal of an
available-for-sale investment of HK$1,412,000 was
credited to the consolidated income statement for the
current year.

At 30 September 2009, the Group’s unlisted equity
investments with a carrying amount of HK$8,822,000
(2008: HK$14,787,000) were stated at cost less
impairment.

RERA - BREFE R 15,965,000
TT 2 Al H & B AR {950,000
T (BEREE7,377,0007T) HE -
PEAHREEREZKERBE
1,412,000 2T ASFE 2456 K

RZZEZTAhFALA=Z1TH £&EH
BRI A8 %8,822,000T (-2
J\E : B#¥14,787,000 JT) 23 L
T 18 & B IR A AN F0 B Rl (E i 21
/HE °
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables represent consideration in respect of
sold properties and rental receivables. Consideration in
respect of sold properties is payable by the purchasers
pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase
agreements. Rental receivables are billed in advance and
are payable by tenants upon receipts of billings within an
average credit terms of one month.

Under normal circumstances, the Group does not grant
credit terms to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly
reviewed by management. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a
large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.

(@) An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the
balance sheet date, based on payment due date and
net of provision, is as follows:

Within 1 month —(EAR

1 to 2 months —Z_{&@A
2 to 3 months —E=1@A
Over 3 months ={EAME

19. ERE R KRX

EWEZERECEDEZRER
BKRHEE DEVFIRERKE
BEmEIGRAE T XN - BUHE
ENEECR  AEREIRER
- FHEEHR—@EAR -

EERBAT  AKETEAEE
FEREEES AEEHRKEZ
JE W R IR AR H B AR 12 ) ) B EURUE
FERR BHREARERAEEE
EHESRT - EREARARAE
SEZREEZRFTSRKENF
B BAKBEYEBRESRTZE
ERk - BUBEZERRGIEMER
B2 FRIA o

(a) R&EHER  EBKESERKZE
HALMEEE Rk DM
T~

Group

L3 1)
2009 2008
—EBNF ZTITNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
4,723 6,557

52 61

4,775 6,618
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(0)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired I £ & 5 55 J#i (B
Less than 1 month past due #EID R —1E B
2 to 3 months past due mE—E==E A
More than 3 months past due %188 =1& H LA E

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a
good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral; or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

19. ERE S KRN (&)

(b)

TRAEBREZ ERE 5 KK

ZARE DT ¢
Group
A%EE
2009 2008

—2ENFE —FENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETFT BRI

4,723 6,557
52 61
4,775 6,618

B HERBEZ BKE 5 RK
HAEASEBRFEAECERZ
ZRBAUEFAMR - RIEBHE
R AREEERIESX
28 MEBEBERDERS
AEHWE - WMEBARZFRE
BRIFLBERE - AREYE
Sz F ST A AR AN
EEHRTA -
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. ENRIE Re Rk HAAEKERR
RECEIVABLES
Group Company
FEE /N
2009 2008 2009 2008

—EENF ZFTTN\F —ETAF ZTTN\F
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 = HK$'000
BE®TR  ABTE B%Tr  AETT

(Restated)
(&%)
Other receivables H e R R 105,590 104,043
Less: Impairment allowances B ORERE (89,044) (88,652) - =
Other receivables, net HEpE MRS - F5 16,546 15,391 — —
Deposits %& 1,335 1,420 — =
Prepayments B IA 4,529 3,141 211 196
Prepaid taxes BARE 58,903 947 — —
Others Hit 1,223 2,417 482 187
______ 8253 233816 693 | = 383
Non-current portion ERARIEZ (1,855) (1,888) — —
on prepayments JERNER L 2
Current portion included BARIE - & 80,681 21,428 693 383
in prepayments, deposits T Lt 8 T AR 3R

and other receivables Z BNEAEs
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EAARE  REREMEBERERR (B)

(Continued)

(a) None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. (a) TeWRBEATREE - KA
The provision for impairment relates to other BEREMEWKIEER - K
fih FE IR IE 2 R BB 2 # B

impairment of other receivables are as follows: UM

receivables. The movements in provision for

Group

rEH
2009 2008
—EEAFE ZZTENF
HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT
At the beginning of R B E A
the financial year 88,652 76,759
Amount written off 4 57 g [o] B i 35
as uncollectible ZFRIB — (98)
Exchange realignment T B 392 11,991
At 30 September RAA=+H 89,044 88,652

The above is a full provision for impairment of a
receivable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancement over this balance.

A ERBWIRRZ 2 BEE -
7N 6% B 3 4 5 5% SRS B AR
BERmIEMBEAERZEA

B o
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. FERFIE - REREMEBERERR (8)
(Continued)
(b) The aged analysis of the other receivables after (b) KRR BB RME 2 HMELER
provision that are not considered to be impaired is as BEREWERZER D T W
follows: o
Group
rEH
2009 2008

—BBAE —FENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BMTRE  BETR

Less than 1 month past due #HEIVR—{E AR 4,395 3,759
2 to 3 months past due BER—E=EAR 217 80
More than 3 months past due #Hi=1& A A 11,934 11,552
16,546 15,391
Other receivables that were past due but not impaired B 8 B8 R E 2 E b B YR
relate to a number of independent customers that R ZEAEEFRITER
have a good track record with the Group. Based on RECBYEFAR - RES
past experience, the directors of the Company are of A% AR EEERTES
the opinion that no provision for impairment allowance REFHREHRDER B2
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has WE - A RREERBBAE
not been a significant change in credit quality and the MAZERER/IELRERE - K
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The SEVESRZEERTEEM
Group does not hold any collateral of other credit ERmEMmiEAERCE

enhancement over these balances. H -
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21. RERRESEEEAE

Group Company
rEE P NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE ZZTTNE ZZTEAE ZTTNE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT @ BETT BETT BT T
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTEH 29,672 85,020 376 5177
Structured deposits BREEER 382,591 227,990 - —
Short-term bank deposits KERITER 445,627 283,420 327,975 21,121
857,890 596,430 328,351 26,298
Less: Restricted cash o RRFIRE (45,574) (334) —_ —
812,316 596,096 328,351 26,298
(a) Full principal amounts of structured deposits will be (a) #HBEGERZEZHESHBERN
received on maturity date. Interest income earned is ZHY H UCER o F B ULA TR 5
subject to US London InterBank Offered Rate BEEFIRITEIN 2B #MEK
(“LIBOR”) in accordance with the terms of the contract 1= 2T fm AR T A ZE 37 B K 5T
entered into with certain banks. B e
(b) Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on (b) SRITHERILRITE BFRFIE
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are ZIFBAEGTE - MEEHT
made for varying periods of between one day and six RZGEHFBTE - B—KREN
months depending on the immediate cash BATE  BIEAKERESR
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the BIRIREFEME © WiLkHAE
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank ZEHEHRGERAETE - R
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with THHBEANIEENREL
no recent history of default. EERIFZIBTER
(c) At the balance sheet date, the cash and cash (c) R&EEH > NEEUAREST]

equivalents of Group denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$502,132,000 (2008: HK$569,201,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies;
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

TBEekBELEEHEHESH
A7 502,132,000 (—ZEE
J\4F : B#569,201,000 JT) °
ARBI THEBHLBRKBE
bW o R - BB B KR
INEBBRIEDIMEE  SER
EEBHTE 5B HEB
B ETINEEBHRIT - B
ARBEHMBKAEME -
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL 22. EBRTRA

(a) Authorised and issued capital (a) ZEREBITRA

2009 2008
ZEZAFE ZTETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET R BT

Authorised: JETERRA ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary 10,000,000,000/% &R E &

shares of HK10 cents each 10781l 2 & @& 1,000,000 1,000,000

2009 2008
“EENE —EENE
Number Number
of shares HK$’000 of shares HK$’000
RAEE BETR BOEE BETT

Issued and fully paid: BETRAR

Ordinary shares of BREE105

HK10 cents each 2 ERER
At the beginning of R BEEN 6,843,371,580 684,337  6,842,477,580 684,248

the financial year
Issue of shares on TERRIEM — — 894,000 89

exercise of options B2l
At 30 September RAA=1H 6,843,371,580 684,337  6,843,371,580 684,337
Note: Mot -
During the year ended 30 September 2008, the REBEE=ZTTN\FNLA=+HIE
subscription rights attaching to 894,000 share options FE - M5 894,00017 53 % #E AI
were exercised at the subscription prices ranging from BN FEREB0.1343TESK
HK$0.1343 to HK$0.1670 per share, resulting in the 0.1670t 2 REETE HRE
issue of 894,000 shares of HK10 cents each for a total #E - Bt E17894,000/% & Az E
cash consideration of HK$143,000. BEI108 1Lz iktn - AR RE

775 143,0007T ©
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme

The share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) became effective on 20 May 2003 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date. The maximum
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted must not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of adoption of
the Share Option Scheme. The offer of a grant may be
accepted upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 per acceptance. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determinable by the Board,
and commences on a specified date and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of
grant of the share options. The exercise price will be
determined by the Board, but shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing prices of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on the date of grant, which must be a
trading day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Company'’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

22. ERITRA (B

(b)

= IR fE T &

RxrET &l ([RIRAEE) R
—EE=-FRAA-_tHREE
W BRIESITHBEHIEET - R
RiEstEEEZBRTFEARE
Boo AR 2RIk 2B
HEE ERTSHBBARRQ A
RIRMARETEE BB EIT
BARZ10% o FALHET ANTEE
MEBZHAINRBARES
BT o B 2 RARAE 2 1T(E EA
HEZEET © HIETHBA
BERIEZBETESHBBERER
BiEEBRFTTFRLE - BR
BZIHEERESSETE - #
ZEBRTEEATIESESZ
RaE () RERREE R (K
BRR5B) ARBRORES
BMEXZMAERRAR ([BX
Frl) Btz ARy 2
B: (IZEREB®HIIARER
5 B AR A & IR 15 OB 22 P 3%
ZBHREMY 2 FHRHE
S (i) ARARD ZHEE °
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22. ERITRA (B)

of share options

outstanding and their related weighted average
exercise prices are as follows:

At the beginning of
the financial year

Granted

Exercised

Lapsed

At 30 September

REBEELD

Bt
7%
R

RAA=TH

(b) =RRESHE ()

RARITERREZHE REF
ZIEBNEFETEEZED

LU
2009 2008
“EENE —EENE
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price price
per share per share
HK$ Number of HK$ Number of
SRME share options FMHE  share options
FHTEE RREHE FHIEE R HEE B
(B%T) (B¥T)
0.1988 67,064,481 0.1537 51,733,107
0.1000 17,050,000 0.3370 16,800,000
- - 0.1596 (894,000)
0.1580 (88,327) 0.2382 (574,626)
0.1788 84,026,154 0.1988 67,064,481

Out of the 84,026,154 (2008: 67,064,481) outstanding

options, 52,396,154
exercisable.

(2008: 37,069,431) were

1£84,026,15413 (ZZZ )\ :
67,064,48117) M RIT{E 2 B
R 52,396,1641) ( — =
J\%E : 37,069,43117) R
AT o
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 22. BEITRAK (&)
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) RRFESE (2)
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have RERERITE 2 RRE 2 F
the following expiry date and exercise prices: A RITEBAT :
2009 2008
g4y 3 ZETN\EF
Exercise Exercise
Exercise period price price
(Note) HK$ Number of HK$ Number of
Date of grant it T8 share options 1€  share options
=gl BirsE) BT AREHE BT R A
31/12/2003 31/12/2004 - 30/12/2013 0.1580 9,877,331 0.1580 9,965,658
31/12/2004 31/12/2005 - 30/12/2014 0.1547 11,474,439 0.1547 11,474,439
30/12/2005 30/12/2006 - 29/12/2015 0.1343 13,773,647 0.1343 13,773,647
13/11/2006 13/11/2007 - 12/11/2016 0.1670 15,300,737 0.1670 15,300,737
09/11/2007 09/11/2008 - 08/11/2017 0.3370 16,550,000 0.3370 16,550,000
14/11/2008 14/11/2009 - 13/11/2018 0.1000 17,050,000 — =
84,026,154 67,064,481
Note: B &E -
The vesting schedule for share options granted on 31 RZBEZ=F+-A=+—HK
December 2003 is in the following manner: R FBEHANT

Percentage of shares
over which a share
option is exercisable

R 2R a1

Vesting Schedule HEREER ATERREZBE D

%

Before the first anniversary BBz —BEFa Nil

of the date of grant =

On or after the first but before the Es-Junll=: il 53 25
second anniversary of the date of grant 2 B BMEFA

On or after the second but before the R BB ZMESF 25
third anniversary of the date of grant 2 BB=ZFEEH

On or after the third but before the REBBZ=AF 25
fourth anniversary of the date of grant 8 2 1% 1B 70 E E 5

On or after the fourth anniversary B B2 Y EF 25

of the date of grant g8
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 22. EBRTRE (&)

(b) RR#ETE (&)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

W-EE=£+-A=t+-A%
Bk R BBHMT

The vesting schedule for share options granted after 31
December 2003 is in the following manner:

Percentage of shares
over which a share
option is exercisable

gk Z BG4

Vesting Schedule B R R ATERREZE D

0/0

Before the first anniversary HHBE 2 —EAFEA Nil

of the date of grant i

On or after the first but before the RO RSz —RAF 40
second anniversary of the date of grant 8¢ 2 128 1B/ B Al

On or after the second but before the R BHZmESF 30
third anniversary of the date of grant 2 & 1B = FFA]

On or after the third anniversary FHBEHZ=RAF 30

of the date of grant %218

In relation to the share options, if the eligible
participant, during any of the periods specified above,
exercises that share options for such number of shares
which, in aggregate, represents less than the number of
shares for which the eligible participant may exercise in
respect of such period, the balance of the shares
comprised in that share option for which the eligible
participant could have exercised (but did not exercise)
in that period shall be carried forward and added to the
number of shares which the eligible participant may
exercise in the next succeeding period or periods.

The valuation for share options was based on the
binomial model, the inputs to that model, including the
volatility of the Company’s share price of 75% per
annum, nil expected dividend yield, rate of leaving
services of 4.2% per annum and grantees will exercise
their options if the share price is at least 225% higher
than the exercise price under the requirements of
HKFRS 2. Share-based compensation expenses are
charged to the consolidated income statement of
HK$1,739,000 (2008: HK$2,862,000) (note 7).

HRREMS - WEEK2H
Z R il 48 E AR 1T 8
RZEROHEHE 2RBRES H
DRE B2 HEEEZHARBA
TERBRERD R 2R M E

B AEEKR2EERZIA
Dﬁﬁ@*ﬁﬁzﬁﬂk%ﬁ
MZBHEE =B BEE RN
AGERSEERT — A%
HMAITERBERE Y &2 KR
MEEF o

R HE T AR IR — 1A A B AR A
ETEE - NIRED BB @
HEAE2H T - WEEE
MABEARBRERBESE
75%  TBHIR B W X R
0% BB EREF42% &k
N Ex > ERITEE225% 8l
ERAGTEERRE - RH
B & B X2 & % 1,739,000
(ZEZN\F : #%2,862,000
7)) B R RS W R R (T
F£7) °
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23. RESERVES

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 83 of
the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for
Companies of the People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”),
the local Memorandum and Articles of Association and its
board resolutions, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
wholly-owned foreign enterprise which is established or
registered in the PRC had been transferred to reserve
funds (i.e. other reserves) being restricted as to use.

23.

W

A& E

AEERBZEBEREREAFER
E—FEZEDHIRYBEHRERSE
B3R ZIRAEmEEK

REBEFEARKME ([FE]) AR
DB ZERIER ~ EHERKHE
RERAANERESEFEERESR -
& B A B K S S E T 2 SN
BhREZHIENCEBEREBRG
Rz @EEES AEMHE -

Company PN
Capital ~ Share-based
Share redemption compensation
premium  Contributed reserves reserve  Accumulated
account surplus EX Kk losses Total
RiteE  #ABR  RERE  MeRE  ZEEE hg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ATr  EMTr BETn EMfr  BMTr BB
At 1 October 2007 N-25tE+A-R 41,763 642,378 196 4,009 (3,683 684,683
Issue of share on I RREMET 5 - - - - 5
exercise of options LR
Share-based compensation RiMER% - - - 2,862 - 2862
expenses (Note 7) (3t)
Loss for the year (Note 10) EEEE (M0 - - - - (95,830) (95,830
At 30 September 2008 RZEE\ENA=TA 41816 642,378 196 6,871 (99.493) 591,768
At 1 October 2008, & EX it 41,816 642,378 196 6,871 (99,493) 591,768
as per above ZZEN\ETA-H
Share-based compensation RihMeHEx - - - 1,739 - 1,730
expenses (Note 7) i)
Loss for the year (Note 10) EEBRME0) - - - - (13,880) (13,880}
At 30 September 2009 RZZENENAZTH 41,816 642,378 196 8,610 (113373) 579,627
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RESERVES (Continued)

Company (Continued)

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares pursuant to the
announcement dated 15 November 2005. Under the
amendments to the bye-laws, it may make distributions to
its members out of the contributed surplus in certain
circumstances when the directors consider it appropriate
to do so.

TRADE PAYABLES

At the balance sheet date, the ageing analysis of the trade
payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 3 months =EAZR
3 months to 12 months =Z+_{@A
Over 1 year —F A E

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally
settled within an average term of one month.

23.

24,

Wt (&)

AR A (B)

BRERAR_ZETAF+—A+A
Bzofh NRRZEABRIER
MARBEZBHERE - REAAHA
A2 ARRIAERPEES
RRERBEZETREATREARZ
BEPBROFRESETEMAR
o

FES & 2 BR X

REER  BNESRKXUARER
MR ZBRE DT

Group

TEER
2009 2008
—2ThE —FETN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

784 5,781
575 1,051
6,588 8,755
7,947 15,587

ENEZERRIMEBEBERF
BH—EAREE -
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25. ADVANCED RECEIPTS, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 256, FAWFIE - EFHRERER HMESRR
PAYABLES
Group Company
rEE PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZhE ZZETN\FE ZEZEEAF ZITTN\FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT  AETT BETT AT T
Pre-sales receipts TBEFIA 995,183 99,848 — =
Advanced rental receipts TBUHE £ B 398 1,245 - —
Deferred income BIEA 33,961 34,491 - -
Accrued expenses [EsT e & A 202,298 199,935 1,700 1,721
Other payables H T ER R 35,563 34,272 345 4,368
1,267,403 369,791 2,045 6,089
Pre-sales receipts were received in connection with the TEERIBH EEILKEZEHRIE B
Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project. TE & M T AR EX A o
Other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and HEMEMERTDEERR - THER

have no fixed term of repayment term. & FE B R o
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. MIERITER
Group KEH
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate  Maturity 2009 rate Maturity 2008
BRAE AR —EENE  BERAZE A —ETN\E
(%) HK$'000 (%) HK$'000
BETT BT
Current bk
Secured (Note a) BHE#E (M) 531-594  2009-10 67,555 7.8 2008-09 7,410
Unsecured i 3.51-6.34  2009-10 410,977 ~ 6.2-7.7 200809 188,092
478,532 195,502
Non-current FRE
Secured (Note a) BHEHE (155 594  2010-13 81,868  7.7-7.8  2009-13 247,940
Unsecured BER 0.78-5.94  2010-12 944,725  54-83  2009-10 1,062,423
1,026,593 1,310,363

1,505,125 1,605,865

157



158

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2§t = (FFE) R AT
Annual Report 08/09 F 3R

Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 ¥ 2R B =

Year ended 30 September 2009 EZ—ZFZ N FNA=THILFE

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

(Continued)
Company PN
Effective
interest
rate  Maturity 2009
1 Sk AR —BEAE
(%) HK$’000
BETR
Non-current ¥R
Unsecured s 0.72-0.79 2010 499,102

26. MR RITER (&)

Effective

interest
rate Maturity 2008
ERME  HHE —TTNE
(%) HK$'000
BETT

) 2010 138,274

Interest-bearing bank borrowings repayable are analysed

FEEEM BRITERZ AT ¢

as follows:
Group Company
AEE RAH
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEANF ZEENE ZEFENE ZTTNE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT BET T BT
Within one year or —FE AR E 478,532 195,502 —_ —
on demand EREEER
In the second year BF 833,442 949,229 499,102 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive H=ZFAERN 193,151 361,134 — 138,274
1,505,125 1,505,865 499,102 138,274
Notes: B aE

(@) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i)  certain Group’s investment properties situated
outside Hong Kong, which had an aggregate
carrying value at the balance sheet date of
approximately HK$143,698,000 (2008:
HK$147,054,000) (notes 13 and 30); and

(i) cash deposits of a fellow subsidiary of
HK$42,365,000 (2008: HK$141,354,000) (note 32
(o).

(a) ARBEZETRITERHUTE
TR LR

(i)

(ii)

REBMREBEIZET
BEYE  NEZR 2Bk
B (B %) /5 75 5 143,698,000
T(ZZTEENEF : B
147,054,0007t) (KisE13 %
30) : &

RZEMBRARZESES A
7 1 42,365,000 (=T =
J\EF @ #¥141,354,0007T)
(Mt3E32(b)) °
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

26. MR RITER (&)

(Continued)
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are denominated RITERZREBET AT E B3]
in the following currencies: 8 :
Group Company
r&E NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZERNFE ZETN\F ZBBNE —TITN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BRI BETT BTt AETR
Hong Kong dollar 7 499,102 138,274 499,102 138,274
Renminbi ARE 724,507 1,086,844 — —
United States dollar e 281,516 280,747 — -
1,505,125 = 1,505,865 499,102 138,274

All interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group and the
Company are at floating rates.

At the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s and the Company’s current and non-current

AEERARABZHABEMRBRTE
RIGEF BN KRGS -

REEB  AEERARRRBR
FERBMBRITERZIRAEEE

interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their fair NAEEE -

values.

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:
T

AEBZARRRRITBEREZ N

FEHFIE
—R—EREIH

Floating rate
— available within one year

2009
—BBAE
HK$°000
BT

100,000

2008
—EENF
HK$’000
BT T

671,400
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27. DUE FROM/(TO) THE IMMEDIATE HOLDING 27. U (FEM) HEEERA R ZHRE

COMPANY AND DUE TO A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

Since FCL (China) Pte. Ltd. (“FCL (China)”) acquired an
additional equity interest directly in the Company in May
2007, it became the immediate holding company of the
Company. As at 30 September 2009, the Group had
outstanding receivables from and payables to its immediate
holding company of HK$66,213,000 and HK$91,291,000
(2008: HK$71,443,000 and HK$91,291,000) respectively.
The receivables and payables are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed term of receipt or repayment. The
carrying amounts of these current accounts approximate to
their fair values. The outstanding receivables represented
the estimated tax liabilities to be incurred by Supreme Asia
Investments Limited (“SAl”) in relation to its business
activities prior to the Group’s completion of the acquisition
of interest in SAl in September 2005 which should be
compensated to the Company when SAl paid any tax that
is limited to the amount of HK$71,443,000. The payables
comprised debt owing by SAl to FCL (China) existing at the
completion of acquisition of interest in SAl in September
2005. A reimbursement of an indemnified amounts of
approximately HK$5,230,000 (2008: HK$NIl) was paid by
FCL China (note 32(a)(i)) as at 30 September 2009.

As at 30 September 2009, the amount due to a fellow
subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of
repayment. The carring amount of the balance approximates
to its fair value.

RENEZRME AR ZRE

M FCL (China) Pte. Ltd.([FCL
Chinal) R=ZZEZT G H A EKEIEE
RAT 2R ZARBERIK AR
DRIZHEBEERAR - R=ZZTZT A,
FNA=+H  AEBEERRER
HEELERARZ KK K2
T8 5 Bl & 745 #66,213,0007T K 7 #
91,291,000t (Z BT )\ F : B
71,443,0007T K& 7 ® 91,291,000
T0) ° ZEREWHRIE RENRIBEE A
IR - R R REE R E S (E
EHAPR o LA RERE CAREEEE
AREHRE - ZERK 2 EKFIE
J5#E Supreme Asia Investments
Limited ([SAI]) AASEER =T Z
F G N A Fo AU S SAIRE 2= AT B A 2
BEEBmMAE TEREZHFFRIES
& - ESAIZX HEMFE  EFEH
BTARAR  MEESEIRNS
#571,443,0007T ° Z EENRIBEE
FBSAIRZZEZERFNA TR KE
SAlZ # z5 BF SAI#Z RFCL ChinaZ
&% -R_TZTAFNLA=+AH "
FCL China(Fff 5£32(a)(i)) {8 E {8
FRIA A7 5,230,000 (ZEE)N
F BT -

RZZEZAFAA=+H ENE
A E AR 2 KA/ EEMA - K
BRERETEERAR - ZHEZK
HEZAAAERE
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28. EELEBIEA

The movements of deferred tax liabilities during the year

are as follows:

At 30 September 2007

Deferred tax credited to the
income statement, including
the tax credit effect of change
in PRC’s corporate income
tax rate of HK$29,996,000
(Note 8)

Exchange realignment

At 30 September 2008
Deferred tax (credited)/charged

to the income statement (Note 8)
Transfer from profits tax liabilities
Exchange realignment

At 30 September 2009

EEHERE

AEEREEHBRBEEBNT ¢

Group
N |
Revaluation of Withholding
Tax losses properties taxes Total
RIERE EfimE BB B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT BT BT
RZZEZ+ENA=1H (24,479) 188,796 = 164,317
R R AR 2 BRI (906) (40,766) - (41,672)
(BEXREME
mEligsy e
ZHBEER
75%29,996,0007T)
(Bt 5%8)
ERAE - 306 - 306
RZZEZENENA=1H (25,385) 148,336 - 122,951
Rk R (08) /FA (6,939) (3,706) 2,668 (7,977)
ZIEERIE (P 5E8)
BRANGHAR 6,448 958 - 7,406
EHRAE (153) 26 - (127)
RZEZNENA=1H (26,029) 145,614 2,668 122,253
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28. DEFERRED TAX (Continueqd) 28. IEEBLIE (4F)
Deferred tax assets BEAEH IHEE
The movements of deferred tax assets during the year are AFEERLEHBEEEZEFSHUWT ¢
as follows:
Group
K&
Impairment
allowance on
receivables
and others
& 1 B R
Tax losses  HftEKFIE Total
HEFE ZAERE ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BETT
At 30 September 2007 RZTE+FNA=TH 5,187 17,480 22,667
Deferred tax credited/(charged) R SR AN/ GTA) 3,086 (4,086) (1,000)
to the income statement, including ZIEERE (BEZH
the tax debit effect of change in PRC’s CEMGHESTE
corporate income tax rate of ZBBZ M AEE
HK$4,945,000 (Note 8) 4,945,0007c) (%1 58)
Exchange realignment E R R 160 1,798 1,958
At 30 September 2008 R-ZEZENFNA=TH 8,433 15,192 23,625
Deferred tax charged to the P E R AETA (8,406) — (8,406)
income statement (Note 8) 2 EFER A (i zE8)
Exchange realignment ELAE (27) 86 59

At 30 September 2009 RZZEENFNLA=TH - 15,278 15,278
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28. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of
HK$1,121,401,000 (2008: HK$1,122,900,000) arising in
Hong Kong that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose, and tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$6,602,000 (2008: HK$18,605,000) which will expire
within five years. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and
it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between China and
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rates are 5% and 10%. The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

The Company had no deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities as at 30 September 2009 (2008: HKS$NIl).

28. EEBE (&)

REBEREBIMEENKERTIE
B8 &5 %1,121,401,0005C (=&
T\ : E¥1,122,900,0007T) -
AER AR EZEELEBENAR
HEMERB RN  RPBRXEE
& 2 T B 18 & % 1 6,602,0007T
ZZT \4F : #%18,605,0007T)
R AFAEE - ARNECEHREE
EDREBEREZENWEBRRRNE
£ BRBTARIEEELEERY
AR ERIEEE - RH
ZEEERRAMEZETEHIEE
EK_E °

BEPBECEMBRE  RPEE
WA 2 NI E ¥ mINE IR E
EERKRBEBIZ10% BB -
WHRER-ZEEN\F—H—HEE
Mo WEAR-_ZEEEFE+_A=
T—HEZAF o i+ EEINER
BEZAEEEAEBBET LB
FRAFEAREZEMNBE -5
AREEMS  BAFHERANK
10% > At - N"EBEFREEFHNF
WIS 2 ZEMNB AR R
ZNF—A—BARBRELEZEFMS
&2 IR BB S TEHOR -

AT 5 R T IR R 25 E 7
FrisBiLR -
R=ZEAFAA=TH  A%E
3 B A T RO LB B £
“EE/NE BMER) -

163



164

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2§t = (FFE) R AT
Annual Report 08/09 F 3R

Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 ¥ 3R Y BE

Year ended 30 September 2009 HZEZ =T NFNA=THIEFE
29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 30 September 2009, the Company issued guarantees to
the extent of HK$183,200,000 (2008: HK$199,491,000) of
which HK$171,750,000 (2008: HK$188,092,000) was
utilised in respect of bank borrowings granted to its
subsidiaries.

Management anticipates that no material liabilities will arise
from the above bank and other guarantees which arose in
the ordinary course of business.

30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 September 2009, the Group’s bank borrowings
were secured by certain investment properties with a
carrying value of HK$143,698,000 (2008:
HK$147,054,000) (notes 13 and 26(a)(i)).

31. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure in respect of properties under
development at the balance sheet date but not yet
incurred is as follows:

Contracted but not provided for BENBREE
Authorised but not contracted for BEREERRD

At the balance sheet date, the Company had no
capital commitments (2008: HK$NIil).

29. HARERE

30.

31.

RZZFEZAFAA=+TH  ARQFA
FRfE 2 &R &% %183,200,0007T
(ZZEZT )\ F : #%199,491,000
TL) c HPRETHEB AR CRITE
HEEAEE171,750,0007T (==
T\ 4F : 5%188,092,0007T) °

EEERY  FEXRABRBBIE
FEEZBRITREMBERKTIEE
EEMEXRAEE -

EEEM

RZTEZThFHLA=1TH A&E
ZHRITERDUNEEES K
143,698,0007C (Z BT )\ F : i
147,054,0007T) 2 &/ TR E W 1E
AR (5135 26(a)() °

A

(a) EEXEIE

REER  BEERTYWER
MAREEZEARRAINT :

Group

A EE
2009 2008
—EEAE ZZZEEINF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
— 100,440
4,808,772 4,652,331

4,808,772 4,752,771

REER - ARALEEAK
B(CTTNF BBER) -
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31. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments

(i)

As lessee

The Group and the Company leases certain of its
properties under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for the properties are negotiated for a
term of one year.

At 30 September 2009, the Group and the
Company had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

Within one year —F A
In the second to fifth EFE_EZFERFA
years, inclusive

At the balance sheet date, the Company had no
operating lease arrangement as lessee (2008:
HKS$NIl).

31. &I (&)

(b) ABEHXAIE

(i)

ERTEP

REEBRRNRARBELE
BOZH  BAETY
X DEEPERSH—
£ o

R-FBAEAA=+
B AEERARARE
AR RO TIAR
RN 2 BIEH
BELT

Group

rEE
2009 2008
—EEAF ZZTT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T

2,014 3,369
—_ 1,638
2,014 5,007

REER - ARALEAE
REPEEBEOLE (ZF
FN\EF  BBTIT) -
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31. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
(b) Operating lease commitments (Continued)

(i) As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note
13) under operating lease arrangements, with
leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to
seven years. The terms of the lease generally also
require the tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according
to the then prevailing market conditions.

At 30 September 2009, the Group has total
future minimum rental receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

Within one year —F RN

In the second to fifth FE_EFERAFN
years, inclusive

After five years HF%E

At the balance sheet date, the Company had no
operating lease arrangement as lessor (2008:
HK$SNil).

31. & (&)

(b) RBEHKAE (&)

(ii)

ERHEE

AEERBEEEMOLR
B HEETZREME
(BaE13) » AR R —
FELFHIF - HOMK
R —RERKMP L@
REERREBATER
MHREMELHESH

%%o

R-BFEAFAA=T
B AKEREBEEEESR
RN Z AR HEEE 2R
KK E W S RIEM
T~

Group

rEE
2009 2008
—EEAFE ZTEZ)NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

131,332 120,348
148,248 223,228

2,378 8,220
281,958 351,796

REER » ARFAESE
AHEBEAFTZEEROH
Z(CZET)N\F BT

o) °
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ultimate holding company of the Group is Fraser and
Neave, Limited (“F&N”), a company incorporated in
Singapore.

The following is a summary of significant related party
transactions carried out in the normal course of the
Group’s business during the year.

(a) Related party transactions

Compensation income mERA
Penalty interest income B A
Corporate management hEEE
services fees Ak 7% 2
Property management YEERE
services fees Ak 7% &
Property management fees MEEREE
Internal audit fees AHEZE
Professional fees BXE

32.

EEALRS

KEBE 2 xKER R A & Fraser
and Neave, Limited ([F&NJ) = T35
— KR EMKS 2 AR °

TXARFRAEASEARERKB
BRPETZERBEALRZZH

go

(a) BEALXRS

2009 2008
GEIEE S S S L 2%
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Amount paid/(received)

B/ (Bik) %8

(i) (530) (530)

(ii) (738) (925)

(iii) 7,607 7,000
(v) (136) (131)
(vi) 555 448
(vii) 211 508
— 236

6,969 6,606
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Related party transactions (Continued)

(i)

On 14 July 2005, CPL (China) Pte. Ltd. (now
known as FCL (China) Pte. Ltd. (“FCL China”)),
the immediate holding company of the Company,
Power
Source”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company and the Company have entered into a

Source Holdings Limited (“Power

sale and purchase agreement
Agreement”) in relation to the acquisition of
54.78% interest in the shares of and debt owing

(“Principal

by Supreme Asia Investments Limited (“SAI”).
Pursuant to the disclosure letter dated 14 July
2005 enclosed to the Principal Agreement, a sum
of approximately RMB111.95 million would be
payable by Shanghai Zhong Jun Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Zhong Jun”), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, for
the increase in the Gross Floor Area (GFA) of the
Shanghai Song Jiang property from 628,246
square meters to 837,291 square meters. The
total payment including the land premium and
consultancy fee for the increase in the GFA of the
Song Jiang property eventually increased to
RMB179.69 million. Due to RMB67.74 million in
excess of the estimated payment of RMB111.95
million that is a breach of warranty under the
Principal Agreement, the Company received a
compensation of RMB37.11 million (being the
difference of RMB67.74 million at 54.78%) which
is recorded as deferred income in balance sheet.

During the year, a compensation income of
HK$530,000 was released from the deferred
income.

32. BEALERS (B)

(a)

BEALXRS (&)

(i)

R=ZZFEZTRFELA+HE
H: XAAEEZERAA
CPL (China) Pte. Ltd. (3R
@ FCL(China) Pte. Ltd.
(IFCL Chinal)) #2242 &
= & M B 2 &\ Power
Source Holdings Limited
(TPower Sourcel) ]2 B
Bz ([BHE]) "D
A E Supreme Asia
Investments Limited
(ISAL) B 7 2 54.78 % #&
W REFR ZEB - BRI
B EEHESEAE =T
AFELATHAZEEK
% XARZHEFEZE
BB A7) £ L B b EE
FAEER AR ([1HEE]) A
FEBNIMEZBER
M &F628,246F 75 KL in
837,291 F 5 KM FEfT 42
a4 A K # 111,950,000
T e A IV B EEE
BIGnmEf 2 IE B
(BELEREME) &K
2 o =2 AR K
179,690,0007T * tbifatak
T8 AR%111,950,0007T %
4 A R ¥ 67,740,000
T BmERBHER T
2 AQR B WA
R #37,110,0007T Z i (&
e (ME2EHARE
67,740,0007C 2 54.78%)
REEBERTARELE
N

RER - OELEW AR
FEMmEKRKARER
530,0007T °
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) Related party transactions (Continued)

(i

In addition, subject to certain limitations as stated
in the Principal Agreement, FCL China undertook
to Power Source to indemnify and keep
indemnified Power Source from and against any
tax liabilities incurred by the SAI Group in relation
to the business activities of the SAl Group prior
to completion of the sale and purchase of the
Sale Shares and the Debt (as defined in the
Principal Agreement) (“Tax Warranty”). The Tax
Warranty is compensation to Power Source by
FCL China for the additional profits tax expenses
incurred in the Group due to the higher land cost
of Shanghai Song Jiang booked in the Group at
fair value against the lower land cost booked in
SAIl Group at historical cost.

During the year, an indemnified amount of
HK$5,230,000 was paid by FCL China (note 27).

On 14 December 2006, FCL China, Power
Source and the Company entered into a
Supplemental Deed to the Principal Agreement
whereby the parties agreed to impose an interest
obligation on FCL China when SAIl delays the
transfer of the remaining 5% interest in Zhong
Jun within a prescribed period (“Transfer”).
Pursuant to the Supplemental Deed, FCL China
shall pay interest to Power Source until the
Transfer has taken place pursuant to the Principal
Agreement.

32. BEALERS (B)

(a) BEALRES (&)

(ii)

Uboh - RBBEE 2 E
T BB TR PR - FCL
Chinass - MTEK B E
ERMDRES (ERREH
%) Al EBEBESAISE 2
275 /58) [ Power Source
EHEEE  WREZRE
73 Power Source# & SAl
SEELAZARARIEBAER
(MBRIERFZE]) - BRARE
Bz A nERS BN
T L ARE S - 1 SAl
& B £ AN SR T3
AR - B IBRE R
FCL Chinala] Power Source
FLANE B E LM EEINAGE
MASIEL Z8E -

RERN » FCL China fif
wWE x®E A B K
5,230,0007T (Ff5¥27) °

RZEERF+ZA+HE
H - FCL China » Power
Source X AN A B) 5] 3 42 13
BmLMAEE Bt &
R #0757 [F B 1 SAIRE & /£
EEHREERMELRT
5% ([EE ) K - FCL
ChinaZBAENH B2 E
o BEBEMAEE - FCL
ChinaZ& [ Power Source
TR EEERBERZE
TREEAL -
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) Related party transactions (Continued)

(i)

In relation to the Supplemental Deed dated 14
December 2006 to the Principal Agreement, FCL
China acknowledged and confirmed in a letter of
agreement dated 29 October 2007 and 19
September 2008 respectively that FCL China will
continue to pay interest to Power Source.

Power Source is an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. FCL China is a
substantial shareholder of the Company and is
therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The entering into the
Supplemental Deed and the payment of interest
to Power Source constitutes a continuing
connected transaction of the Company.

During the vyear, a penalty interest of
approximately HK$738,000 was charged to FCL
China.

On 2 October 2008, Zhong Jun and Shanghai
Frasers Management Consultancy Co. Ltd.
(“SFMC”) entered into a Corporate Management
Services Agreement to, inter alia, renew the
period for the corporate management services
provided by SFMC to Zhong Jun under the
Corporate Management Services Agreement
dated 29 October 2007 for 12 months from 1
October 2008 to 30 September 2009 for a total
corporate management services fee of

RMB6,720,000 (equivalent to HK$8,064,000).

32. BEALERS (B)

(a)

BEALRS (&)

(iii)

AR —_EEEFE+_A+
BRI Z B2/t
HIEME * FCL Chinai®
HESR AT LF+
BZt+hBE=ZZZNF
NA+BZBFE &GS
BAEREER FCL
Chinai% # #& A1 Power
Source 1 Fl| & o

Power Source &R RQ Al Z
ME2EMRBAR - AR
FCL ChinaRARRIEE
AR - Bt - BB LETR
Bl - EAAR QR ZBEA
T o FAUMAREEMR
Power Source 1 &7 81
RARGE 2 —HEERE

RERN - ERFCL China
g By £ 8 4978 ¥ 738,000
7‘E o

RZZEZNF+A=H
hEEEE HigE M B IRFE
BRAR([EEE%])ET
VEEERSEHE  H
PEERLEEEMBRED
MAE_ZTTLF+HA=-+
NBZEEEBRRBE =
m%%%&za%%@w
BEH+ @A (R=%
NE+HA— E':':—?qjl
FhA=1+R)  oEER
R BREAARE
6,720,000 T (10 35 1A 7% &
8,064,0007T) °
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. BEALRE (#&)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BEALREZ (&)

Zhong Jun is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. SFMC is 100% beneficially owned
by Fraser and Neave, Limited (“F&N”) which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company.
Accordingly, SFMC is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. The entering
into the Corporate Management Services
Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.

Accordingly, the directors have set the annual
cap for the consideration pursuant to the
Corporate Management Services Agreement at
about HK$8,064,000 for the Company’s financial
year ended 30 September 2009.

During the year, a fee for corporate management
services of RMB6,720,000 (approximately
HK$7,607,000) was charged to Zhong Jun.

MEARANARZIEZEN
BAF - EBEMBAAR
A £ Z & E Fraser and
Neave, Limited ([F&N])
EEBEEmEAR Bt - 1R
BEMRAY - EBERA
RNARZBBEANT © F]3L
15 E IR B B A
RElZ —ERBHEER
2.

At EECRELRAA
HEZZTTNFNLA=T
BLEMBFERECES
BRBHEINERAZE
E LR H B B K
8,064,0007T °

REA - MEEXZNhE
EERBEHARK
6,720,0007T ( % & *
7,607,0007T) °
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) Related party transactions (Continued)

(iv)

On 28 November 2008, (i) Shanghai Zhongxin
Hua Yun Property Development Co. Ltd. (£ /&
SEPHEEBLRFMRAA) (“Zhongxin”), (i)
Shanghai Shang Ke Industrial Co. Ltd.( t/& &}
EXABR A A (“Shang Ke”), (iii) SAl and (iv)
Shanghai Sianjin Property Development Co. Ltd.
(BB LB ZEAMR A A)) (“Sianjin”) entered into a
Shareholding Adjustment Agreement whereby the
registered capital of Zhong Jun will increase by
RMB100 million (approximately HK$113 million)
from RMB200 million (approximately HK$226
million) to RMB300 million (approximately
HK$339 million) (“Capital Increase”). RMB90
million (approximately HK$101.70 million) and
RMB10 million (approximately HK$11.30 million)
shall be contributed by SAI and Sianjin (a direct
wholly owned subsidiary of FCL China) by way of
cash, respectively. Zhongxin and Shang Ke, the
other existing shareholders of Zhong Jun, have
agreed not to make any contribution under the
Capital Increase.

32. BEALERS (B)

(a)

BEALRS (&)

(iv)

R-_ZBEZENF+—A=+
NB () EBREEEE
XBEARAA ([
2] (WEBLEREES
BRAE (TERH) - (ii)SAl
Kliv) EBEBEXERERA
Al ([ 88]) AT REFRAE
e - R BEMEE 2
EARXEHRARE
200,000,0007T ( %) & ¥
226,000,0007T) #EANA K
#100,000,0007T (4975 %
113,000,0007T) & AR ¥
300,000,0007t (49 7% &
339,000,000t ) ( [ 3%
&) o SAIK % & (FCL
Chinaz ER2EWEB A
al) B2 RIZA RS A A
& A R ® 90,000,0007T
(49 7% % 101,700,0007T )
X A R % 10,000,0007T
(#4978 %11,300,0007T) °
&M LR ((h8E 2 MR
ERR)ERETEEET
EREREE -
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. BEALRE (#&)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BEALREZ (&)

On 28 November 2008, (i) the Company, (ii)
Power Source, (iii) FCL China and (iv) SAl entered
into a Subscription Agreement whereby (i) Power
Source agreed to subscribe for 2,883 new shares
of SAl at an aggregate subscription price of
US$8,115,556 (approximately HK$62.90 million),
which represents the approximate amount
required to finance the Capital Increase by the
Company; and (ii) FCL China agreed to subscribe
for 1,853 new shares of SAl at an aggregate
subscription price of US$5,217,778
(approximately HK$40.44 million), which represents
the approximate amount required to partially
finance the Capital Increase by FCL China
(“Subscription”).

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of
the Company’s indirect acquisition of the equity
interests, (i) in Zhong Jun as a result of the
Capital Increase by SAl; and (i) in SAI as a result
of the Subscription by Power Source, exceed 5%
but are less than 25%, the Capital Increase by
the Company, the Capital Increase by SAl and
the Subscription by Power Source constitute
discloseable acquisitions for the Company as
stipulated in Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

R-BEZENF+—A=+
A AN F
(ii)Power Source
(ili)FCL Chinak (iv)SAIZ]
YREWHE OB
(i)Power Sourceld E 1% 4&
REE(E8,1156,6563 It (4
5 #62,900,0007T ) R B
SAl 2,883 2% * % &
BIEERBARRMMIED
RBEMBEZLESRE
® (ii))FCL Chinald B iz #
RHE(E5,217,778% 7T (4
5 8 40,440,0007T ) R B
SAl 1,853 2% * % &
FHE N ABFCL China
Fr{E 2 L BRI 5 &
CAHECLESE ([RB
FIH]) o

LA R 2 Bl () B SAIFTE
i 2 384 i ) 2 U B A e
5k 2 Ik ¢ R (i) A Power
SourceTEH 2 REH1E
M 5 3 4R B B SAILZ B 4
FEZERES L EREBR
5% B K7 25% + A 1t -
RELHRANE14E - B
RATAEL ZIEE - |
SAIFT fE i 2 3 & & H
Power SourceFT{Et 2 &2
BEEEKAARATH
Bl EE -
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Related party transactions (Continued)

SAl is beneficially owned as to 76.02% by FCL
China and Sianjin is directly wholly owned by FCL
China, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Accordingly, SAIl, Sianjin and FCL China are
connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. The entering into the Shareholding
Adjustment Agreement in relation to the Capital
Increase and the Subscription Agreement in
relation to the Subscription constitute connected
transactions for the Company, which are subject
to the reporting, announcement and the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements
as stipulated in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Shareholding Adjustment Agreement, the
Subscription Agreement (“the Agreements”) and
the transactions contemplated therein were
approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company (i.e. FCL China and its respective
associates abstained from voting) at the SGM
held on 19 January 2009 by way of a poll.

Pursuant to the Agreements dated 28 November
2008, RMB100 million (approximately HK$113
million) of the capital has been injected by the
Company and FCL China, shareholders of SAl,
and Sianjin into Zhong Jun, a 52.04% subsidiary
of the Company, in May 2009 in order to finance
Zhong Jun’s construction project which was
verified by the local capital examination report.
As at the balance sheet date, the capital
injection is pending for the formal registration
from the relevant Government. Should the formal
registration of the capital increase been
completed, the Group would own as to 52.96%
in this subsidiary (note 17).

32. BEALERS (B)

(a)

BEALXRS (&)

SAIRA R A E ERRERFCL
ChinaZE = # 6 76.02% -
28R Bl FCL ChinaE®
BE2EER - At - BE
EWRA 0 SAl- KR
FCL China@ AR 72 #
BEAT PRIV EREE
ZRERAEHZRB BR
BEEH2RBHZRIIEKX
RRRZAERS /BB
FEMRAE14AT 2 H
o A RB SRR R B
ZHTE ©

R-FBFNF—AT+HIAE
BIIZBERFHIARELE
AN R S AR (BIFCL
ChinaR EEBZBMEAL
HERR) BRURRRAA
HERERE G Z - R
& ([ F ek l) MoETT
BRERZRS -

BIEBHAE-_STTNEF+
—AZ+NBZZEH
% ' ANAFEHEFCL China
(MEH ABSAIZBRER) &
EHR=_ZTTALFRAD
M (KRQARESR
52.04% 2 M B AR EA
100,000,0007T ( # /& #&
113,000,0007T) A] #&2 & #f
BREMEEZE - NEE
B FE®FHEBERNH
PIEXNZELR ° WETKE
AEMZERXER » K&
EEHEEZMNBARA
52.96% 2 #z (ffi7E17) o
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) Related party transactions (Continued)

v)

On 24 December 2008, Vision Huaging (Beijing)
Development Co., Ltd. (“Vision Huaging”) and
Beijing Huaging Yong Sheng Restaurant
Management Company Limited (1t 52 275 sk £ &
REE B E IR A (“Huaging Yong Sheng’)
entered into a Staff Canteen Management
Service Agreement whereby Huaging Yong Sheng
will operate the staff canteen in Sohu.com
Internet Plaza (“SIP”) during the period from 1
October 2008 to 30 September 2009 and pay a
monthly management fee of RMB10,000 to
Vision Huaging.

Vision Huaqging is 60% owned by the Company.
Huaqging Yong Sheng
subsidiary of Tsinghua Science Park Co., Ltd.
(“TSP”), which is a 40% substantial shareholder
of Vision Huaging. Accordingly, Huaging Yong

is a wholly owned

Sheng is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The entering into the
Staff Canteen Management Service Agreement
constitutes a continuing connected transaction of
the Company.

During the vyear, fees of RMB120,000

(approximately HK$136,000) was charged to
Huaging Yong Sheng.

32. BEALERS (B)

(a) BEALRES (&)

(v)

RZEENE+=ZA=+
mHE - BEFES QR E
¥BERER AR ([HFE
B B REE K EER
ERAERETAR([ERE
KEDFZETREEE
BR7% ek o BRUL - EEF K
EHER_ZTEZENF+A—
HE=-TZThFhA=T
SIS PRy F RN
E(TEMAE]) BIHR
B WRABESESLNE
BHRERAR10,000
—

R EFSHARRAES
B0% Mz ° B K EMRE
BRHEBA0%ER 2
TR BRI D AR
AR ([REE]) 28 Bk
AW REBELETH
8 EFEXKEBARAZ
BEAT - FIVBIRE
ERRBBEBERADA
ZERBERERS -

RER - FEFKERS
ZERAAR120,000
7T (49 7%:#136,0007T) ©
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) Related party transactions (Continued)

(vi)

(vil)

On 24 December 2008, Vision Huaging and
THSP Property Management Corp. (3t R 5 ¥ 3%
EIEAREERQA) (“THSP?) entered into a
Property Management Contract whereby Vision
Huaging appointed THSP as the property
manager to provide property management
services for SIP during the period from 1 October
2008 to 30 September 2009 at a fee which is
calculated as to 8% of the total monthly gross
management fees received from the tenants of
the SIP.

Vision Huaging is 60% owned by the Company.
THSP is 80% beneficially owned by TSP, which is
a 40% substantial shareholder of Vision Huaging.
Accordingly, THSP is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. The entering
into the Property Management Contract
constitutes a continuing connected transaction of

the Company.

During the vyear, RMB490,000
(approximately HK$555,000) was charged to
Vision Huaging.

fees of

During the year, F&N provided internal audit
services to the Company. The services rendered
were charged by F&N on a cost basis.

F&N is a substantial shareholder of the Company
and is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the services rendered by F&N constitute a
connected transaction of the Company.

During the year, a total of internal audit fee of
HK$211,000 was charged to the Company.

32. BEALERS (B)

(a)

BEALXRS (&)

(vi)

(vii)

RZZBENF+ZA=+
UA - kTS s R EE
BMEBEEBREMEAR
(FFEEEMEDFIIMES
BED - Bt - BES
ZHEBMERMEEE
A RZZENF+A—
BEZZTEZThFhLA=T
B 1E B M B R EE B 1R
MEERRYE - BRKK
BEMAERFSAEE
EEE 7% IEE o

B ETRAAAES
60% Mz o I K E M #
BRI EBA0%ER 2 E
ERFARRBEEZEB
80% ° AL - RIE LR
Bl - EEMERARNRZ
BEAT - AT YIXER
BHEKARR 2 —EEF
BRAER S °

RER - BB RS
ZEBH A AR 490,000
7T (#4776 #555,0007T) °

RER - FANMA AR AR
HAMEZRE - FANIK
P 7 25 2 S R PR 3 1 AR 7%
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FANBARRIEEMRE -
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Other transactions with related parties

A fellow subsidiary of the Group has guaranteed
certain bank loans made to the Company by cash
deposits as further detailed in note 26(a)(ii) to the
financial statements.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Due from the immediate FEWEEZERA A
holding company Z I8

Due to the immediate R EEER AR
holding company ZFIE

Due to a fellow subsidiary

The balances with related companies listed above are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment. The carrying amount of these balances
approximate to their fair values.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group:

Short-term employee benefits 5 #i & & & A

Post-employment benefits BB 12 42 7
Equity-settled share VA B 28 3% A1
option expense 2 RIRRER

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 9 to the financial statement.

32.

FEA 1B 2 B /B8 2 A) 2 5R0R

B %5 ¥ 2R BT =

ZNENA=THLFE

BEALRS (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BHRIE A T 2 HMARS
AEBZREZKBRAAEE
SHERBEFAQE 2 ETFRT
BERIEER  HFBENRYT
)& Mt 5F26(a) (i) °
BE AT REERE
2009 2008
—EEAE —TEINEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
66,213 71,443
(91,291) (91,291)
(54) (220,107)

FABE QR AR EEE A

GERIPY:E 2 -0t E R
S 2 REERR A B
H o
AEBTEEEARZHH
2009 2008
—2BhE —TENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT  BETE
11,541 10,881
84 28
1,739 2,862
13,364 13,771
EMEEMNS 28— SR

iNEE e
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. BEREszEMITA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial BEHNeMIARGEERZEREE
instruments as at balance sheet date are as follows: N
Group: KEH :

Financial assets THEE
2009 2008
“BENE “EEN\E
Available- Available-
for-sale for-sale
Loansand financial Loans and financial
receivables assets receivables assets

EXR  TfHE Total ERk  THHE Total
EUER SREE By EMEX  SREE B3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI B¥TIR  A%Tn  ABTR  AETn  BETR

Avallable-for-sale financial assets MRHESREAE - 8,822 8,622 - 14,787 14,787
Trade receivables B 78 4,775 - 4,775 6,618 = 6,618
Financial assets included in JINBRFHE - &8 17,769 - 17,769 17,808 = 17,808
prepayments, deposits and RE KRR
other receivables REBEER
Due from the iImmediate EWERER 66,213 - 66,213 71,443 = 71,443
holding company NEZHE
Restricted cash XRHBEE 45,574 - 45,574 334 = 334
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEREER 812,316 — 812316 596,096 - 596,09

946,647 8,822 955,469 692,299 14,787 707,086
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. ZEREsZEeMIA (&)
(Continued)

Financial liabilities tHEE

2009 2008

—E2hEF —BEN\F

Financial Financial

liabilities at liabilities at

amortised amortised

cost cost

BAGTE RAFTE
ZEMAE ZETRAE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BB T
Trade payables e 8 5 IR R 7,947 15,587
Financial liabilities included in FIATRWARIE - TR 35,563 34,272
advanced receipts, accruals BRIE R E b 1
and other payables EXRERBERN
Due to the immediate R BEEER AR 91,291 91,291
holding company Z A
Due to a fellow subsidiary FEH R Z B A Rl 2 FUE 54 220,107
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M BERITER 1,505,125 1,505,865

1,639,980 1,867,122
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. EEREsZ2eMIA (&)
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EReMIAREER ZKREE

instruments as at balance sheet date are as follows: PO
Company: AKia:
Financial assets THEE
2009 2008
ZEENE “TTNE
Available-
for-sale
Loans and Loans and financial
receivables Total  receivables assets Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EFR Rk  AHHE
FEW R+ & ERERN CREE @it
BETR BRI  A%Tn BETT BETT
Available-for-sale financial asset A HELRHEE - - - 5,965 5,965
Financial assets included in SIABAE - e 1 1 48 - 48
prepayments, deposits and RE A YRR
other receivables REREEN
Due from subsidiaries EWRHBAR 2 1,470,075 1,470,075 1,466,084 — 1,466,084
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEEE 328,351 328,351 26,298 - 26,298
1,798,427 1,798,427 1,492,430 5965 1,498,395
Financial liabilities STHERE
2009 2008
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost
—EENEF —EENF
R b ic
BAGTE KA E
ZEEAE <CEmAal
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETT
Financial liabilities included in accruals I A fE&TBR iR AR 1B I E 69 2,772
and other payables BERFNERAER
Due to subsidiaries e B B A A) 2 2B 34,008 78,262
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M BRITE R 499,102 138,274
533,179 219,308
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations. It is, and has been throughout the year
under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial
instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank
borrowings with a floating interest rate. The interest rates
and terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are
disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements. The
Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rates available for its borrowings. Management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

HMHEEREEEEREE

AEEZTESHTIABTEMER
TEFRUERRERERER - ZF
EMTAZIERNIAAKREE
GRE AKEEZEAMEHE
EREBE  ERWESKRAREN
BIEN DERRBEER - K
SEBRRAEARERNEBEFEAR—
ETEEEENEMIA -

REAEBERIAZFERRA
M=mEg - SNERR - EERRR
nBECRR AEEREESEH
FRER 2 BRBAIAT o

FEEB

REEFESMEHNXRESRRE
ﬁéﬁilﬁ%lﬁc BRITERBRE - &
B & 3R 2 F) & R (B2 BR A B 75
#&%WEEZGWTBZ% s AEEZHR
DREBRFNHESNE - B
EaREEMNERR  MAREH
ZREPEANFERER o
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates at the balance
sheet date, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating
rate borrowings) and the Group’s and the Company’s

BEEREREEERBE (&)

FE @B (E)

TRINTNERMBEMEHTE LT
AT REFENGENRESHY
AEBERBANG N CEBEEBER

FTE)URAEEBERR RS2
BURE D -

equity.
Group Company
S N
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
Increase/ in profit Increase/ in profit
(decrease) in after tax (decrease) in after tax
basis points and equity basis points  and equity
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB &R BB &R
BAM KR EFiE ] REE
t#®/ Z8m,/ 7/ Z&m,/
() (R D) (T ) (R D)
BETT BETT
2009 —TTNF
Hong Kong dollar Vil 200 (9,250) 200 (9,250)
Renminbi AR 200 (6,034) — —
Hong Kong dollar ok (200) - (200) -
Renminbi AR¥% (200) 6,034 — —
2008 ZEEN\F
Hong Kong dollar ok 200 (805) 200 (805)
Renminbi AR 200 (6,276) - -
Hong Kong dollar B (200) 805 (200) -
Renminbi ARE (200) 6,276 — —
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

As most of the operating income of the Group’s business is
in RMB and assets held and all of the borrowings of the
Group are substantially denominated in RMB, the Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk. During the year, RMB
appreciated against HKD. Management believes such an
appreciation will not have any negative effect on the Group.
Hence, the Group has not adopted any financial
instruments for hedging purposes. However, the Group will
constantly assess the foreign exchange risk it encounters
so as to immediately decide the hedging policy required
against the possible foreign exchange risk that may arise.

On 30 September 2009, assuming that against HKD, RMB
appreciated by 1% (2008: 5%) and all other factors
remained unchanged, then change in equity of the Group
would have increased by HK$28,521,000 (2008:
HK$131,328,000).

A

34. KEBEEBFEREE (&)

S = B2

HRAREER 2 KED KL UWA
AARMEEE  UWERAEBMREE
EREEREZEAARKEE -
BAEBEAZINERR - F£R - A
REREBEAE - EREMEGIT
BErfEHAKSEELATANAERY
£ o Fit - AEBEWREFAREY
HMEMZERERIA - AM - &
SEBKBETHEBIZIHNER
% PABDE R TEFT & 2 8 BUR 2R
FERT AT BE 3 A 2 SMER R o

R=ZZFZAFNAA=+AH &KX
RELBEAREI1I% (ZEZT)\F
5%) - mH At ERDRFAE - Al
REB o HZZHFENRBE
28,521,0007C (Z BT )\ F : B
131,328,0007T) °
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties except for the sales of properties, for which no
credit is given to the customers. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise other receivables, available-for-sale financial
asset, an amount due from the immediate holding
company and cash and cash equivalents, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments. Per
note 29, there is no material liabilities arising from bank and
other guarantees which arose in the ordinary course of the
business.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk within the Group as the Group’s trade receivables are
widely dispersed in different sectors.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are disclosed
in notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements.

HEREREZERERBE (E)

FE R

BT8R TEFEEZYERHE
S AGEERBMBLRAGEE
ZE=ZNETES - AEEZHR
RABRREEGRIEEZER -
BEBBEERERRF I &
WersE DB EE(FERE - BX
SEEHZERITEYAEK -

AEEEMSREE (BIEEMER
R At ESREE  BKE
BEBRARIZRBURRAR S
REMELEZERe RESEEER)
ZEERE  EHsREMASENZ
ETHZERAEE - BEMF29 - ©
BEEBKBES  RITREMER
WEELEEREE -

HRAEEEREENENEERY
ZE=ZNETRS  HEFHRE
Hme BRAKEZEWE SRR
BROBMRTEER  NEELE
BEXREFREERR -

ERAEBXRBEERKESERR &
NRE - e REMBRERZE
ERBRE-FELCRE  RYBHR
RHE19 K204 FE -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest bearing bank borrowings. The Group will
consistently maintain a prudent financing policy and ensure
that it maintains sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its
liquidity requirements. Through maintaining a reasonable
proportion in its assets and liabilities structure, the Group is
able to meet its ongoing financial needs. 32% (2008: 13%)
of the Group’s debts, which comprise interest bearing bank
borrowings would mature in less than one year as at 30
September 2009 based on the carrying value of
borrowings reflected in the financial statements.

34. BB EBREEEBEREX (B)

BB E m R

AEEZERRAPDESTEHTH
RERETHERER - B TAS
BESMTARSBEE (HIanEK
BIREN) ZBMBANRKLEER
BAEERE -

REBE BB RBEBERMK SR
ERERES v HBHEEBEERE
T AEEBRBFERERERZ M
BHRE  UHRREEFEVZRS
REEEE EUARRABELSE
Ko BREFEEHBEREZE
BHG  AEBEEAREEFEY
BHERK - BEMBEREARE 2 G
HEME R—_ZTAFALA=T
A 1532% (ZFEZTN\F : 13%) Z
AEERBEE(BENSRITER
RER—F 2 HARAEIE -

185



186 Frasers Property (China) Limited 2X%iitiE (&) HRA
Annual Report 08/09 F 3R

Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 ¥ 2R B =

Year ended 30 September 2009 EZ—ZFZ N FNA=THILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BREAKREEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) FEBEL R (E)
The maturity profiles of the Group’s and the Company’s REER  RBEFTHORBBAR
financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on oW AEERAQAFICHEBEZ
the contractual undiscounted payments, are as follows: FEARBRAWT
Group rEH
2009
ZEENE
3to
Less than less than
On 3 months 12 months 1to Over
demand PH Z@AE S5years 5years Total

ZEX =R T=@AR -Enf¥ IEFHUL Azt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$’000
BRTr E®Tr E®Tn E®Tr E¥Tr EETrn

Trade payables [ERE 8RR 589 195 575 6,588 - 7,947
Financial liabilities included in B ATB{FUE « fEat 3,567 1,133 5145 25269 449 35563
advanced receipts, accruals RERIB R A ER
and other payables EXRERAER
Due to the immediate holding BN EEERA A - — — 91,291 — 91,291
company ZHA
Due to a fellow subsidiary ERRZNEARZHE - - - 54 - 54
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it 8 $R1T & % — 182,874 344,533 1,060,753 — 1,588,160

4,156 184,202 350,253 1,183,955 449 1,723,015




34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Group (Continued)

Trade payables ENE S5
Financial liabilities included in ~ FIATBR A « fEEHE
advanced receipts, accruals EREYER NN

and other payables EXReBaER

Due to the immediate holding ~ JEf B RA
company ZHE

Due to a fellow subsidiary FE{TR 2K B AR 2

Interest-bearing bank borrowings  fif 8 5#17 & %

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2¥fitth7E (FFE) BRE A 7
Annual Report 08/09 “F ¥R

Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 ¥ 2R BT =

Year ended 30 September 2009 HZE —ZTZTNFNLA=THILFE

34. KEBEEBFEREE (&)

mEBELREE (E)
AEE (E)
2008
—TENE
310
Less than  less than
3 months 12 months 1to Over
On demand PR ZEAE  Syears 5 years Total
B2k =R +Z@A —-ZRF =RENE X
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BETT BETr AT BETr B¥Tr A¥Tx
- 5,781 1,051 8,755 - 15,587
4,952 282 745 27,419 874 34,272
- - - 91,291 - 91,291
- - - 220,107 — 220,107
— 196,448 94,647 1,381,053 — 1,672,148
4952 202,511 96,443 1,728,625 874 2,033,405
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BREAKREEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) FEBEL R (E)
The maturity profiles of the Group’s and the Company’s REER - ZRBREFTHRBEAR
financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on A AEERARAICHEESZ
the contractual undiscounted payments, are as follows: FEARBRAWT
Company ¥ AT
2009
35 2
3to
Less than less than
On 3 months 12 months 1to Over
demand PH ZfAE S5years 5years Total

ZEX =R T=@AR -Enf¥ IEFHUL Azt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$’000
BRTr E®Tr E®Tn E®Tr E¥Tr EETrn

Financial liabilities included in 3| AfERHRBRIE R A th 69 - - - — 69
accruals and other payables EREFREHAER
Due to subsidiaries R BARZHE 34,008 - - - — 34,008
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  fif 8 3R17 & % - 992 3,086 500,334 — 504,412
34,077 992 3,086 500,334 — 538,489
2008
—ZENE
3to
Less than  less than
3 months 12 months 110 Over

On demand PR ZHAZ  S5Syears  5years Total

g2% =fA +=-@A —-EnF §FNLL @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
AETT A%TT BETn E%Tr E¥Tr BT

Financial liabilities included in I AJERTRERIE R E 2,507 - 265 - = 2,772
accruals and other payables EREFREBEER

Due to subsidiaries R BARZHE 78,262 = = = - 78262

Interest-bearing bank borrowings i £ 817 &% = 420 7,251 148,323 — 155,994

80,769 420 7,616 148,323 - 237,028
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Year ended 30 September 2009 HE-—TZNFNA=THILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is
to safeguard the Group’s ability and financial capabilities of
the Company in running its operations on a going concern
basis and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 30
September 2009 and 30 September 2008.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
short and long term interest bearing bank borrowings
divided by total equity. The Group’s policy is to maintain
the gearing ratio less than 150% and comply with the
relevant requirements of bank loan agreements. The
gearing ratios as at the balance sheet dates were as
follows:

Group

Interest-bearing bank borrowings it B iR 17 E 7

Total equity s B
Gearing ratio BEAGBHEX

34. BB EBREEEBEREX (B)

BAXE®

AEEEAEREZ T 2B BERR
BAEEFELLEBRETZENR
KRB UK ARGHRRE
LERLEE  UXFHEEHRB/K
REMEAEE-

AEBEEREAREBARRBER

HFE - REB AT S BRABER
RERENBE - MRRBEEELRK
BITHBRARFRARELREE -
REBEE-_ZFFNFAA=ZFAKZ
EENFNA=THLFEAR &
BEARZBR BEXKBEALEE
) o

REERAEEARELER(BIEHR
KA BRITER G AERRRE) &
TER  c REB Y HEDEREE
B EREN150% @ LA RESFIRTT
EXBZBERTE - REE

BEERBLERMT :
£ |

2009 2008
—EEAE ZBENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BMTT  BETR
1,505,125 1,505,865
2,117,326 2,079,085
1% 72%
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35. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 35. LkBRH=F
Certain prior year figures have been restated to conform ETEFHRFTEEY  WEERFE
with the presentation of the current year. Major one being a ZEINFXRF - - TEZRIIA
prepayment of HK$1,888,000 included in “prepayments, BE_ZTENFHLA=ZTHLFE
deposits and other receivables” under current assets for RREBEEEE THIFEMRIE &
the year ended 30 September 2008 have been reclassified e R EMEWIRK] 2B FIA A
to “prepayments, deposits and other receivables” under #%1,888,0007T ift {E & %1 55 AR FE R
non-current assets. BEEEBR TH[EMNRE  Zek

H A U R

36. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 36. b/ |
The financial statements were approved and authorised for BHRBERERZZEZNFET AN

issue by the Board of Directors on 6 November 2009. RESEa ik RITETE -
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BANKING FACILITIES WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

In accordance with the requirements under rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules, the directors of the Company report below details
of loan facilities, which existed during the year ended 30

September 2009 and included conditions relating to specific

performance of the controlling shareholder of the Company:

(a)

The Company was granted the following loan facilities:

(i)

(iD

on 16 November 2007, a 3-year term loan facility of
HK$500 million; and

on 13 March 2009, a renewed revolving and short
term loan facility of HK$100 million.

All the loans are to fund the general working capital

requirement of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Shanghai Zhong Jun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., a

52.04% owned subsidiary of the Company, was granted

the following loan facilities:

0)

(i)

(i)

on 28 March 2008, an extension of 20 months for a 3-
year RMB term loan facility of RMB582 million, to
mature on 30 November 2009;

on 5 June 2008, an extension of 2 years for a 3-year
USD term loan facility of USD36 million, to mature on
30 June 2010; and

on 1 April 2009, a new 2-year term loan facility of
RMB250 million.

All the loans are to finance the capital expenditures of its

development project.

RITHMEZNIRTEANERRREAET
BESEZHRHN

BIE EWRAIE13.21 (FZ2HRE - AAA
EXEUEREARRHBE_ZEZTNFAN
A=THLESE-—EFEESABERA
AAREEERETREREHREZIER
BEFFS -

(a) AAREELATERBE :

iy AR=EZ+HF+—AH+/8"
— I8 7 % 500,000,0007T 2 =
FHERBME &

(i) RZBEZHAF=Z=A+=H " —
I8 % ¥ 100,000,0007T 7 #& HA
BEREIEHERRE -

G EEELTN GE PNV ESs
BATZ - REEELHE -

(b) RNAFEES2.04% 28 7 i E A A
FEHBEMEREER AR ER
LWTERRE

() RZEBEENF=ZA=+NAH"
A R #582,000,0007T 2 = F
HERRELEH-_+@EA - =
—ZEEAF+—-A=Z1+HE
H

i) RZZEZENFANAAA
36,000,000 T2 = FEE K
METHME  E_FT—FTF
NAZTHEH: &

(i) RZEZTNFNAE—AB ' AR
# 250,000,000 T 2 M F 23 5
EREE -

ERNEFRHSEEREBEBZEXNE
A FHRE -
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(c) Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Co., Ltd., a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, on 15 April 2009, was granted
a renewed 3-year term loan facility from a revolving credit
line of RMB150 million to finance its property project.

Under the agreements in connection with the above items afi),
(B)(i), (b)(ii) and (b)(iii) loan facilities, the Company undertook to
the lenders that FCL (China) Pte. Ltd. would remain as the
majority shareholder of the Company throughout the duration of
the facilities, while under the agreements in connection with the
above items (a)(ii) and (c) loan facilities, the Company undertook
to the lenders that Fraser and Neave, Limited would remain as
the ultimate majority shareholder of the Company throughout
the duration of the facilities. Failure to perform the undertaking
will constitute an event of default. If the event of default occurs,
the outstanding liabilities under the loan facilities may become
immediately due and payable.

(©) ARFZEZENEB R TRIEH K
HHEREERAAREBARE
150,000,0007T 2 &R ERFEE R =
ZENFOATHEERER=F
HERRE  UREMFEAB L
BE -

RIEEB i ZEal) » bli) » bli) R bliii) 5
B AQRERERSA A - FCL
(China) Pte. Ltd. iR EEER Bl & BRI 4 48
ERBARRIEERE - MAREHRE L
F@(NRCHEERBZE  AAFEME
I EGE » Fraser and Neave, Limited
BREERERABMBEEERADAHK
FERE - HEAREBTEHEAREE B
BREN - MEBBRHNEHRE - AIZ
ZERBEEE T ZAEER G
BB REFTIN -
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TEYEERFE

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT 1. BEBPYH
Properties Uses Shareholding Brief Description Area
VIS Jiikes PR it [E
Mainland China
R KB
Plot No.1 situated at Residential/ 52.04% The property comprises two 837,291 m?
Gu Lang Road Commercial parcels of land and have a total (GFA)
and Plot No.2 situated e/ % site area of approximately 837,201 ;7 %
at Si Chen Road 406,162 m?and 304,939 m? (BEEER)
Songjiang District, respectively. The proposed
Shanghai development will comprise
EETRIRE residential apartments
PR DB 2% R and townhouses.
REURE 153 ZYEBERE T -

BHEERDAINA

406,162 1 K &

304,939F 77K ©

EENERER

BAEAEAERFE ¢
Note: The property project announced pre-sales sk : ZWEBEBERZZZN\EN

programmes for Phase 1 in August 2008.

PROPERTY HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

Properties Uses
vIES R

Mainland China

oK BE

Vision (Shenzhen) Commercial
Business Park Phase 3 at GE3
Shenzhen Hi-Tech

Industrial Park,

GaoXin South Ring Road/

Kedi South Road, Shenzhen
RTRHIES

MERE/ MRER
RBHEMERE
RINBE R R E

F38

Shareholding

&

100%

ARMmEIREEE -

2. BFHERRBARZUE

Brief Description Area

it HE&

Vision (Shenzhen) Business -
Park Phase 3 is awaiting to

obtain the construction permit

for construction. The total land

area for Phase 3 is about 25.4 ha.

AR RBFEIRFFNE
BERIRBIFAIZEAARL

FIBRIAR 2 BT A

#B25.4 DIE -
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3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Properties Uses
LE S Jiikes
Mainland China

HE K fE

(@)  Vision (Shenzhen)
Business Park Phase 1 #%
at High and New
Technological
Industrial Park South
Zone, Nanshan
District, Shenzhen
AT L&
BRRMEXEME
R ET ERHR E
£15

(b)  Vision (Shenzhen)
Business Park [
Phase 2A
at High and New
Technological
Industrial Park
South Zone,

Nanshan District,
Shenzhen

IR L E
RRRMEXERE
RINBFH R E
FIAH

Commercial

Commercial

Term of

Lease Shareholding
R EFH MR
Medium 100%
]

Medium 100%
g

G

REW*
Brief Description Area
it [

Vision (Shenzhen) Business 23,500 m?
Park Phase 1, located on a 2.3 (GFA)
ha. site, comprises two 23,500
cross-shaped, 5-storey buildings. FhHR

Units are designated for housing I.T. (212
research and development centres ~ E1E)
and offices, and for ancillary

uses. Phase 1 was completed

in March 2001.

RIS R E

F18{E2.301E -

BB ER 7R

A RBANHYETA

BAMERERLR

BYERERERS o
E1HER TS —F=A%RI-

Vision (Shenzhen) Business 45,700 m?
Park Phase 2A, located on a 2 (GFA)
ha. site, comprises two blocks of 45,700
office space (one 6-storey block ErX
and the other one 7-storey (giEm
block) and amenity centre. Units i)

are designated for housing I.T.
research and development
centres and offices, and for
ancillary uses. Phase 2A was
completed in January 2006.
RINBFH G RRE
F2AREM2RE - BHE2ME
BFE(EERNERE
TBRWE) R MEESHL
REMDETREARE
HEPLRETERBRE
it o E2MFER T RE
—R®Io



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Term of
Properties Uses Lease
LE S itk WREH
(c)  Vision (Shenzhen) Commercial Medium
Business Park GES HE

Phase 2B(1) & (2)

at High and New
Technological
Industrial Park South
Zone, Nanshan
District, Shenzhen
AYImELE
BRRMEXERR
RYNBL B R R E
F2B(MR(2)H
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEYEERFE

Shareholding
R

100%

3¢

BREWE (B

Brief Description
it

Vision (Shenzhen) Business
Park Phase 2B(1) & (2),
located on a 4 ha. site,

Phase 2B(1) comprises

two 9-storey blocks of

office space and Phase 2B(2)
comprises one

5-storey block of office

space and one 7-storey
carpark building. Units are
designated for housing I.T.
research and development
centres and offices, and for
ancillary uses. Phase 2B(1)

& (2) was completed

in August 2007.
RIS A RREE2B(1)
R(2) B4 A8 - 52B(1)H
BEEIERETER
FBHBEIEERETE

RIBIEREESAE - REMN

HIRERERABBMER LR
BFEREREAR - $28(1)

ROBER-ZZELFNAKRT -

Area

&

88,410 m?
(GFA)
88,410
ErXK
(4212
AmEiE)

195



196

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2§t (FFE) R AT
Annual Report 08/09 F ¥R

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEYFERFE

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Properties Uses

ES Jiikes

(d)  Sohu.com Internet Commercial
Plaza at Tsinghua [GES

Science Park, No. 1
Zhongguancun East
Road, Haidian District,
Beijing

b g e R AN
RE1RBENRE
BIRERE

Term of

Lease Shareholding
R EFH MR
Medium 60%
i

REWE (B)

Brief Description
it

The development

is a 13-storey building

(7 floors sold to Sohu.com

in February 2007) with

two levels basement car
parks and ancillary facilities.
The total land area is about
9,400 m?. The building is
used as office and/or
research and development
facilities. It was completed

in September 2004.
LEREERIBIIE
BAE(TBEFR
“ZTHEZARETEN
REMENERERERE
FHE o B TIETRELA9,400
FhK - ZRERBE
BTYER/SHERM -
WERZEZMENART -

Area

H&

14,820 m?
(GFA of 6
Floors)
14,820 7 K
(6EE 2%
BEERE)
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COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties Uses Shareholding
VIS Jiikes i
Hong Kong
EB
(@)  Various car parking Carpark 100%
lots at Greenery FE
Place,
No. 1 Town Park
Road South,
Yuen Long,
New Territories
R
TLH
NEEEE
RREETSEFEN
Mainland China
hE AR
(b)  Various car parking Carpark 100%
lots in Scenic Place FE5

at No. 305 Guang An
Men Wai Avenue,
XuanWu District,
Beijing

ERm

ERE

B %P9 3055
GREERPSABRENL

TEYEERFE

4. FHEZETAME

Brief Description Area

it &

Greenery Place comprises four 11-storey —
residential towers with a total of 330 residential

units, a clubhouse and a 2-level carpark.

The property was completed in 2001.
BREEQEIBNEREEAE

RS £I0ATEEN - 1HBAT

R2EFESS  ZMFER-_TT-FRT -

Tower 5, 7, 8 of Phase 1 consist of 788 —
furnished and non-furnished flats comprising
1 to 3 bedrooms units with sizes

ranging from 55 to 147 m? There is

1-level basement carpark with 154 saleable
carpark lots.

F1HEL L R\BEXEAERIEER
SEEMAR 788 EREHE A R B A
WAZ BN - EUAEALEE
147FFARAE W H#EE154{EA #
LEEMZIBHERFESES -
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4. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

Properties Uses Shareholding

IES itk MR &

(c)  Various car parking Residential/Commercial 100%
lots and certain FE/T%

commercial units at
The Ninth ZhongShan
at No. 2 Xinglin Street,
Zhong Shan District,
Dalian

A&

LR

BMET25%

LU
RLEFELR
ETHREM

4. FHEZETZHAWE &)

Brief Description

it

It is a twin-towered development
comprises a 32-storey east tower

and a 30-storey west tower,
altogether offering 4563 high-end
residential flats of 2 to 4 bedroom
units. Unit size ranges from 85-284
m?. There is a restaurant,

a comprehensive clubhouse

and a 3-level basement carpark

with 132 saleable carpark lots.
ZmEAEERER B ERESR
AERIEIESHEAE « & #EMH
453(E2E AR MM ETENL -

B EEMSSE284 T HALE -
VEREEE Se8Mf AREER
1320 BB 2 3B MEFE S o

Area

&

Residential
3,381 m?
(GFA)
Commercial
1,791 m?
(GFA)

FE
3,381 F K
(BEEEE)

[GES
1,791 F 1K
(BEEmE)
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